Towards Design of Power-Efficient and Cost-Effective Optical Interconnect for Short-Reach Applications

Monireh Moayedi Pour Fard



Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering McGill University Montréal, Québec, Canada

November 2017

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

 \bigodot 2017 Monireh Moayedi Pour Fard

Abstract

The ever-growing demand for bandwidth in data centers and supercomputers has significantly increased the need for high-speed, low-cost, and energy-efficient short-range optical interconnects. This thesis presents several research outcomes towards designing energyefficient and cost-effective short-reach optical interconnects. First, it studies existing hardware implementations of optical soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) receivers in the literature. Then, it presents a novel methodology for analyzing the decoding performance of multi-branch configurations of SD-FEC receivers. The proposed methodology allows prediction of the impact of a receiver's configuration on its decoding performance.

Second, it explores vertical germanium photodetectors and short wavelength silicon photodetectors (Si-PDs) to develop power-efficient high-speed photodetectors. It details an innovative methodology for maximizing the responsivity of a high-speed vertical Ge-PD. The resulting Ge-PD provides a responsivity of 1.09 A/W at 1550 nm, a dark current of 3.5 μ A, and bandwidth of 42.5 GHz at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. Further, it demonstrates the design, fabrication, and measurement results of four novel grating-assisted silicon photodetectors (Si-PD) for 850 nm applications fabricated in silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology. The optimized design of the grating-assisted Si-PD has a responsivity of 0.3 A/W, an avalanche gain of 6, a dark current of 2 μ A, and bandwidth of 16.4 GHz at 14 V reverse-bias voltage. It also shows an open eye diagram at 35 Gb/s data rate, which to the best of our knowledge, is the fastest operation speed reported for this type of detectors.

Third, this thesis presents the design and experimental results of a novel low-power and compact 25 Gb/s optical receiver in 65 nm TSMC technology. It is prototyped with the previously-proposed optimized design of a grating-assisted Si-PD. The proposed optical receiver has a transimpedance gain of 69.4 dB Ω , a bandwidth of 13.6 GHz, and an inputreferred noise of 3.28 μA_{rms} . It occupies only 0.0056 mm² and consumes 30.8 mW at 1.1 V supply voltage. It has an energy efficiency of 1.23 pJ/bit at 25 Gb/s bit rate with an input sensitivity of 54 μA_{p-p} for bit error rate (BER) of 10^{-12} .

Sommaire

La demande toujours croissante pour de la bande passante dans les centres de données et les superordinateurs a considérablement augmenté la nécessité d'interconnexions optiques à courte portée, à grande vitesse, à faible coût et économes en énergie. Cette thèse présente plusieurs résultats de recherche visant à concevoir des interconnexions optiques à faible portée et rentables. Tout d'abord, les implémentations matérielles des récepteurs optiques de correction d'erreur directe (SD-FEC) disponibles dans la littérature sont étudiées. Ensuite, une nouvelle méthodologie pour analyser les performances de décodage des configurations multi-branches des récepteurs SD-FEC est présentée. La méthodologie proposée permet de prédire l'impact de la configuration d'un récepteur sur ses performances de décodage.

Deuxièmement, les photodétecteurs de germanium verticaux et les photodétecteurs en silicium à courte longueur d'onde (Si-PD) sont explorés pour développer des photodétecteurs à haute vitesse efficaces. En outre, une méthodologie novatrice pour maximiser la réceptivité d'un Ge-PD vertical à grande vitesse est détaillée. Le Ge-PD résultant offre une réactivité de 1.09 A/W à 1550 nm, un courant d'obscurité de 3.5 μ A et une bande passante de 42.5 GHz à une tension de polarisation inverse de 2 V. De plus, les résultats de la conception, de la fabrication et de l'évaluation de quatre nouveaux photodétecteurs en silicium assistés par des réseaux (Si-PD) pour des applications à 850 nm et fabriqués par la technologie de silicium sur isolant (SOI) sont démontrés. La conception optimisée du Si-PD assisté par un réseau a une capacité de 0.3 A/W, un gain d'avalanche de 6, un courant d'obscurité de 2 μ A et une bande passante de 16.4 GHz à une tension de polarisation inverse de 14 V. Un diagramme de l'œil ouvert à un débit de données de 35 Gb/s, qui, à notre connaissance, est la vitesse de fonctionnement la plus rapide rapportée pour ce type de détecteurs, est également démontré. Troisièmement, cette thèse présente la conception et les résultats expérimentaux d'un nouveau récepteur optique à faible puissance et compact de 25 Gb/s dans la technologie TSMC à 65 nm. Il est prototypé avec la conception optimisée précédemment proposée du Si-PD assisté par un réseau. Le récepteur optique proposé a un gain de transimpédance de 69.4 dB Ω , une bande passante de 13.6 GHz et un bruit d'entrée de 3.28 μA_{rms} . Il occupe seulement 0.0056 mm2 et consomme 30.8 mW à une tension d'alimentation de 1.1 V. Il a une efficacité énergétique de 1.23 pJ/bit à un débit de 25 Gb/s avec une sensibilité d'entrée de 54 μA_{p-p} pour un taux d'erreur binaire (BER) de 10⁻¹².

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisers, Prof. Odile Liboiron-Ladouceur and Prof. Glenn Cowan (Concordia University, Montreal, QC, Canada), for this fascinating journey. This research would not have been possible without their guidance, insightful discussions, and encouragement. They also helped me to improve my public speaking and writing skills. I am truly grateful for their patience, kindness, and advice.

I would like to acknowledge the financial support from the Faculty of Engineering, McGill university, for the McGill Engineering Doctoral Awards (MEDA), and the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) of Canada, in particular, the CREATE Silicon Electronic-Photonic Integrated Circuits (Si-EPIC) program, the Strategic Partnership Grant program, and the Silicon Photonic Electrically Engineered Devices (SPEED) program. I also acknowledge the contributions and technical support of the Canadian Microelectronics Corporation (CMC).

I wish to thank Prof. Lukas Chrostowski, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, and Dr. Dan Deptuck and Jim Quinn, Canadian Microelectronics Corporation (CMC), Kingston, ON, Canada, for their useful technical discussions and the use of laboratory facilities. I acknowledge Prof. David V. Plant, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, for the use of laboratory facilities. I also would like to take Prof. Gordon W. Roberts and Prof. Lawrence R. Chen for being part of my advisory committee and for the helpful discussions. As well, I thank Mr. Brent Snow, Ms. Maru Basanez, and Kayla Gibbons for their administrative and technological support.

I am sincerely grateful to my talented colleagues, Md Shafiqul Hai, Meer Sakib, Behnam Banan, David Patel, Eslam El-Fiky, Chris Williams, Alireza Samani, Rubana Priti, Sandrine Filion Côté, and Vernon Elmo Paul for their help in various forms to finalize this project. I wish to sincerely thank my friends and colleagues in the Photonic Systems Group at McGill University. It was a great experience to work in such a warm and friendly environment.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my late father, mother, sisters, brother, father-in-law, mother-in-law, and brother-in-law for their blessings, continuous love, and support. Finally, I would like to thank my beloved husband, Hooman, for his companion-ship, support, and love through this long journey. They have been the primary source of encouragement, and for that reason, I would like to dedicate this thesis to them.

Contents

1	Intr	oducti	ion	1
	1.1	Motiva	ation	2
		1.1.1	Silicon Photonics for High-Speed Short-Reach Interconnects	5
	1.2	Thesis	Objectives	6
	1.3	Claim	of Originality	7
		1.3.1	Publications and Contribution of the Author	8
	1.4	Thesis	Organization	13
2	Bac	kgrou	nd	15
	2.1	Forwa	rd Error Correction (FEC)	15
		2.1.1	Error Performance Evaluation in Optical Links	17
		2.1.2	Hard-Decision Versus Soft-Decision Decoder	18
	2.2	Silicon	Photonics Platform	22
		2.2.1	Photodetectors (PDs)	23
	2.3	Optica	al Receiver Front End	32
		2.3.1	Transimpedance Amplifier	33
		2.3.2	Post-Amplifiers	37
		2.3.3	Bandwidth Enhancement Techniques	39

		2.3.4	Power Penalty in Optical Receivers	43
	2.4	Summ	nary	46
3	Ana	alysis o	of Low-Bit SD-FEC Optical Front Ends	47
	3.1	Soft-D	Decision Receiver Configurations	48
		3.1.1	Uncorrelated Noise in Multi-Branch Receiver	50
		3.1.2	Methodology for Multi-Branch Soft-Decision Receivers	54
		3.1.3	Optical Coupler Ratio Versus Q–factor	55
	3.2	Error	Performance Investigation	58
		3.2.1	Impact of Coupling Ratio	59
		3.2.2	Benefit of Uncorrelated Noise	62
	3.3	Metho	odology Validation	63
	3.4	Summ	nary	67
4	Res	ponsiv	rity Optimization of Germanium Photodetectors	69
		-	V A	
	4.1	Vertic	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69
	4.1	Vertic 4.1.1	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	$\frac{69}{71}$
	4.1	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72
	4.1 4.2	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74
	4.14.2	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74 76
	4.14.24.3	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74 76 78
	4.14.24.3	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric 4.3.1	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74 76 78 78
	4.14.24.3	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric 4.3.1 4.3.2	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74 76 78 78 78 79
	4.14.24.3	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector Impact of Top Metal Contact Impact of PD Dimension Impact of PD Dimension nization Methodology Impact of PD Dimension Peaking Inductor Design Impact of PD Dimension ration and Experimental Results Impact of Process DC and Small-Signal Measurement Results Impact of Process	 69 71 72 74 76 78 78 79 82
	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 Measu	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	 69 71 72 74 76 78 78 79 82 85
	 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 	Vertic 4.1.1 4.1.2 Optim 4.2.1 Fabric 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 Measu Summ	al Waveguide Germanium Photodetector	69 71 72 74 76 78 78 79 82 85 88

5	Gra	ating-Assisted All-Silicon Photodetectors 9	0
	5.1	Proposed SOI-Based Si-Photodetectors	0
		5.1.1 Baseline Grating-Assisted Si-PD	0
		5.1.2 Design Variations for High-Speed Applications	3
	5.2	Experimental Results	15
	5.3	Summary	2
6	Cor	mpact and Power-Efficient Optical Receiver 10	4
	6.1	Optical Receiver Front End Design	15
		6.1.1 Bandwidth Enhancement of CH-Amplifier Chain with Active Feedback10	15
		6.1.2 Proposed Optical Receiver	0
	6.2	Receiver Front End Characterization	7
	6.3	Receiver Measurements with Wire-Bonded Si-PD	6
		6.3.1 Optical Measurement Results	27
	6.4	Summary	4
7	Oth	ner Work 13	5
	7.1	25 Gb/s DAC-Less Ring-Based PAM-4 Modulator	5
	7.2	Design and Fabrication of the Proposed PAM-4 Modulator	6
		7.2.1 Design Methodology	7
	7.3	Experimental Results	:1
		7.3.1 DC Measurement	2
		7.3.2 Frequency Response Measurements	4
		7.3.3 Transient Measurement	5
	7.4	Summary	0

8	Con	clusior	lS	151	
	8.1	Thesis	Highlights	151	
	8.2	Future	Work	154	
		8.2.1	2-Bit Soft-Decision Forward Error Correction (SD-FEC) Receiver .	154	
		8.2.2	High Performance Ge-PD	155	
		8.2.3	Grating-Assisted Si-PD	156	
		8.2.4	Optical Receiver	156	
A	Opt	ical Li	nk Noise Modeling	157	
в	Opt	imum	Hard and Soft Decision		
	Thr	eshold	Levels	160	
\mathbf{C}	Calo	culatio	n of Input-Referred Current Noise	163	
Re	References 169				

List of Figures

1.1	Data center traffic growth and distribution [2]	2
1.2	Example of a short-reach optical link	4
1.3	Cross-section of a silicon photonics platform on a silicon-on-insulator wafer	
	$[22]. \ldots \ldots$	6
2.1	Illustration of a 2-bit soft-decision threshold with the hard-decision bit (red)	
	and the confidence bit (green)	19
2.2	(top) PDF with standard deviations (σ_0, σ_1) and mean values (μ_0, μ_1) cor-	
	responding to binary value 0 and 1, respectively, for normalized received	
	data samples; (bottom) corresponding LLR with set threshold levels (V_{th-1} ,	
	V_{th0} , V_{th1}) for a 2-bit soft-decision decoder (green) and the corresponding	
	unquantized LLR values (blue)	21
2.3	Process cross-section [44].	23
2.4	Absorption coefficient of silicon and germanium [45]	24
2.5	Equivalent circuit model for a photodetector [48]	25
2.6	Cross-sections of waveguide Ge photodetectors, (a) with lateral p-i-n diode	
	junction, and (b) vertical n-i-p diode junction [48]. (c) Micrograph of the	
	waveguide Ge-PD [46]	26

2.7	(a) Cross-section of a Ge-PD without top metal contact [52]; (b) cross-section	
	of a Ge-PD with two off-centered top metal contacts [55]; (c) the 3D view	
	of the Ge-PD with multi-finger connections [56]	27
2.8	(a) Simplified electrical model of a PD with a serial inductor [57]; (b) mi-	
	crograph of the Ge-PD with 360 pH integrated inductor; (c) electro-optic	
	S_{21} response at 2 V reverse bias of the unpeaked detector as well as two	
	same size detectors with a small integrated inductor (360 pH) and a large	
	integrated inductor (580 PH) [58]	28
2.9	Structure of a p-n Si-PD in a bulk CMOS technology	29
2.10	(a) Structure of double photodetector (DPD); (b) structure of spatially mod-	
	ulated light (SML) Si-PD.	30
2.11	Structure of a lateral p-i-n Si-PD in an SOI technology	30
2.12	(a) Cross-section of an SOI-based p-i-n diode with a waveguide-grating cou-	
	pler on top of the diode; (b) the micrograph of the fabricated device $\left[70\right]$.	31
2.13	(a) Thermal noise model of a NMOS transistor; (b) Thermal noise model of	
	a resistor.	34
2.14	(a) Schematic of a common-gate (CG) TIA; (b) regulated cascode; (c) shunt	
	feedback TIA.	34
2.15	(a) Schematic of a common-source (CS) feedback TIA; (b) an inverter-based	
	feedback TIA; (c) simplified small-signal model	35
2.16	(a) Schematic of a CS amplifier with a load capacitance; (b) a CS-based CH	
	amplifier with node capacitances.	38
2.17	(a) Block diagram and (b) circuit schematic of a third-order active feedback	
	amplifier [85]	40

2.18	(a) Block diagram of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers; (b)	
	block diagram of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers with	
	interleaved feedback [85]	41
2.19	(a) Frequency response of a six-stage amplifier without active feedback, with	
	active feedback, and with interleaved active feedback; (b) their pole locations.	42
2.20	Schematic of an inverter-based TIA and CH amplifier with positive feedback	
	(PFB)	43
2.21	Eye diagram (a) without ISI, (b) with ISI, (c) with ISI and increased signal	
	amplitude to achieve the original BER [90]	45
2.22	The effect of low cut-off frequency; the output signal drifts during a long	
	string of ones [90]. \ldots	46
3.1	Optical link with three major configurations of 2-bit soft-decision receiver.	49
3.2	An example of a received signal in the hard-decision (top) and soft-decision	
	(bottom) branches of an hybrid fan-out configuration that leads to inconsis-	
	tent thermometer codes for sample data point A and B. (Thin dashed lines	
	corresponding to the threshold of the other branch shown for references only).	51
3.3	Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using	
	LDPC (32768, 26803) in optically amplified optical link, using XNOR to	
	extract the confidence-bit.	60
3.4	Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using	
	LDPC (32768, 26803) in optically amplified optical link considering uncor-	
	related noise in the LLR quantization.	61
3.5	Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using	
	LDPC (32768, 26803) in dominant receiver noise optical link	62

3.6	Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision receivers using LDPC $(32768,$	
	26803) with constant Q -factor in hard-decision branch	63
3.7	Experimental setup used to validate the proposed methodology for unam-	
	plified links with an electrical or hybrid fan-out configuration as the soft-	
	decision receiver.	65
3.8	Decoding performance of the 2-bit electrical and hybrid fan-out soft-decision	
	receivers using LDPC (672, 588)	67
4.1	(a) Side-view and (b) top-view of a Ge-PD with a single electrode on top of	
	the n-doped germanium (Ge- n ++ in dark green); (c) side-view and (d) top	
	view of a Ge-PD with two electrodes on top of the n-doped germanium	70
4.2	The simulated electric field in a Ge-PD with a length of 25 $\mu {\rm m},$ a width of	
	8 $\mu\mathrm{m},$ and a thickness of 500 nm (linear scale). The Ge area is indicated	
	by the white contour box. Left-side figures show the top view near the top	
	interface of Ge (a) without top contact; (c) with one centered contact; (e)	
	with two off-centered contacts. Right-side figures show the side view at the	
	middle width of the Ge area for a PD (b) without top contact; (d) with one	
	centered contact; (f) with two off-centered contacts	72
4.3	Responsivity variation of the PD with various sizes of the Ge area. (a) For a	
	PD with a constant length of 10 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ and various widths. (b) For a PD with	
	a constant width of 8 μ m and various lengths	73
4.4	Dark current and bandwidth of the PD for various size of the Ge area. (a)	
	Dark current of a PD with a constant length of 10 $\mu {\rm m}$ for various widths.	
	(b) Dark current of a PD with a constant width of 8 μm for various lengths.	
	(c) Bandwidth of a PD with a constant length of 10 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ for various widths,	
	and (d) bandwidth of a PD with a constant width of 8 μm for various lengths.	74

4.5	Flowchart of the optimization methodology with target bandwidth BW_T ,	
	calculated bandwidth BW_L , and bandwidth peaking factor α	75
4.6	(a) Equivalent small-signal circuit of PD with peaking inductor. (b) The	
	simulated frequency response of an $8{\times}8~\mu{\rm m}^2$ reference PD and a $8{\times}20~\mu{\rm m}^2$	
	PD with and without peaking inductor	77
4.7	Simulated 50 Gb/s eye diagram of the $8{\times}8~\mu{\rm m}^2$ reference PD in comparison	
	with the 8×20 μ m ² PD (a) with the optimum peaking inductor (350 pH),	
	and (b) with peaking inductor larger than the optimum value (540 pH)	78
4.8	(a) Fabricated photodetector with an integrated peaking spiral inductor; (b)	
	fabrication process layers.	79
4.9	(a) Measured S_{21} OE frequency response of the optimized PD (PD-D) with	
	a reverse-bias voltage of 2 V and reference PD (PD-A) at 4 V reverse-bias	
	voltage with their respective small-signal simulations; (b) measured S_{22} (re-	
	flection) of both PDs with their respective small-signal simulations	82
4.10	Test bed for the eye diagram and BER measurement	83
4.11	(a) BER performance at 30 Gb/s for the reference PD (PD-A), the same	
	size PD as the reference PD with two off-centered top contacts (PD-B), and	
	20 μ m length PD with a centered top contact and peaking inductor (PD-C);	
	(b) BER performance at 30 Gb/s for optimized PD (PD-D)	84
4.12	(top) Output electrical eye diagrams of the reference PD (PD-A) at various	
	data rates; (bottom) output electrical eye diagram of optimized PD (PD-D)	
	at corresponding data rates.	85
4.13	(a) Measured and simulated responsivity; (b) measured and simulated dark	
	current for various PD lengths with one centered top contact and with two	
	off-centered top contacts. Results are compared to simulation results from	
	Figs. 4.3 and 4.4.	87

4.14	Normalized OE frequency response (S_{21}) response of various PDs at 2 V. $% (\mathrm{S}_{21})$.	88
4.15	Measured BER at 30 Gb/s of various devices at 4 V reverse-bias voltage	88
5.1	Schematic of the baseline design of the SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PD	
	(Si-PD no. 1) (a) 3D view; (b) top view; (c) side view	91
5.2	(a) Direction of the incoming and coupled light; (b) side view of the electric	
	field coupled to the silicon waveguide for 24 degrees angled light at a wave-	
	length of 850 nm; (b) simulated transmission for the forward transmission,	
	back transmission, pass-through, and top reflection.	92
5.3	Three designs of SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PD with lower responsivity,	
	but larger bandwidth (top figures are the layout and bottom figures are the	
	micrographs of fabricated devices); (a) grating coupler overlapped with a	
	p-i-n diode with an intrinsic width smaller than the incident mode size (Si-	
	PD no. 2); (b) grating coupler with three-finger PD (Si-PD no. 3); and (c)	
	focusing grating coupler (Si-PD no. 4)	95
5.4	DC measurement results of the Si-PDs; (a) dark current and photocurrent	
	for 0 dBm illuminated CW light; (b) responsivity of the Si-PDs; (c) measured	
	photocurrent of the Si-PDs for various received optical power at 8 V reverse-	
	bias voltage.	96
5.5	(a) S-parameter measurement setup; (b) measured S_{21} OE frequency re-	
	sponse of the grating-assisted Si-PDs.	98
5.6	Test bed for the eye diagram and BER measurement.	99
5.7	Electrical eye diagrams of Si-PD no. 1 with 5 μ m intrinsic width at reverse-	

100Electrical eye diagrams of Si-PD no. 2 with 2 μ m intrinsic width at reverse-5.8100

5.9	Electrical eye diagrams of the Si-PD no. 3 with 1 $\mu \mathrm{m}$ intrinsic width and	
	three-finger p-i-n diodes at 20 V reverse-bias voltage	100
5.10	Electrical eye diagrams of the Si-PD no. 4 with focusing grating coupler and	
	an intrinsic width of 0.3 μm at 14 V reverse-bias voltage	100
5.11	BER measurement results for Si-PD no. 2 and no. 3 for 10 Gb/s PRBS-31 $$	
	OOK-NRZ data.	101
6.1	Block diagram of two cascaded CH amplifiers with active feedback; (a) the	
	feedback signal is added to the input of the first section of a CH; (b) the	
	feedback signal is added to the input of the second section of a CH	105
6.2	Variation of the bandwidth and gain of two cascaded CH amplifiers for var-	
	ious feedback gain (β); (b) the associated gain peaking	108
6.3	The poles plot of two cascaded CH amplifiers for different gains of active	
	feedback	109
6.4	(a) Block diagram of three cascaded CH amplifiers with interleaved active	
	feedback (IAFB). (b) Its equivalent circuit with two non-uniform active feed-	
	backs.	110
6.5	Pole splitting behavior of three cascaded CH amplifier with uniform inter-	
	leaved active feedback for feedback gain of $\beta = 0.08$	111
6.6	Simulated frequency response for three cascaded CH amplifiers with two	
	non-uniform active feedbacks (or uniform interleaved active feedback) and	
	with two uniform active feedbacks.	112
6.7	Block diagram of the proposed receiver front end	112
6.8	Gain-bandwidth product with respect to the transistor width	113
6.9	Eye diagrams of the reference receiver front end and the proposed receiver	
	front end for 30 Gb/s random data with 30 μA_{p-p} input	115

6.10	Block diagram of the fabricated optical receiver	118
6.11	Micrograph of the proposed optical receiver.	119
6.12	Measured S-parameter in comparison with the simulated S-parameter	120
6.13	Extracted transimpedance gain from measured S-parameter in comparison	
	with the simulated transimpedance gain	120
6.14	Measured bandwidth and gain of the receiver front-end for various $V_{Control}$.	121
6.15	Test setup for transient measurement with an electrical input signal $% \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}$	123
6.16	(a) BER measurement for various bit rates with respect to the received peak-	
	to-peak input voltage; (b) input sensitivity for BER lower than 10^{-12} with	
	respect to the different lengths of PRBS data	123
6.17	Simulated output of the optical receiver for 30 Gb/s 30 $\mu {\rm A}_{p-p}$ PRBS7 (in	
	blue) and PRBS15 (in red) input signal	124
6.18	Step response of the receiver front-end	125
6.19	Eye diagrams for 20 Gb/s, 25 Gb/s, and 30 Gb/s PRBS $2^{31}1$ NRZ-OOK	
	data for 8 mV _{$p-p$} input signal	125
6.20	(a) The input sensitivity of the front end for BER less than 10^{-12} for various	
	power dissipation; (b) energy efficiency for different bit rates	126
6.21	The micrograph of the proposed optical receiver with the wire bonded all-	
	silicon photodetector	127
6.22	Test setup for transient measurement with an optical input signal	128
6.23	Picture of the measurement test bed for transient measurement with an	
	optical input signal	129
6.24	Eye diagram for 20 Gb/s PRBS 2 ³¹ -1 NRZ-OOK data for 0 dBm average	
	optical power	129
6.25	Eye diagrams for 25 Gb/s, and 30 Gb/s PRBS $2^{31}\mbox{-}1$ NRZ-OOK data for	
	average optical power of 0 dBm	130

6.26	BER measurement for NRZ-OOK PRBS 2 ⁷ -1 data	130
7.1	Schematic of the proposed inter-coupling modulation based PAM-4 ring	
	modulator	137
7.2	Cross-section of the p-n diode segment with dimensions for each doping layer	140
7.3	The simulated spectral response of the modulator at for four input voltage	
	conditions, (a) in logarithmic scale, (b) in linear scale	141
7.4	(a) Image of the chip test setup with DC and RF probes. (b) Test setup	
	photograph of the chip with fiber array and electrical probes	142
7.5	(a) Spectral response of the GC pair and ring modulator; (b) Spectral re-	
	sponse of the modulator (zoomed) to measure FSR with measured FWHM	
	\approx 0.026 measured from the spectral response of the ring modulator	143
7.6	Measured spectral response of the modulator at four input voltage conditions	
	(a) in dB scale; (b) in linear scale	144
7.7	S-parameter measurements: S_{11} -parameter and EO S_{21} -parameter of the long	
	and short electrodes; (a) without 50 Ω termination; (b) with 50 Ω termination	145
7.8	Experimental setup to generate PAM-4 modulated signal	146
7.9	Eye diagrams (12.5 Gb/s) at the output of the ring modulator when driven	
	by (a) only V_2 (MSB), (b) only V_1 (LSB). The corresponding electrical eye	
	diagrams are shown at the left.	147
7.10	PAM-4 eye diagram (12.5 GB aud/s) at the output of the ring modulator $$	
	when simultaneously driven by V_1 (LSB) and V_2 (MSB) electrical driving	
	signals	148
7.11	(a) Pattern locked PAM-4 signal generated. (b) Recovered MSB and LSB	
	patterns from the PAM-4 signal	149

8.1	An example of implementing a 2-bit SD-FEC receiver using the proposed	
	optical front and digitally tunable threshold levels	155
B.1	The pre-FEC BER for normalized hard-decision thresholds of the two Gaus-	
	sian distributions for various Q -factors, while the ratio of standard deviation	
	of the binary levels is fixed to $(\sigma_1/\sigma_0) = 2$.	161
B.2	Post-FEC BER for various distances of lower soft-decision threshold (red	
	dashed-line). The distance of the upper soft-decision threshold (blue dashed-	
	line) is calculated based on the statistics of the PDFs. The simulation is for	
	optically amplified link with electrical fan-out and Q -factor of 6.7 dB; and	
	the ratio of standard deviation of binary levels is $(\sigma_1/\sigma_0) \approx 2.$	162
C.1	Block diagram for calculating the output noise of a transimpedance stage	164

List of Tables

2.1	Conversion table 3-bit thermometer code to 2-bit soft data	20
3.1	Inconsistence cases for the 3-Bit binary data	52
3.2	Monte-Carlo simulation results example for short-reach link with hybrid fan-	
	out $50/50$ receiver	54
3.3	Branch Q -factor comparison for the three configurations	56
4.1	The parameters for the equivalent small-signal circuit of the reference PD	
	and the longer PD with optimum peaking inductor and the longer PD with	
	peaking inductor larger than optimum	77
4.2	Summary of the photodetector's dimensions and their measurement results.	80
4.3	Summary of device dimensions of fabricated PDs and their measurement	
	results	86
5.1	Summary of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PDs performance and compar-	
	ison with fabricated Si-PDs	102
6.1	Design goals of the proposed optical receiver	112
6.2	The simulation parameters for a three-stage CH amplifier. \ldots	114
6.3	Comparison of the simulation results	115

6.4	Front end performance for various receiver configurations	122
6.5	Performance summary of the proposed front end compared with the recently	
	published works.	133
7.1	The standard deviation of the captured OOK and PAM-4 eye diagrams	148

List of Acronyms

- ADC analog-to-digital converters.
- BER bit error rate.
- BPG bit pattern generator.
- CH Cherry–Hooper.
- CMOS complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor.
- DAC digital-to-analog converters.
- DSP digital signal processing.
- FEC forward error correction.
- FGC focusing grating coupler.
- FSR free spectral range.
- FWHM full width at half max.
- GC grating coupler.
- Ge-PD germanium photodetector.
- HPC high-performance computing.
- IM/DD intensity modulated/direct detection.
- ISI inter-symbol interference.
- LCA lightwave component analyzer.

- LDPC low density parity check.
- LLR log-likelihood ratio.
- MMF multi mode fiber.
- MOSFET metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistor.
- MPW multi-project wafer.
- NGC net coding gain.
- PA post-amplifier.
- PAM pulse amplitude modulation.
- PC polarization controller.
- PD photodetector.
- PDF probability distribution function.
- PP power penalty.
- PRBS pseudo random bit sequence.
- RGC regulated cascode.
- RIN relative intensity noise.
- RX receiver.
- SD-FEC soft-decision forward error correction.
- Si-PD silicon photodetector.
- SiP silicon photonics.
- SMF single mode fiber.
- SNR signal-to-noise ratio.
- SOI silicon-on-insulator.
- SPA sum-product algorithm.

- TCAD technology computer-aided design.
- TIA transimpedance amplifier.
- TX transmitter.
- VCSEL vertical cavity surface-emitting laser.
- WDM wavelength division multiplexing.
- XNOR exclusive negative oR boolean logic.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Over the past few years, Internet traffic has been drastically augmented and is expected to increase by nearly three times over the next five years [1]. This growth is the result of expanding use of online high-definition video streaming, video conferences, online games, social networks, mobile Internet, cloud-based storage, and many other bandwidth-intense services. Moreover, the proliferation of new Internet-based services such as Internet of Things (IoT) will further intensify network traffic. According to the Cisco Global Cloud Index [2], by the year 2020, 15.3 zettabytes will be transferred per year. Interestingly, the most of this traffic, i.e., 77%, remains within the data center, while the traffic between data center to data center and data center to the user will be 9% and 14%, respectively (Fig. 1.1) [2]. Also, the growth of cloud computing requires larger and larger scale data centers with thousands of high-speed interconnect links. Optical interconnects have been predominated transmission links for long-distance data transmissions due to low loss and inherently large bandwidth density. With scaling data centers, optical interconnects become even more essential for short-range links inside the data centers [3-5]. Also, the rapid growth of bandwidth requirements in high-performance computing (HPC) systems pushes the need for high-speed optical interconnects for board-to-board and even chip-to-chip



CAGR: compound annual growth rate.

Fig. 1.1 Data center traffic growth and distribution [2].

connections [6–8]. To maintain a reasonable cost and power target for future HPC systems, the off-chip optical interconnect must operate at less than 1 pJ/bit and with costs below 10's of cents/Gbps [6,7]. In addition, most of the data center applications are free of charge for the end users. Hence, to satisfy the need for rapid growth of bandwidth requirement in data centers and HPC systems, the short-reach interconnects not only require supporting highspeed data transmission but also must be energy-efficient and cost-effective [9]. While multi mode fiber (MMF) with 850 nm wavelength directly modulated vertical cavity surfaceemitting lasers (VCSELs) currently dominates the technology used for short-reach optical data communications, single mode fiber (SMF) optical transmission becomes necessary for reach beyond 500 m due in part to modal dispersion, especially as data rates increase.

1.1 Motivation

Recent research efforts have focused on scaling current architectures with interconnections operating at 40–100 Gbps to 400–1000 Gbps for the next-generation of optical communication systems [10–14]. Advanced modulation formats such as quadrature phase shift keying (QPS) and quadrature amplitude modulation (QA) in combination with coherent detection considerably improves the capacity-reach product in long-haul data transmission. The use of high-speed, high-resolution analog-to-digital converterss (ADCs) in coherentbased receivers enables performing powerful digital signal processing (DSP) to mitigate the effects of fiber impairments and improve the overall optical link performance in long-haul applications. Moreover, powerful forward error correction (FEC) codes in combination with soft-decision decoding considerably increase the error tolerance of the transmission link and enable faster and longer optical interconnects [15]. These improvements are achieved at the cost of significantly increasing the cost, complexity, power consumption, and transceiver chip area, which is acceptable for high-capacity long-haul applications.

On the other hand, short-reach optical interconnects must be low cost, power efficient, and compact. These requirements make the coherent detection the least feasible solution for such applications. An intensity modulated/direct detection (IM/DD)-based optical link is a promising low-cost solution for short-reach interconnects. Also, to satisfy the ever-growing bandwidth demands, short-reach optical interconnects are applying previous work done for long-haul links to push system limitations for high-speed data transmission. Employing a wavelength division multiplexing (WDM) scheme [11, 16], advanced modulation schemes with less complexity such as multilevel pulse amplitude modulation (PAM) and, specifically, a PAM-4 modulation scheme [17, 18], use of FEC codes with hard-decision decoding [19] or low-bit soft-decision decoding [20], and low complex digital signal processing [19] are examples of advanced techniques that have been proposed for the next generation of highspeed short-reach optical interconnects.

Figure 1.2 illustrates a simplified example of a short-reach optical link with FEC technique. In the transmitter (TX), a serializer multiplexes low-speed encoded parallel data streams into a high-speed serial data. This data stream drives an optical modulator to modulate the intensity of the continuous-wave light, which is provided by a laser. In the



TX: transmitter; RX: receiver circuits; PLL: phase lock loop; FEC: forward error correction; TIA: transimpedance amplifier; PA: post-amplifier

Fig. 1.2 Example of a short-reach optical link.

MMF-based optical links, the data stream is applied to a VCSEL through a laser driver and directly modulates the light intensity. The modulated light propagates through a fiber or a waveguide. The insertion loss of the modulator, connectors, and the fiber impairment degrade the received optical power. At the receiver (RX) side, a photodetector (PD) converts the weaken received modulated light into an electrical signal, which is amplified by an analog front end. Then, the decision circuit compares the amplified signal with the threshold level (V_{th}) and the clock and data recovery (CDR) circuits extract the data stream and clock from the received signal. The deserializer demultiplexes the high-speed serial data into parallel bit streams, and then a decoder reproduces the original data. The efficiency of a short-reach optical link can be improved by optimizing the performance of each optical and electrical sub-circuits and also by developing cost-effective and energy-efficient advanced techniques for high-speed data transmission.

This thesis presents a collection of work related to designing an efficient optical interconnect for short-reach applications. It discusses the design, optimization, and test results of sub-components of an optical interconnect such as photodetectors and receiver front end (red dashed boxes in Fig. 1.2). Also, various hardware implementations of a low-bit soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) optical front-end receiver are studied, and a new performance evaluation analysis is presented, which shows the effect of the front-end configuration on the decoding performance.

1.1.1 Silicon Photonics for High-Speed Short-Reach Interconnects

Over the last decade, silicon photonics (SiP) has attracted significant attention due to the possibility of monolithically integrated silicon-on-insulator (SOI) optical devices with microelectronic circuits using mature, standard, and cost-effective complementary metaloxide-semiconductor (CMOS) fabrication techniques. The large difference between the refractive indices of the core silicon waveguide and the surrounded glass (SiO_2) enables the dense integration of thousands of optical devices in a single chip. Such integration makes SiP a unique technology solution for the rapid growth of bandwidth required in today's communication systems in data centers and supercomputers [21]. Figure 1.3 shows a cross-section of a typical silicon photonics platform to fabricate grating coupler (GC), waveguide germanium photodetector (Ge-PD), waveguides, optical modulators, and metal oxide semiconductor field effect transistors (MOSFETs) [22]. IBM's 90 nm CMOS photonic technology (CMOS9WG) is an example of a silicon photonics platform, which monolithically integrates optical devices with analog and mixed-signal circuits [23]. Other companies such as Intel, Luxtera, ST Microelectronics, Lightwire/Cisco, and many others have developed their own silicon photonics platforms. Some of these technologies focus on hybrid integrations of optical devices with electrical circuits instead of monolithic integrations.

Currently, commercial 100 Gb/s silicon photonics transceivers are available for 2–10 km using four parallel SMF, each at 25 Gb/s, or using 4×25 Gb/s coarse wavelength division multiplexing (CWDM) on a single SMF [24, 25]. However, to support higher speed, faster and more power-efficient optical interconnect are required [26].



Fig. 1.3 Cross-section of a silicon photonics platform on a silicon-on-insulator wafer [22].

1.2 Thesis Objectives

The primary objective of this thesis is to design low power, cost-effective, and high-speed short-reach optical interconnects for modern data centers. To reach this goal, we have considered research in advance techniques such as FEC as well as performance optimization of optical and electrical sub-circuits in an optical link. We have studied the low-bit soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) technique in an optical link and various hardware implementation of SD-FEC receivers. The novel double-branch 2-bit optical SD-FEC front-end proposed in [27] provides some advantages regarding linearity, bandwidth, optoelectronic integration, power consumption, and cost in comparison with existing SD-FEC front-end [28]. Since the evaluation methodology for SD-FEC decoding performance in the literature is focused on a single-branch configuration, a new evaluation method is required to evaluate the error performance of a multi-branch SD-FEC front end for shortreach applications. Also, silicon photonics (SiP) technology and photodetectors are studied to develop more efficient optical components. We investigated optimizing the performance of vertical waveguide germanium photodetectors (Ge-PDs) for 1550 nm wavelength and silicon photodetectors (Si-PDs) for 850 nm wavelength. For the electrical component level viewpoint, a power-efficient optical receiver front-end in CMOS technology is investigated.

The objectives of this thesis are summarized as follow:

- Study the possible ways of a hardware implementation of an SD-FEC receiver and develop a methodology to evaluate the error performance of multi-branch SD-FEC front-end configurations.
- Explore novel SiP devices for the next generation of high-speed short-link optical interconnects.
 - Optimize performance of vertical waveguide germanium photodetectors (Ge-PD).
 - Optimize performance of silicon photodetectors (Si-PD) for short wavelength applications.
- Investigate a fast and low power optical receiver in CMOS technology and develop an energy-efficient optical receiver for the next generation of high-speed short-link optical interconnects.

1.3 Claim of Originality

The contributions of this dissertation can be summarized in chronological order as follows:

• We present a novel methodology for evaluating the error performance of a multibranch optical soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) receivers. The noise behavior of three front-end schemes is investigated. A new concept of an inconsistent thermometer code is explained and studied in terms of decoding performance. The proposed methodology and performance comparison is presented for both short-reach optical interconnect and optically amplified long-haul applications. Furthermore, the proposed method is experimentally validated in a short-reach optical link [20, 27, 29].

- We present a complete study of the effect of design geometries of a vertical waveguide germanium photodetector (Ge-PD) and the size and location of the top metal contact on the Ge-PD's performance. A novel methodology is detailed in which to optimize the responsivity and bandwidth of a Ge-PD for a given data rate. Several Ge-PDs were designed and fabricated in commercial silicon photonics (SiP) technology to evaluate the optimization methodology [30].
- We demonstrate the design, fabrication, and experimental results of a novel gratingassisted silicon photodetector (Si-PD) for 850 nm wavelength applications fabricated in silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology. The proposed grating coupler in the Si-PD enables the fabrication of a photodetector with reasonable responsivity and broad bandwidth. Also, three design variations of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PD for high-speed operation are presented. To the best of our knowledge, we demonstrate the first high-speed Si-PD that operates at 35 Gb/s data rate [31, 32].
- We present the design and measurement results of a novel inductor-less and powerefficient 25 Gb/s optical receiver in 65 nm TSMC technology. The proposed optical receiver is prototyped with the optimized design of the novel Si-PD. The receiver front end occupies only 0.0056 mm² and consumes 30.8 mW at 1.1 V supply voltage. For a bit error rate (BER) of 10^{-12} , the optical receiver with a wire-bonded Si-PD has a sensitivity of 46 μ A_{p-p} and 54 μ A_{p-p} at data rates of 20 and 25 Gb/s, respectively, at a reverse-bias voltage of 0.41 V. The energy efficiency of the all-silicon 850 nm optical receiver is 1.23 pJ/bit at 25 Gb/s data rate [33].

1.3.1 Publications and Contribution of the Author

The content of this dissertation is presented in several publications that include five journal articles, and two conference proceedings. In the following, a list of publications and contributions of the author are presented. Two journal papers J4 and J5 and conference paper C2 are related to the first research objective, study possible ways of a hardware implementation of an SD-FEC receiver and develop a performance evaluation methodology. The second research objective, which is exploring novel SiP devices, resulted two journal papers and one conference proceeding. Journal paper J3 is related to the research objective of optimizing the performance of a Ge-PD. Journal paper J2 and conference paper C1 are related to the research objective of optimizing the performance of Si-PDs for 850 nm applications. The journal paper J1 is related to the third research objective, which is developing an energy-efficient high-speed optical receiver. Also, the author of this thesis has contributed as a co-author to two patents, one journal paper and four conference proceedings that are not directly related to the content of this thesis.

Patents not Directly Related to This Thesis

- O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, M.S. Hai, M. Moayedi Pour Fard (2016). Methods and devices for photonic M-ary pulse amplitude modulation, United States Patent, US20160103382, 18 Oct. 2016.
- O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, M.S. Hai, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, C. Zhang, M. Sakib (2015). Methods and systems for board level photonic bridges, United States Patent, US App. 14/955142, 1 Dec. 2015.

Peer-reviewed Journal Articles:

J1) M. Moayedi Pour Fard, O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, and G. Cowan, "1.23 pJ/bit 25 Gb/s inductor-less optical receiver with low-voltage silicon photodetector," submitted to IEEE Journal of Solid State Circuits (JSSC).

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Proposed the idea, designed and drew the layout of the de-

vice, performed a complete measurement, and wrote the manuscript.

O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

G. Cowan: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

J2) M. Moayedi Pour Fard, C. Williams, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "High-speed grating-assisted all-silicon photodetector for 850 nm applications," *Optics Express*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 5107-5118, March 2017.

The initial idea of the proposed device was developed in a group meeting.

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Proposed high-speed design variation of the device, designed the optical grating coupler for 850 nm, supervised the design of p-i-n diode, wrote a script that generates the layout of the photodetector for various design parameters, performed a complete measurement on the devices, and wrote the manuscript.

C. Williams: Designed the p-i-n diodes, drew the layout of the devices, and reviewed the manuscript.

G. Cowan: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

J3) M. Moayedi Pour Fard, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Responsivity optimization of a high-speed germanium-on-silicon photodetector," *Optics Express*, vol. 24, no. 24, pp. 27738-27752, November 2016.

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Proposed the idea, designed and drew the layout of the devices, performed a complete measurement, and wrote the manuscript.

G. Cowan: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

J4) M. Moayedi Pour Fard, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Analysis of low bit soft-decision error correction in optical front-ends," *Journal of Optical Communications and Networking (JOCN)*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 885-897, September 2015.
M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Wrote a MATLAB code to analysis the front-ends, verified the analysis with measurements, and wrote the manuscript.

G. Cowan: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

- O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.
- J5) M. N. Sakib, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, W. J. Gross, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A 45 Gb/s low complexity optical front-end for soft-decision LDPC decoders," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, no. 16, pp. 18336-18347, July 2012.

M. N. Sakib: Designed and tested the front-end and wrote the manuscript.

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Helped M. N. Sakib with part of the MATLAB code to make the frame capturing more efficient, and reviewed the manuscript.

W. J. Gross: Supervised the work and reviewed the manuscript.

O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, and edited and reviewed the manuscript.

Peer-reviewed Conference Papers:

C1) M. Moayedi Pour Fard, C. Williams, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A 35 Gb/s silicon photodetector for 850 nm wavelength applications," *IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, PD2 (post-deadline paper), September 2016.

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Designed the optical grating coupler for 850 nm, supervised the design of p-i-n diode, wrote a script that generates the layout of the photodetector for various design parameter, performed a complete measurement on the device, wrote the manuscript and prepared the slides for the presentation.

C. Williams: Designed the p-i-n diodes, drew the layout of the devices, and reviewed the manuscript.

- G. Cowan: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.
- O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript,

and presented the paper at the conference.

C2) M. N. Sakib, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur "A 45 GS/s optical soft-decision front-end," *IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, paper WM4, October 2012.

M. N. Sakib: Designed and tested the front-end, wrote the manuscript and presented the paper at the conference.

M. Moayedi Pour Fard: Helped M. N. Sakib with part of the MATLAB code to make the frame capturing more efficient, reviewed and edited the manuscript.

O. Liboiron-Ladouceur: Supervised the work, edited and reviewed the manuscript.

Peer-reviewed Journal Articles Not Directly Related to This Thesis:

 M. S. Hai,* M. Moayedi Pour Fard,* O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A ring-based 25 Gb/s DAC-less PAM-4 modulator," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quan*tum Electronics, vol. 22, no. 6, November 2016 (*equal contribution).

Peer-reviewed Conference Articles Not Directly Related to This Thesis:

- M. Moayedi Pour Fard, M. S. Hai, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A compact 25 Gb/s Mach-Zehnder assisted ring modulator," *Photonics North Conference (PN)*, May 2016.
- 2) M. S. Hai, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, D. An, F. Gambini, S. Faralli, G. Preve, G. W. Roberts, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Automated characterization of SiP MZI-based switches," *Optical Interconnects Conference (OI)*, pp.94-95, April 2015.
- 3) F. Lou, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, P. Liao, M. S. Hai, R. Priti, Y. Huangfu, C. Qiu, Q. Hao, Z. Wei, O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Towards a centralized controller for

silicon photonic MZI-based interconnects," *Optical Interconnects Conference (OI)*, pp.146-147, April 2015.

4) M. S. Hai, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A low-voltage PAM-4 SOI ring-based modulator," *IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, October 2014.

1.4 Thesis Organization

This thesis is divided into three topics, which are closely related to the design of an efficient optical link for short-reach applications, and it is organized into eight chapters. In Chapter 2, some general background information used throughout this thesis is reviewed. This chapter, briefly explains the concept of forward error correction (FEC), hard-decision decoding, and soft-decision decoding. Then, an overview of the silicon photonics (SiP) platform and SiP photodetectors is presented. A brief discussion of the optical receiver front-end is also provided. Chapter 3 presents the novel methodology for analyzing the advantageous decoding performance of multi-branch configurations of low-bit optical soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) receivers. Chapter 4 details a novel methodology to maximize the responsivity of a Ge-PD based on the bandwidth requirement for a given data rate application. Also, it presents complete comparative experimental results validating the proposed methodology. Chapter 5 demonstrates the design and measurement results of four novel high-speed silicon photodetectors (Si-PD) in silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology. Chapter 6 presents the design and measurement results of a new compact and power-efficient 25 Gb/s optical receiver fabricated in 65 nm TSMC technology. Chapter 7 describes the design and measurement results of a novel 25 Gb/s ring-based PAM-4 modulator fabricated in the silicon photonics platform. This work is not directly related to the content of this thesis. We have presented the results to list our contribution in another project in parallel with this research work. Finally, Chapter 8 presents the conclusions and summarizes the key achievements of this work. Further, it discusses several research directions to extend the work presented in this dissertation for future optical short-reach interconnects.

Chapter 2

Background

This chapter describes the essential background for the upcoming chapters, and it is organized into three sections. The first section overviews basic information about forward error correction (FEC) technique, hard-decision decoding, and soft-decision decoding. The critical information about the silicon photonics (SiP) platform and SiP photodetectors are discussed in section 2. Section 3 presents basic information about optical receiver front ends in CMOS technology.

2.1 Forward Error Correction (FEC)

Forward error correction (FEC) is a technique for controlling errors in transmitted information in a noisy channel. It is implemented by sending redundant data on the same channel as a message, thus providing a means that the receiver can recover information if the channel is corrupted. Therefore, data retransmission is avoided at the cost of extra bandwidth for transferring the redundant data and additional data processing for encoding and decoding the information. FEC is one of the cost-effective techniques for mitigating the effects of system impairments in an optical link and it improves the data rate and the optical distance reach [15]. Conventional long-haul optical communication extensively employs classical FEC codes such as Reed-Solomon (RS), or Bose-Chaudhuri Hocquenghem (BCH) codes [34,35]. In the last decade, iteratively decodable codes such as Turbo codes and low density parity check (LDPC) codes have attracted significant research attention for expanding the speed and transmission distance of the next generation of optical links [10,14,15]. The presence of the high-resolution analog-to-digital converter (ADC) in the coherent based detection also provides enhanced link performance using soft-decision (SD) decoding [10,14,15]. For instance, by using soft-decision decoding, data transmission over a link up to 9000 km at 100 Gbps per wavelength channel was demonstrated [36].

On the other hand, in short-reach optical interconnects, the cost and power efficiency requirements preclude the consideration of either coherent detection or a high-resolution ADC [9, 11, 12]. Nevertheless, by using lower resolution with a 2- or 3-bit ADC, the net coding gain (NCG) of soft-decision decoding can still be improved by 1-2 dB compared to hard-decision (HD) decoding [28, 37]. While a high-speed high-resolution ADC can be designed for sub-watt power consumption [38], a low-resolution soft-decision receiver will dissipate less power and be more cost-effective than its high-resolution counterpart, at the expense of a slightly degraded NCG. For instance, by using a 2-bit ADC, the decoding performance degrades only by 0.4 dB compared to a high-resolution ADC [28]. Since the high-resolution requirement of ADCs in long-haul transmission stems from the post-processing performed by the DSP which are not favored in short-reach applications, low-bit ADCs become a prospective solution. In fact, it is increasingly important to investigate technologies that will enable the development of power-efficient SD-FEC decoders for scalable short-reach data communication.

In [27,39], our group introduced a low complexity and energy efficient optical front end for 2-bit SD-FEC decoders. In comparison with existing soft-decision front ends [28], the proposed optical front end provides a number of advantages in terms of linearity, bandwidth, optoelectronic integration, power consumption and cost [27]. The decoding performance of the proposed front end was evaluated experimentally. The reported optical receiver was implemented using off-the-shelf components, where tapping the incoming optical signal before the photodetector provided an extra bit in a double-branch configuration of the receiver. The effect of the front end configuration was not considered in this work nor was an evaluation methodology discussed in the literature available. The literature focuses on a single-branch receiver [40] and not on multi-branch receiver proposed in [27,39]. Chapter 3 presents a novel methodology for evaluating the error performance of a multi-branch optical SD-FEC receiver before its hardware implementation.

2.1.1 Error Performance Evaluation in Optical Links

An appropriate noise analysis is required to evaluate the error performance of an optical link. Three major sources of noise are considered in an optical link: 1) transmitter noise; 2) channel noise; 3) receiver noise [41]. Depending on the characteristics of the optical link, each of them can be the dominant noise source. The transmitter noise consists of the relative intensity noise (RIN) of the semiconductor laser with a standard deviation σ_{RIN} . The channel noise originates from amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) in optically amplified long-haul links and is considered insignificant in the case of nonamplified shortreach links. Finally, the receiver noise consists of the shot noise of the photodetector, the thermal noise of the load resistance of the photodetector with standard deviations of σ_{sh} , σ_{th-RL} , respectively, and the input-referred noise of the electrical post-amplifier stages. The noise equations are discussed in detail in Appendix A. Noise source due to RIN, beating noise between the received signal and ASE, and shot noise are data dependent. These noise sources generate a signal distribution with different variances for each binary value. In an optical link, the quality factor (Q-factor) of the received signal in dB is given by

$$Q = 20 \log_{10} \left(\frac{\mu_1 - \mu_0}{\sigma_1 + \sigma_0} \right),$$
 (2.1)

where μ_0 and μ_1 are the mean values of the received binary 0 and 1, respectively, and σ_0 and σ_1 are the standard deviations of the received binary 0 and 1, respectively [41]. The mean values depend on the average received optical power (P_{av}) and the extinction ratio (ER) of the intensity modulation. As discussed in Appendix A, the total standard deviations σ_0 and σ_1 are the square root of the sum of the squares of the standard deviations of the noise sources in an optical link for a binary 0 and 1, respectively. Bit error rate (BER) is a metric that indicates the link reliability and, for uncoded data, is calculated by

$$BER = \frac{1}{2} erfc \frac{Q}{\sqrt{2}},\tag{2.2}$$

where erfc is the complementary error function [41]. The BER value calculated by eq. 2.2 is also known as pre-FEC BER. Using FEC technique considerably improves the BER values, required for reliable data transmission systems. The BER value of the decoded data known as post-FEC BER. Net coding gain (NGC) is a metric that evaluates the FEC code performance and defines as the difference between the required *Q*-factor levels between the uncoded system and coded system to reach the same BER level.

2.1.2 Hard-Decision Versus Soft-Decision Decoder

In the receiver side, two ways of decoding can be considered for iteratively decodable codes: hard-decision decoding and soft-decision decoding. In a hard-decision decoder, the receiver performs a single decision, comparing the input to a threshold to identify the binary value (0 or 1) of the received signal. In an N-bit soft-decision decoder, $2^N - 1$ decision



Fig. 2.1 Illustration of a 2-bit soft-decision threshold with the hard-decision bit (red) and the confidence bit (green).

thresholds exist in the receiver such that one threshold identifies the hard-decision bit (centered), while the other thresholds provide confidence decision bits that determine the probability of the hard-decision bit. Compared with hard-decision decoders, the confidence bits improve the decoding performance when making use of an iterative decoder [15,28,39]. In particular, the LDPC decoding algorithm decodes a block of bits using a graphical message-passing model called the sum-product algorithm (SPA) [42]. The SPA makes use of probabilistic information of the received signal such as log-likelihood ratio (LLR). The LLR is the logarithm of the likelihood of the transmitted signal level being a binary 1 over the likelihood of that same signal being a binary 0 [40,43], as expressed by

$$LLR(y_i) = \ln\left(\frac{P(x_i = 1|y_i)}{P(x_i = 0|y_i)}\right),$$
(2.3)

where y_i is the received sample, and the conditional probability is given by

$$P(x_i|y_i) = \frac{P(y_i|x_i)P(x_i)}{P(y_i|x_i=0)P(x_i=0) + P(y_i|x_i=1)P(x_i=1)},$$
(2.4)

where $P(x_i)$ is a *priori probability* of the transmitted data of x_i and $P(y_i|x_i)$ is the corresponding probability distribution function (PDF) of the received sample. Figure 2.1 illustrates a 2-bit soft decision. Two additional decision circuits with each a threshold

 $(V_{th1} \text{ and } V_{th-1})$ provide one single confidence-bit from an exclusive negative oR boolean logic (XNOR) of the binary decisions related to the two thresholds. In Fig. 2.1, the sampled data point examples, A and B, are both above the hard decision threshold (V_{th0}) . However, there is more confidence in the decision for point A because it is above both soft-decision threshold levels. Thus, sampled data point A has a confidence-bit set to 1. The confidence-bit is 0 for the sampled signal that resides between the two soft-decision threshold levels. Indeed, the confidence level increases as the sampled data are farther away from the middle threshold, thus indicating the low probability that an error in the decision was made. Table 2.1 lists the truth table for the three bits resulting from the entire dynamic range of the receiver. The dynamic range of the received sample 'y' is digitized by increasing the number of 1s in the 3-bit thermometer code as the amplitude of the sampled data increases. This representation is referred to as thermometer coding. The 3-bit thermometer code $[D_1, D_0, D_{-1}]$ is converted to 2-bit soft data [H, C] corresponding to the hard-decision bit $[H = D_0]$ and the confidence-bit $[C = \overline{D_1 \oplus D_{-1}}]$.

	3-bit Thermometer code			2-bit soft data	
	D_1	D_0	D_{-1}	Н	C
$y \leq V_{th-1}$	0	0	0	0	1
$V_{th-1} < y < V_{th0}$	0	0	1	0	0
$V_{th0} < y < V_{th1}$	0	1	1	1	0
$V_{th1} \leq y$	1	1	1	1	1

 Table 2.1
 Conversion table 3-bit thermometer code to 2-bit soft data

The PDF of the received sampled data is needed for calculating the LLR value of each sampled data. In a long-haul optically amplified link, the channel noise originating from amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) is the dominant noise source. The photodetector, a quadratic element, generates a non-central chi-squared PDF of the received sampled data [40]. For numerical calculation, however, Gaussian PDFs with different standard deviation for each binary value are used [43]. For the case of nonamplified short-reach optical links where the receiver noise is the primary noise source, the received data consist of Gaussian PDFs with similar standard deviation for each logic level.

Figure 2.2 illustrates the general case of two Gaussian distributions with different standard deviations (σ_0 , σ_1) for each binary value with their respective mean values (μ_0 , μ_1) [40]. The corresponding unquantized LLR values (blue line in Fig. 2.2, bottom) are calculated



Fig. 2.2 (top) PDF with standard deviations (σ_0 , σ_1) and mean values (μ_0 , μ_1) corresponding to binary value 0 and 1, respectively, for normalized received data samples; (bottom) corresponding LLR with set threshold levels (V_{th-1} , V_{th0} , V_{th1}) for a 2-bit soft-decision decoder (green) and the corresponding unquantized LLR values (blue).

by

$$LLR(y) = \ln\left(\frac{\sigma_0}{\sigma_1}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{y^2(\sigma_1^2 - \sigma_0^2) - 2y(\mu_0\sigma_1^2 - \mu_1\sigma_0^2) + \mu_0^2\sigma_1^2 - \mu_1^2\sigma_0^2}{\sigma_0^2\sigma_1^2}\right), \qquad (2.5)$$

The best decoding performance is achieved with unquantized LLR values (i.e., infinite

number of quantization levels). Therefore, more quantization levels lead to higher accuracy and improved decoding performance of iterative SPA decoding. For an N-bit soft-decision receiver, the initial LLR values provided to the SPA are quantized to 2^N levels intersecting the unquantized LLR curve obtained with equation 2.5. The green dashed line (Fig. 2.2, bottom) illustrates the 2-bit quantized LLR values for given threshold values. Selecting appropriate hard-decision and soft-decision threshold levels are explained in Appendix B.

2.2 Silicon Photonics Platform

This section briefly discusses the basic properties of the silicon photonics (SiP) platform used to fabricate the optical devices in this work. Then, it provides key information about silicon photonics photodetectors. The proposed optical components in this work are fabricated through multi-project wafer (MPW) runs by the Institute of Microelectronics IME-A*Star in Singapore. This MPW fabrication process only provides optical components and uses a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) wafer with 220 nm silicon (Si) thickness. In addition to the full etch of the Si layer (220 nm) to form the channel waveguides, there are two partial etches of 70 nm and 130 nm. The 70 nm etch of the Si layer forms a ridge waveguide with 150 nm slab waveguide, which mainly is used in the grating couplers as I/O interfaces. The 130 nm etch of the Si layer forms a ridge waveguide with 90 nm slab waveguide, which is used in modulators and other active devices such as optical switches. The process also provides six doping layers of p++, p+, p, n, n+, n++ for active devices, a thin-film germanium (Ge) deposition to make photodetectors and two metal layers. Figure 2.3 shows the process cross section [44].



Fig. 2.3 Process cross-section [44].

2.2.1 Photodetectors (PDs)

A key building block in any optical link is a photodetector (PD), which acts as an opticalto-electrical (OE) converter. Reverse biased p-i-n diodes are the most common detectors that are used in high-speed optical links. The intrinsic region in a p-i-n diode absorbs photons with energy larger than the bandgap of the semiconductor. Figure 2.4 shows the absorption coefficient of silicon (Si) and germanium (Ge) for various wavelengths at room temperature [45]. Silicon has significant absorption coefficients at short wavelengths, and it is suitable for fabricating a PD for these wavelengths. However, it is transparent at standard communication wavelengths such as 1310 nm and 1550 nm. Hence, to build a PD for long wavelengths in the SOI technology, a thin-film of Ge is deposited on the silicon layer through a selective epitaxial growth [46, 47].

The performance of a photodetector is evaluated by three critical parameters namely responsivity (R), 3 dB bandwidth, and dark current (I_d) . Responsivity is the ratio of the generated photocurrent to the incident optical power and usually, is presented with the unit of A/W and is given by

$$R = \eta \frac{q\lambda}{hc} \tag{2.6}$$



Fig. 2.4 Absorption coefficient of silicon and germanium [45].

where η is the quantum efficiency, q is the charge of an electron, h is Planck's constant, c is the speed of light, and λ is the wavelength of light. For a photodetector without any internal gain, the maximum quantum efficiency is 1. Therefore, the photodetector has a maximum responsivity of 1.25 A/W at 1550 nm, 1.06 A/W at 1310 nm, and 0.68 A/W at 850 nm [48].

The 3 dB bandwidth determines the speed of a detector, which depends on two factors: carrier transit time and RC time constant of the parasitics of the detector [48]. The transit time is the time that takes for photogenerated carriers to leave the active region of the detector and reach to the electrodes. In a p-i-n diode, the maximum transit time bandwidth is estimated by $f_{tr} = 0.38 \times \nu_s/t$, where ν_s is the carrier velocity-saturation and t is the thickness of the intrinsic region. The RC time constant is the electrical characteristic of the detector circuit as shown in Fig. 2.5 [48]. The current source I_{pd} models the photocurrent, C_{pd} and R_{pd} are the parasitic capacitor and resistor of the photodetector, respectively, and R_{load} is the load resistance of the detector. The bandwidth due to RC limitations is



Fig. 2.5 Equivalent circuit model for a photodetector [48].

 $f_{RC} = 1/[2\pi C_{pd}(R_{load} + R_{pd})]$. The total bandwidth of the photodetector is given by

$$f = \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{f_{tr}^2} + \frac{1}{f_{RC}^2}\right)^{-1}} \tag{2.7}$$

The dark current is a current from a photodetector without any incident light. It is caused by the random generation of carriers in the active area of the detector. The dark current increases with the reverse-bias voltage and temperature, and it contributes to the shot noise, as discussed in Appendix A.

Waveguide Germanium Photodetector (Ge-PD)

Figures 2.6(a) and 2.6(b) show the cross-section of waveguide germanium photodetectors with vertical n-i-p diode junction and lateral p-i-n diode junction, respectively [48]. As shown in Fig. 2.6(c), the light is incident on the photodetector through a taper silicon waveguide, and it evanescently couples from the silicon to the top Ge [46]. The dark current in a Ge-PD is caused by bulk leakage (J_{bulk}) and surface leakage (J_{surf}) [48]. The large difference between the lattice of silicon and germanium causes mid band-gap states. As a result, the bulk generation is dominated by the Shockley–Read–Hall process [49]. Surface leakage is resulted from surface defects such as dangling bonds [48]. The total dark



Fig. 2.6 Cross-sections of waveguide Ge photodetectors, (a) with lateral p-i-n diode junction, and (b) vertical n-i-p diode junction [48]. (c) Micrograph of the waveguide Ge-PD [46].

current of a Ge-PD with junction area of A is calculated by [50]:

$$I_{dark} = J_{bulk}A + J_{surf}\sqrt{4\pi A} \tag{2.8}$$

Significant effort has been made to improve the performance of Ge-PDs by optimizing the fabrication process to reduce the dark current and increase the PD's responsivity [46]. Recently, it has been shown that the responsivity of a Ge-PD improves considerably by reducing the optical loss caused by the metal contact directly above the Ge area. Three effective ways are proposed in the literature to reduce metal absorption loss: 1) removing the metal contact above the Ge area and changing the vertical p-i-n diode's structure to a lateral one [51–53] (Fig. 2.7(a)), 2) using a small size off-centered top contact above the Ge [54, 55] (Fig. 2.7(b)), and 3) using multi-finger connections instead of large contacts [56] (Fig. 2.7(c)). Some of these techniques may be limited by the design rules of a specific fabrication process, such as minimum feature size, exclusion and inclusion distances. For instance, to fabricate a PD without having the

metal contact above the Ge region, the width of the Ge would need to be as small as $0.5 \ \mu m$ to reduce the carrier transient time [52]. This is a feature size that is not provided in the fabrication run in which the Ge-PDs in this work were fabricated. Further, the required minimum feature size of a contact via and the minimum distance between two contacts challenges the use of multi-finger compared to an off-centered top contact. Consequently, an off-centered top contact remains a more practical solution to reduce metal absorption. The responsivity of a photodetector can be enhanced by increasing the photodetector's geometry at the cost of lower bandwidth from inherently larger junction capacitance.



Fig. 2.7 (a) Cross-section of a Ge-PD without top metal contact [52]; (b) cross-section of a Ge-PD with two off-centered top metal contacts [55]; (c) the 3D view of the Ge-PD with multi-finger connections [56].

It has been shown that the bandwidth of a Ge-PD can be enhanced with integrated peaking inductor [57, 58] or by properly using wire-bond connections [59]. Figure 2.8(a) shows a simplified electrical model of a photodetector with serial inductor of L_p [57]. By using a serial inductor with an optimum value of $L_p = 0.5 \times C_{pd} (R_{load} + R_{pd})^2$, the 3 dB bandwidth of the detector improves by $\sqrt{2}$ [57]. Figure 2.8(b) shows the micrograph of a Ge-PD with 360 pH integrated inductor [58]. As shown in Figure 2.8(c), using a peaking inductor of 360 pH, the bandwidth of an unpeaked detector (in blue) is enhanced from 30 GHz to 60 GHz (in green) [58].

Chapter 4 presents a detailed discussion of the effect of the design geometries of a vertical germanium photodetector (Ge-PD) and the size and location of the top metal contact on



Fig. 2.8 (a) Simplified electrical model of a PD with a serial inductor [57]; (b) micrograph of the Ge-PD with 360 pH integrated inductor; (c) electro-optic S_{21} response at 2 V reverse bias of the unpeaked detector as well as two same size detectors with a small integrated inductor (360 pH) and a large integrated inductor (580 PH) [58].

its performance. Further, it presents a novel methodology to optimize the responsivity of a high-speed Ge-PD. The proposed optimization process investigates design geometry for larger responsivity of a PD and considers modifying the top metal contacts within the fabrication constraints while an integrated peaking inductor mitigates the bandwidth trade-off.

Silicon Photodetector (Si-PD)

Silicon with high absorption coefficient at 850 nm enables monolithic integration of an optical receiver with a photodetector. This integration reduces the cost and complexity of the packaging and provides a more reliable optical system [60–62].

Figure 2.9 shows an example of a p-n Si-PD in a bulk CMOS technology. Since the penetration depth of the 850 nm light in bulk silicon is larger than 10 μ m (Fig. 2.4), most of the photons are absorbed outside the depletion region [63]. The slow diffusion current of carriers generated outside the depletion region limits the speed of the Si-PD to sub-GHz in bulk technology [63]. Several techniques have been demonstrated to reduce the slow carriers in Si-PDs at the cost of responsivity degradation [61–67]. Figures 2.10(a)



Fig. 2.9 Structure of a p-n Si-PD in a bulk CMOS technology.

and 2.10(b) show the two most common techniques to reduce the diffusion current. In the first technique known as double photodetector (DPD) (Fig. 2.10(a)), the p+/N-Well (NW) junction makes the photodetector, and the NW/p-substrate junction is the second diode that shields the input of the optical receiver from the slow carriers generated in the p-substrate. This technique decreases the diffusion current and consequently increases the speed of the photodiode, but degrades the device's reliability and responsivity [64]. The second technique is shown in Fig. 2.10(b) known as spatially modulated light (SML) consists of differential photodetectors. One of the PDs is shaded by floating metals while another one is illuminated [62, 66]. This technique eliminates the diffusion current by subtracting the illuminated signal from the shaded signal and improves the speed of the Si-PD. However, the responsivity of the photodetector is degraded due to the reflection of 50% of the received light, and also, it requires a differential optical receiver with high common-mode rejection ratio (CMRR). Most of the Si-PDs are designed for avalanche performance (avalanche photodetector (APD)) to increase the responsivity in the modified Si-PDs [64–67]. However, to the best of our knowledge, the maximum bandwidth reported of a Si-PD fabricated in a bulk CMOS technology is 12 GHz with a responsivity of 0.03 A/W, which is resulted from an avalanche gain of 10.6 at 9.7 V reverse-bias voltage [66].



Fig. 2.10 (a) Structure of double photodetector (DPD); (b) structure of spatially modulated light (SML) Si-PD.

The bandwidth of the Si-PD can be improved further by fabricating the photodetector on a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) platform. The structure of a lateral p-i-n Si-PD in an SOI technology is shown in Fig. 2.11. Elimination of the diffusion current by using the insulator between the active area of the Si-PD and the substrate improves the bandwidth of the PD without any equalization techniques [68, 69]. However, the responsivity of this type of PD is limited by the thickness of the silicon on the insulator. For instance, in the case of a 210-nm silicon layer, more than 98% of the vertically incident light passes through the silicon and limits the responsivity of the Si-PD to 0.0075 A/W [69].



Fig. 2.11 Structure of a lateral p-i-n Si-PD in an SOI technology.

To increase the quantum efficiency and as a result improving the responsivity of an

SOI-based Si-PD, a waveguide-grating coupler (GC) is fabricated on top of the detector [70]. Figures 2.12(a) and 2.12(b) show cross-section of a SOI-based p-i-n diode with a waveguide-grating coupler on top of the diode and the micrograph of the fabricated device, respectively [70]. Measurement result shows that the designed grating coupler improves the quantum efficiency by a factor of four in comparison with a detector without GC. However, the large size of the grating coupler on top of the diode area limits the bandwidth of the detector to 4.1 GHz due to a large parasitic capacitance and resistance of the doped area under the GC [70]. Chapter 5 demonstrates the design and measurement results of novel SOI-based Si-PDs that use grating couplers to direct the incident light horizontally to the intrinsic area of the p-i-n diode for an efficient absorption while the structure of the p-i-n diode is optimized for high-speed operation.



Fig. 2.12 (a) Cross-section of an SOI-based p-i-n diode with a waveguide-grating coupler on top of the diode; (b) the micrograph of the fabricated device [70].

Avalanche Photodetector (APD)

An avalanche photodetector (APD) is a p-n/p-i-n junction purposely made to work at high electric fields to achieve internal gain. A high electric field resulted from a large reversebias voltage increases the drift velocity and kinetic energy of carriers in the depletion region. Hence, a carrier (electron or hole) has sufficient energy to break a bond and generates a new electron-hole pair. This process is known as impact ionization [71]. The original carrier and the generated carriers will be accelerated by the electric field and contribute to generating more carriers that gradually increases the photocurrent. Therefore, the avalanche multiplication process increases the responsivity of the photodetector. Note that amplification applies to photogenerated carriers as well as carriers generated by any other mechanism (e.g., thermally generated carriers). It also increases the noise of the photodetector. The excess noise factor F_A is given by

$$F_A(M) = k_A M + (1 - k_A) \left(1 - \frac{1}{M}\right)$$
(2.9)

where M is the multiplication factor also known as avalanche gain and k_A ($0 < k_A < 1$) is the ratio of ionization coefficients of electrons (α_e) and holes (α_h). The variance of the shot noise (σ_{sh}^2) of an avalanche photodetector is given by

$$\sigma_{sh}^2(i) = 2qM^2 F_A[R(P_{in}) + I_d)]B_e$$
(2.10)

where q is the charge of an electron, R is the responsivity of the photodetector, P_{in} is the received optical power, and B_e is the bandwidth of the optical receiver [41]. In an optical receiver with dominant thermal noise, using an avalanche photodetector increases the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) by a factor of M^2 , while when the shot noise is dominant, the SNR degrades by the excess noise factor (F_A) [41].

2.3 Optical Receiver Front End

Developing a compact, low-power, and highly sensitive optical receiver is essential for shortreach applications. As shown in Fig. 1.2, a receiver front-end typically consists of a transimpedance amplifier (TIA) and some post-amplifier (PA) stages. A TIA converts the photocurrent to a voltage signal and amplifies it. For further amplification, there are post-amplifier stages that provide enough peak-to-peak amplitude at the input of the decision circuit. The total bandwidth of the TIA and PA stages needs to be large enough to avoid large inter-symbol interference (ISI). On the other hand, broad bandwidth of the front end increases the total noise power, which results in degradation of the receiver sensitivity. Also, providing large bandwidth results in a lower gain per stage, which increases noise due to the higher noise density and further degrades the receiver sensitivity. Due to the trade-off that exists between ISI and sensitivity, the total bandwidth of the front end is typically chosen around 0.5–0.7 times of the target data rate [72, 73].

2.3.1 Transimpedance Amplifier

The design of a transimpedance amplifier has the most impact on the trade-off among noise, bandwidth, gain, and power consumption of an optical receiver [73]. Usually, the large input capacitance (parasitic capacitance of the photodetector, packaging, and TIA) and the input impedance of the TIA determine the bandwidth. A high-performance TIA topology needs to have a low input impedance, high current-to-voltage gain, and a small input-referred current noise. The noise of the TIA is caused by the thermal noise of the resistors and transistors in the TIA topology. Figures 2.13(a) and 2.13(b) show the thermal noise model of a transistor and a resistor, respectively. In this figure, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, g_m is the transconductance of the transistor, and γ is the excess noise coefficient.

Figure 2.14 shows the block diagram of three common single-ended TIAs in a CMOS technology. The common-gate (CG) amplifier shown in Fig. 2.14(a) has a low input impedance (R_{in}) of g_{m1}^{-1} , where g_{m1} is the transconductance of the transistor M_{n1} . The CG amplifier acts as a current buffer with almost a unity current gain, so the transimpedance



Fig. 2.13 (a) Thermal noise model of a NMOS transistor; (b) Thermal noise model of a resistor.



Fig. 2.14 (a) Schematic of a common-gate (CG) TIA; (b) regulated cascode; (c) shunt feedback TIA.

gain of the CG TIA is equal to R_1 . The main drawback of this topology is that the noise of the bias current circuit adds to the input current (I_{in}) and degrades the signal-tonoise ratio (SNR). The current noise of a transistor directly increases with its g_{m1} ; hence, there is a strong trade-off between bandwidth and noise in this structure. The regulated cascode (RGC) topology, as shown in Fig. 2.14(b), is essentially a CG structure with negative feedback (M_{n2}) [74]. The negative feedback decreases the input impedance to $[g_{m1}(1+g_{m2}R_2)]^{-1}$, while the g_{m1} of the transistor would be remained almost the same as the CG topology. Therefore, the RGC provides higher bandwidth in comparison to the CG TIA. The local feedback may cause instability due to the creation of a second pole and requires careful design. Figure 2.14(c) illustrates the block diagram of a shunt feedback TIA. Due to the Miller effect of the feedback resistor (R_F), the input impedance at DC is decreased to $R_F/(1+A)$, while the DC transimpedance gain (R_T) is equal to $R_T = R_F/(1+A^{-1})$, which for A $\gg 1$ results in $R_T \approx R_F$. In this topology, the noise of the feedback resistor (R_F) is directly referred to the input, which is similar to the noise contribution of R_1 in CG TIA. The input-referred voltage noise of the amplifier in shunt feedback TIA is devided by R_F when it is referred to the TIA's input. Hence, for a large R_F value, the input-referred current noise of the amplifier can be much smaller that the noise contribution of the bias current source in CG topology. As a result, shunt feedback TIA provides a better noise performance in comparison to the two other topologies [73].

As shown in Figs. 2.15(a) and 2.15(b), a common-source (CS) amplifier and inverterbased amplifier are two typical single-ended topologies used to implement the feedback TIA circuit of Fig. 2.14(c). A simplified small-signal model is shown in Fig. 2.15(c), which is used to analyze the performance of a shunt feedback TIA. In this figure, C_{PD} is the



Fig. 2.15 (a) Schematic of a common-source (CS) feedback TIA; (b) an inverterbased feedback TIA; (c) simplified small-signal model.

parasitic capacitor of the photodetector and its packaging, C_{gs} is the gate-source parasitic capacitor of a transistor, and C_{gd} is the gate-drain parasitic capacitor of a transistor. In the inverter structure, C_{gs} represents the sum of the gate-source parasitic capacitors of PMOS and NMOS transistors. Also, C_{gd} represents the sum of the gate-drain parasitic capacitors of PMOS and NMOS transistors. The g_o is the effective output conductance of the amplifier. For the CS amplifier, it is the sum of the output conductances of the NMOS transistor (g_{dsn}) and the bias circuit. While, for the inverter structure, g_o is the sum of the output conductances of PMOS (g_{dsp}) and NMOS (g_{dsn}) transistors. C_L is the parasitic load capacitor of the TIA, which includes the drain-source and drain-body parasitic capacitors of the TIA and the parasitic input capacitor of the following post-amplifier. The transimpedance transfer function of the feedback TIA is given by

$$Z_{t}(s) = \frac{A(s)}{B(s)},$$

$$A(s) = 1 - g_{m}R_{f} + sR_{f}C_{gd},$$

$$B(s) = g_{m} + g_{o} + s[C_{in} + C_{L} + R_{f}(C_{gd}g_{m} + C_{gd}g_{o} + C_{in}g_{o})]$$

$$+ s^{2}R_{f}[C_{in}C_{gd} + C_{in}C_{L} + C_{L}C_{gd}]$$
(2.11)

The equation shows that increasing the g_m of the transistors improves the transimpedance gain, while the output conductance of g_o degrades it. Assuming that the two poles are far apart and C_{gd} is negligible, the bandwidth (BW) can be approximated by

$$BW \approx \frac{g_m + g_o}{2\pi [C_L + C_{in}(1 + R_F g_o)]}$$
 (2.12)

The equation indicates that increasing the g_m directly improves the bandwidth. However, increasing the size of the transistor increases g_m , g_o , and the parasitics capacitor C_{gs} . Therefore, increasing the size of the transistors would eventually limit the bandwidth of the TIA by enlarging the capacitor of the amplifier and increasing g_o . The inverter-based feedback TIA has several advantages in comparison to the CS feedback TIA. First, the inverter-based feedback TIA has a larger effective transconductance ($g_m=g_{mn}+g_{mp}$) for a given bias current. However, this comes at the expense of larger input capacitance. Second, it is more suitable for small supply voltages and offers a large output swing [75]. The total input-referred noise of the receiver front end and the photodetector noise determine the sensitivity of the receiver. Usually, the noise of the TIA is the main contributor to the receiver noise because it gets amplified through the following post-amplifier stages. Therefore, designing a low noise TIA is essential to improve the sensitivity of an optical receiver. The TIA noise is mostly due to the thermal noise of the feedback resistor R_F and the noise of the amplifier. A detailed noise analysis of the feedback TIA can be found in [73].

2.3.2 Post-Amplifiers

Due to the gain-bandwidth trade-off in designing a TIA, it is difficult to achieve a desirable gain-bandwidth product in a single-stage amplifier. Hence, the TIA stage is followed by several post-amplifier stages to increase the gain of the receiver front-end. Cascading N uniform first-order amplifiers with a voltage gain of A_v and bandwidth of BW₀ increases the total gain of the amplifier chain to $A_{Total} = A_v^N$. While the overall bandwidth of the Ncascaded amplifiers is $BW_{Total} = BW_0 \sqrt{\sqrt[N]{2} - 1}$, which is less than the bandwidth of each stage. Therefore, for a certain total gain-bandwidth product, each stage requires the gainbandwidth product of $\text{GBW}_0 = \sqrt[N]{A_{Total}} \times \text{BW}_{Total} / \sqrt{\sqrt[N]{2} - 1}$, which decreases considerably as the number of stages (N) increases and it has a minimum value for $N=2ln(A_{Total})$ [73]. The power consumption of the post-amplifier chain increases proportionally with the number of stages. Also, with a large number of low-gain stages, the noise contribution of post-amplifiers becomes significant. Consequently, a high-gain post-amplifier usually is designed with less than five stages [73]. The single ended or differential common-source (CS) amplifier and Cherry–Hooper (CH) amplifier are two typical topologies that have been used as post-amplifier stages. Note that a single-ended structure is more sensitive to the power supply noise, substrate noise, and package resonances. However, in comparison with a differential topology, it consumes less power, which is favorable for a low-power design.

Using an on-chip regulated power supply can reduce the supply noise in the single-ended topologies [76].

Figures 2.16(a) and 2.16(b) show a single-ended CS amplifier with a load resistance of R_L and a CS-based CH amplifier, respectively. There is a strong trade-off between the voltage gain and bandwidth of the CS amplifier. It has a pole at $W_{p(CS)}=(R_LC_L)^{-1}$ and the low-frequency voltage gain of $|A_{V(CS)}|=g_{ma}\times R_L$, where g_{ma} is the transconductance of the NMOS transistor. As shown in Fig. 2.16(b), the CH amplifier consists of two cascaded CS amplifiers with a feedback resistor (R_F) around the second section. Due to this feedback resistor, the small-signal resistance seen at the output nodes of both first and second sections of a CH amplifier is about g_{m2}^{-1} resulting in high-frequency poles of $W_{p1(CH)} \approx (g_{m2}/C_x)$ and $W_{p2(CH)} \approx (g_{m2}/C_L)$ [73]. The low-frequency gain of the CH amplifier is $|A_V \approx g_{m1} \times R_F - g_{m1}/g_{m2}$, where g_{mi} is the transconductance of transistor M_i (*i*=1,2). Assuming that $R_F \gg g_{m2}^{-1}|$, the gain of a CH amplifier is close to the gain of a CS amplifier with a load resistance of R_F while it has a larger bandwidth [73].



Fig. 2.16 (a) Schematic of a CS amplifier with a load capacitance; (b) a CS-based CH amplifier with node capacitances.

2.3.3 Bandwidth Enhancement Techniques

Designing a power-efficient optical receiver with a high gain-bandwidth product is more challenging in CMOS technology compared with SiGe, GaAs, and InP technologies, due to the lower transition frequency (f_T) of CMOS. When the technology is not fast enough to design a receiver with a high gain-bandwidth product, broadband techniques are employed. Inductive peaking is a common bandwidth enhancement technique at the cost of chip area [77–83]. For example, a 1 nH inductor in 65 nm CMOS technology may occupy an area of 300 μ m×300 μ m. There are more compact bandwidth extension techniques such as active inductors [84], third-order interleaved active feedback [85], multi-peaking bandwidth extension [86], and local positive feedback [87,88]. In a single-ended DC-coupled multistage amplifier, optimizing the active inductors increases the design complexity of the biasing for each stage and the desing would be more sensitive to fabrication process [89]. The third-order interleaved active feedback and multi-peaking bandwidth extension techniques enhance the bandwidth of uniform multistage amplifiers by separating the poles. Here, we overview two techniques, third-order interleaved active feedback (IAFB), and positive feedback (PFB), that are used in the proposed optical receiver (Chapter 6).

Interleaved Active Feedback (IAFB)

Figures 2.17(a) and 2.17(b) show the block diagram and circuit schematic of a third-order active feedback amplifier, respectively. It consists of three gain stages of G_1 , G_2 , and G_3 and an active feedback cell of G_f [85]. To simplify the analysis, all of the resistive and capacitive loads and the transconductance of the gain stages are considered to be equal to R, C, and g_m , respectively. The transfer function of the gain stage and active feedback can



Fig. 2.17 (a) Block diagram and (b) circuit schematic of a third-order active feedback amplifier [85].

be approximated by a single-pole equation as

$$G_1(s) = G_2(s) = G_3(s) = G(s) = \frac{g_m R}{1 + sRC}$$
(2.13)

$$G_f(s) = \frac{g_{mf}R}{1+sRC} \tag{2.14}$$

where g_{mf} is the transconductance of the active feedback stage. The overall transfer function of the three-stage amplifier without active feedback is $G^3(s)$, which has three repeated real poles of $W_{p1-3}=(RC)^{-1}$, while adding active feedback G_f results in an overall transfer function of $G^3(s)/(1+G^2(s)G_f(s))$ with one non-dominant real pole and two dominant complex conjugate poles [85]. Indeed, an active feedback shapes the placement of the poles of a uniform three-stage amplifier. Selecting an appropriate gain for the feedback stage $(\beta=g_{mf}R)$ increases the overall bandwidth of the amplifier at the cost of degrading the total gain of the amplifier. Cascading the third-order active feedback amplifiers increases the gain of the amplifier. However, it may result in a large peaking at the frequency response and overshoot and ripple in the transient response of the amplifier [85]. Using interleaved active feedback further improves the overall bandwidth of the cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers and suppresses the gain peaking [85]. Figures 2.18(a) and 2.18(b) show the block diagram of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers without and with interleaved feedback, respectively. Figure 2.19(a) compares the simulated frequency re-



Fig. 2.18 (a) Block diagram of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers; (b) block diagram of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers with interleaved feedback [85].

sponse of a six-stage amplifier without active feedback, with active feedback (Fig. 2.18(a)) and with interleaved active feedback (Fig. 2.18(b)). In this simulation R, C, g_m , and g_{mf} are considered to be 100 Ω , 200 *f*F, 25 m \mathcal{O} , and 2 m \mathcal{O} (results in feedback gain of $\beta = 0.2$), respectively. Simulation results show that the bandwidth of a six-stage amplifier increases by more than 3.3 times with active feedback at the cost of 14 dB gain degradation. Using interleaved active feedback increases the bandwidth by more than 3.8 times with a flat response at the cost of 16 dB gain reduction. Figure 2.19(b) shows their pole locations. The radial and half circle dashed lines in Fig. 2.19(b) represent the damping factors and the natural frequencies, respectively. The six-stage amplifier without active feedback has six coincide real poles of $W_{p1-6} = (RC)^{-1} = 50$ GHz (blue cross). The six-stage amplifier with active feedback also has six poles: two coincide real poles and two repeated sets of two complex conjugate poles (red crosses). The six-stage amplifier with interleaved active feedback has two real poles and four complex conjugate poles shown with black crosses. Indeed, the interleaved active feedback separates the repeated poles of two cascaded third-order active feedback amplifiers and shapes the frequency response.



Fig. 2.19 (a) Frequency response of a six-stage amplifier without active feedback, with active feedback, and with interleaved active feedback; (b) their pole locations.

Positive Feedback (PFB)

Using a local positive feedback (PFB) to extend the bandwidth of an inverter-based TIA was briefly proposed in [87] and the analysis of the PFB technique was presented in [88]. Figure 2.20 shows the schematic of an inverter-based TIA with an inverter-based CH am-

plifier and a positive feedback around the first section of the inverter-based Cherry-Hooper (CH) amplifier. In this figure, R_{in} is the input resistance of the CH amplifier with positive



Fig. 2.20 Schematic of an inverter-based TIA and CH amplifier with positive feedback (PFB).

feedback, and each forward inverter has a total transconductance of g_m and total output conductance of g_o . The g_{mf} and g_{of} are the total transconductance and total output conductance of the positive feedback inverter, respectively. The input resistance of the inverter-based CH amplifier is loading the TIA and is given by [88]:

$$R_{in}^{-1} = G_{in} = g_{of} - \frac{g_{mf}g_m}{g_m + g_o} = \left(\frac{1}{A_v} - \frac{A_v}{1 + A_v}\right)g_{mf}$$
(2.15)

where, A_v is the gain of an inverter, and it is equal to g_m/g_o [88]. The gain should be larger than 1 to amplify the input signal, thus, the G_{in} is negative. The negative resistance at the input of CH amplifier extends the bandwidth of the previous stage and also slightly increases the transimpedance gain of the TIA [88].

2.3.4 Power Penalty in Optical Receivers

Measuring the bit error rate (BER) as a function of received optical power is one of the main criteria to evaluate the performance of an optical receiver. As discussed in section 2.1.1, the BER of a transmission system initially is determined by the total noise level at the input of the receiver. For example, if the total input-referred noise of a broadband optical receiver has a standard deviation of $\sigma_{input-referred}$, it requires an input current peak-to-peak of $14 \times \sigma_{input-referred}$ for BER of 10^{-12} [73]. Note that the input current is proportional to the received optical power based on the responsivity of the photodetector. The required optical power to achieve a given BER known as sensitivity of the optical receiver. Impairments in the transmitter, fiber, and receiver increase the required optical power for a given BER. Power penalty (PP) is a useful tool to quantify the impairments and is defined as the additional transmitted optical power required to achieve the same BER as in a system without the impairment. Power penalties in dBs are using the conversion of $10\log(PP)$ [90]. The limited bandwidth of an optical receiver, low cut-off frequency, offset of the decision threshold, an ambiguity of the decision threshold, and jitter of the sampling time are some of the main impairments in an optical receiver. The issues of limited bandwidth and low cut-off frequency are related to the receiver front end and are briefly discussed here.

Bandwidth

As mentioned in Appendix A, the smaller bandwidth of an optical receiver reduces the total input-referred noise. However, the limited bandwidth causes signal distortion known as inter-symbol interference (ISI). The limited bandwidth degrades the high-frequency components of the received data and causes finite rise time and fall times. Therefore, the magnitude level of each bit is affected by the magnitude of the previous bits. Figure 2.21 compares the eye diagram without ISI and with ISI [90]. In Fig. 2.21(a) the signal without ISI has the maximum eye opening of V_E. The ISI degrades the maximum eye opening to V'_E (Fig. 2.21(b)). Hence, as shown in Fig. 2.21(c), to achieve the same BER as for the eye diagram without ISI, a larger signal is required. As a result, the power penalty is $PP=V_E/V'_E$ [90]. Note that this power penalty estimation is based on the worst-case eye



Fig. 2.21 Eye diagram (a) without ISI, (b) with ISI, (c) with ISI and increased signal amplitude to achieve the original BER [90].

opening. Therefore, the actual power penalty would be smaller than this estimation.

Low Cut-Off Frequency

Device mismatches in the fabricated receiver, low-frequency noises, and DC current from a DC-coupled photodetector generate an offset voltage that changes the bias point of the optical front end and may saturate the output swing. To avoid this issue, usually, an offset cancellation (OC) feedback is used that reduces the low-frequency gain and generates a low cut-off frequency (f_{LF}). In addition to suppressing the offset voltage, the offset cancellation feedback degrades the low-frequency components of the receiver data. Hence, the output level may degrade significantly during a long string of identical bits (also known as runs). As shown in Fig. 2.22 the output level drifts during a long run [90]. Also, the drift of the output signal, which is known as baseline wander, may generate data dependent jitter [90]. To minimize baseline wander effect, the time constant of $1/(2\pi f_{LF})$ should be sufficiently larger than the longest run of the data pattern. Assuming a linear system with a single-pole high-pass filter transfer function, the drift voltage after r consecutive zeros or ones is given by

$$V_{DRIFT} = \frac{V_O^{pp}}{2} \left[1 - exp(-2\pi f_{LF} \frac{r}{B}) \right]$$

$$\frac{1}{2\pi f_{LF}} \gg \frac{r}{B} \Rightarrow V_{DRIFT} \approx \frac{V_O^{pp}}{2} \left(\frac{2\pi f_{LF}}{B} \right) r$$
(2.16)



PRBS: pseudo random bit sequence.

Fig. 2.22 The effect of low cut-off frequency; the output signal drifts during a long string of ones [90].

where B is the bit rate [90]. The power penalty caused by the drift voltage is given by $PP=1+2V_{DRIFT}/V_O^{pp}$ [90]. Assuming a value for the power penalty (PP), the highest allowable low cut-off frequency calculated by $f_{LF} < (PP-1)B/(2\pi r)$. For example, assuming a run-length of r=72 (in SONET system) and bit rate of B=10 Gb/s and for 0.2 dB power penalty, the f_{LF} should be lower than 1.04 MHz [90].

2.4 Summary

This chapter provided the background information about three topics that are discussed in the following chapters. For the first topic, we went over the basics of forward error correction techniques and hard-decision decoding and soft-decision decoding. The equations required for evaluating the error performance of an optical link were reviewed. For the second topic, the fundamentals in silicon photonics (SiP) platforms and SiP photodetectors were presented. Finally, a typical structure of an optical receiver front end was discussed, and different topologies of the transimpedance amplifier (TIA) and post-amplifier stage were presented. Also, a brief background on the feedback TIA, Cherry–Hooper (CH) post amplifier, interleave active feedback techniques, positive feedback, and power penalties in receiver front ends were provided.
Chapter 3

Analysis of Low-Bit SD-FEC Optical Front Ends

This chapter presents a novel methodology for evaluating the error performance of a multi-branch optical SD-FEC receiver before its hardware implementation. For the presented methodology, low density parity check (LDPC) codes are used which are powerful codes that perform close to Shannon's capacity limit [91]. They have been proposed for next generation high-speed optical communications [14, 36] and are now defined in standards for submarine optical communications [35] and wireless communications [92]. In this chapter, a long block length LDPC (32768, 26803) is used to compare the decoding performance of different front end configurations. A long block length code is more suitable for long-haul application and not necessary appropriate for certain applications related to short-reach optical interconnects where low latency, less complex and more power efficient encoder and decoder modules are required. In such applications, a shorter block length code is more suitable for long-haul application and is used for the experimental validation of the methodology. The work presented in this chapter has been published in Journal of Optical Communications and Networking (JOCN) [29].

3.1 Soft-Decision Receiver Configurations

In this section, different front end configurations of an optical soft-decision receiver are presented and the properties of each configuration are discussed. Considering the possible hardware implementations of an optical SD-FEC receiver, we categorized the configurations in three major categories:

- 1. Electrical fan-out
- 2. Hybrid fan-out
- 3. Optical fan-out

Schematic diagrams of the three categories are illustrated in Fig. 3.1 for 2-bit softdecision optical receivers for a fiber-based optical link. The first receiver front end configuration, the electrical fan-out in Fig. 3.1(a), is a conventional implementation of a soft-decision optical receiver [28]. The photodetector converts the received optical signal to an electrical signal that is amplified by the transimpedance amplifier (TIA) and the post-amplifier stages, shown here as an RX block. The amplified signal is fed to the 2-bit ADC that consists of three decision circuits (D_{-1}, D_0, D_1) . In this configuration, the hard and soft information are extracted electrically by comparing the same signal with three different threshold levels. The hard-decision bit and confidence-bit are obtained from the hard-decision threshold V_{th0} and the soft-decision thresholds V_{th-1} and V_{th1} , respectively.

The second front end configuration was first proposed and implemented in [39], and consists of the soft information being separated optically from the hard-decision bit (Fig. 3.1(b)). The received optical data is coupled unequally to two branches. Two photodetectors convert the optical signal to electrical signals that are amplified by TIAs and post-amplifier stages (RX1 and RX2). The hard-decision bit and confidence-bit are extracted from two different branches called hard-decision branch (HD-B) and soft-decision branch (SD-B). This architecture is referred to as the hybrid fan-out, since the signal is



DR: Laser Driver and modulator, **TX:** Transmitter, **RX:** Receiver circuits, **Di:** Decision circuit, **SD-B:** Soft-Decision Branch, **HD-B:** Hard-Decision Branch.

Fig. 3.1 Optical link with three major configurations of 2-bit soft-decision receiver.

fanned-out optically to the hard-decision and soft-decision branches and that the signal is split electrically to the two decision circuits within the soft-decision path.

In the third configuration (Fig. 3.1(c)), referred as the optical fan-out, the signal is extracted optically to all three decision circuits. The coupler ratio can be completely balanced with a third of the optical power directed to each decision circuit, or unbalanced.

3.1.1 Uncorrelated Noise in Multi-Branch Receiver

In an electrical fan-out configuration, the three decision circuits compare the same signal but with different thresholds. The noise presented to the decision circuits is therefore correlated since it originates from the same source. In the hybrid and optical fan-out front ends, however, the received signal is detected by different photoreceivers, two in the case of the hybrid fan-out and three in the case of the optical fan-out. This give rises to uncorrelated sources of noise from the photodetector, the TIA and post-amplifiers. Consequently, the decision circuits are handling signals with different noise characteristics. In other words, the noise at the input of each decision circuit D_1 , D_0 , and D_{-1} , will have common noise sources prior to the optical coupler splitting the signal and uncorrelated noise sources after the optical coupler. Since the channel noise is the dominant source of noise in an optically amplified link, the common noise is larger than the uncorrelated noise. In nonamplified short-reach applications, receiver noise becomes the dominant source of noise leading to more uncorrelated noise at the decision circuit.

Interestingly, uncorrelated noise generates inconsistent encoding at the output of the decision circuits that may occur in either an amplified or nonamplified optical link. Inconsistency exists when the three decision circuits generates a 3-bit code that cannot be represented as a thermometer code. The phenomenon is illustrated in Fig. 3.2 with an example where a received signal is plotted as it would appear in the hard-decision branch and the soft-decision branch. While the two signals should be similar, the uncorrelated noise from the multiple branches (two branches in this example) leads to changes in the received data points "A" and "B" in the soft-decision branch. For data point "A", the hard-decision bit is 1 (in green) as the signal amplitude is above the threshold (V_{th0}) but the soft-decision branch generates 0 for both thresholds (V_{th1} and V_{th-1}) which leads to a high confident bit of 1 ($\overline{D_1 \oplus D_{-1}} = 1$). However, based on the sampled data "A" in hard-decision branch, the confidence bit should be 0. Similarly, for data point "B", the confident bit is a 1 as the data is above both thresholds whereas the hard-decision branch sees a data point that should be a 0 with lower confidence, i.e., 0.



Fig. 3.2 An example of a received signal in the hard-decision (top) and softdecision (bottom) branches of an hybrid fan-out configuration that leads to inconsistent thermometer codes for sample data point A and B. (Thin dashed lines corresponding to the threshold of the other branch shown for references only).

Inconsistency, it turns out, may arise for up to four possible cases which are listed in Table 3.1. In general, an *m*-bit thermometer code provides a digital representation of the outputs of *m* decision circuits, comparing the sampled data to *m* thresholds from the lowest to the highest in voltage. There are 0 to m sequential 1s in a thermometer code (i.e., [...0000], [...0001], [...0011], [...0111], [...1111]...). For an *m*-bit thermometer code, (m+1) codes are expected, referred to as "consistent thermometer codes". Considering the 2^m possible binary representation, this means that there are 2^m -(m+1) binary codes that are not expected. These are the code referred to as "inconsistent thermometer codes".

In an electrical fan-out configuration (Fig. 3.1(a)), the inconsistencies comes from offset noise in the threshold of the decision circuits and degrade the decoding performance and need to be filtered [37]. In multiple-branch front ends such as the hybrid and optical fanout (Figs. 3.1(b) and 3.1(c)), inconsistent thermometer codes are generated even with ideal decision circuits without threshold offset fluctuation. More precisely, the source of

D_1	D_0	D_{-1}	Thermometer code
0	0	0	Consistent
0	0	1	Consistent
0	1	0	Inconsistent
0	1	1	Consistent
1	0	0	Inconsistent
1	0	1	Inconsistent
1	1	0	Inconsistent
1	1	1	Consistent

 Table 3.1
 Inconsistence cases for the 3-Bit binary data

inconsistency in hybrid and optical fan-out is the uncorrelation between the two branches rather than the nonideality of the decision circuit.

To study the inconsistent thermometer codes, a Monte-Carlo simulation is used with over 10^6 random binary bits. White Gaussian noise with a standard deviation σ_{common} is added to the received signal, and then divided between the branches based on the receiver configuration. In each path, another Gaussian noise with standard deviation σ_i is added to the signal where *i* is 1 and 2 for the hybrid fan-out configuration, and $i = 1, ...2^N - 1$ for the optical fan-out configuration. The signal in the hard-decision branch is compared with its hard-decision threshold. The signal in the soft-decision branches are compared with the corresponding soft-decision thresholds. The generated code is counted and reported as a logic table such as Table 3.2. In Table 3.2, the column x = 0 represents the number of times the specific thermometer code (in a row) was generated when the transmitted data was a logic 0. Likewise, column x = 1 represents the number of times the code was generated when the transmitted data was a logic 1. The conditional probabilities that a logic 1 or a logic 0 is transmitted are given in columns P(x = 0|y) and P(x = 1|y), respectively, calculated using equation (2.4). The logarithm of the likelihood of the received signal of each thermometer code is then calculated using (2.3) is given in column LLR(y).

Table 3.2 shows an example for the hybrid fan-out front end (Fig. 3.1(b)) with a 50/50 optical coupler, splitting 50% of the optical power in each branch. No optical amplifiers are considered in short-reach optical link and the transmitter and channel noise are set to represent 10% of the total noise while the receiver noise in each branch is dominant and represent 90% of the total noise. The Q-factor in each branch is equal and is set to 4.8 dB. In total, 2²⁰ uncoded bits were transmitted with half of the bits being 0s and half of the bits being 1s. Simulations can be done for various splitting ratios and with different percentage of noise contribution to represent both amplified links (i.e., long-haul links) and nonamplified links (i.e., short-reach links). The number of occurrences of each inconsistent thermometer code in a amplified link is lower than that of the short-reach application because the dominant effect of channel noise leads to more similar received signal in two branches. From the simulation results presented in Table 3.2, a received signal y leading to an inconsistent code of [101] has greater probability of originating from a binary 1 since the calculated LLR value is positive 0.50. This result is explained from the observation that the soft-decision branch has a soft-decision threshold V_{th1} above the hard-decision threshold while both branches have the same signal power for the case 50/50 (50% optical power in each branch). Therefore, the decision in the soft-decision branch is more reliable than the decision in the hard-decision branch since the sampled data is above the two soft-thresholds $(V_{th-1} \text{ and } V_{th1})$. In the case that more of the optical power is in the hard-decision branch, the dominant decision will be based on the hard-decision bit.

Table 3.2 shows that by considering the inconsistent thermometer codes, six LLR values can be fed to the decoder instead of four LLR values. Therefore, it is expected that the two additional LLR values improve the decoding due to the more accurate estimation of initial LLR value of the received sample. The effect of inconsistent thermometer codes and additional LLR values on the decoding performance is investigated in section 3.2.

Thermometer code			x = 0	m = 1	P(x=0 y)	P(x-1 u)	TIP
D_1	D_0	D_{-1}	<i>x</i> = 0	x = 1	$I\left(x=0 g\right)$	I(x-1 g)	DDIC
0	0	0	468818	862	0.4471	0.0008	-6.30
0	0	1	21569	1372	0.0205	0.0013	-2.75
1	0	1	11899	19522	0.0113	0.0186	0.50
0	1	0	19848	11904	0.0189	0.0114	-0.51
0	1	1	1324	21942	0.0012	0.0209	2.81
1	1	1	830	468686	0.0008	0.4470	6.33
	$ \begin{array}{c} D_0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{c} D_{-1} \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{array} $	468818 21569 11899 19848 1324 830	862 1372 19522 11904 21942 468686	0.4471 0.0205 0.0113 0.0189 0.0012 0.0008	0.0008 0.0013 0.0186 0.0114 0.0209 0.4470	-6 -2 0. -0 2. 6.

Table 3.2Monte-Carlo simulation results example for short-reach link with hybrid fan-out 50/50 receiver

3.1.2 Methodology for Multi-Branch Soft-Decision Receivers

The methodology to assess the optimum soft-decoding error performance of each receiver front end is discussed in this section. The methodology uses Monte-Carlo simulation by considering the noise statistics related to the link properties and the optical front end configuration. The following 9 steps define the methodology:

Step 1. Specify the link properties: the relative intensity noise (RIN) of the laser, the extinction ratio (ER) of the modulator, the gain and noise figure of the EDFAs for amplified links, the rectangular equivalent optical bandwidth (B_{opt}) of the optical filter, the effective electrical bandwidth of the front end circuit (B_e) , the responsivity (R) and dark current (I_d) of the photodetector, the resistance load of the photodetector, the noise coefficient NF of the receiver front end, and the required Q-factor.

Step 2. Generate a random data frame and encode it using the selected code.

Step 3. Calculate the standard deviation of common noise (σ_{common}) and uncorrelated noise (σ_i) based on the optical link properties and the receiver front end configuration, for each binary level. In the cases of the hybrid and optical fan-out configurations, the common noise is added to the encoded data before splitting and the uncorrelated noise is added to the split optical signal.

Step 4. Determine soft- and hard-decision threshold. Selecting appropriate harddecision and soft-decision thresholds is an important part that affects the decoding performance, as discussed in Appendix B. Based on the statistics of the received data in the hard-decision branch, an appropriate hard-decision threshold is selected. However, for selecting appropriate soft-decision thresholds, we need to sweep them and calculate the total post-FEC bit error rate (BER). Therefore, for each Q-factor, step 2 to step 9 are repeated for various soft-decision thresholds to find the optimum thresholds. Note that in multibranch fan-out configuration, the calculation of hard-decision threshold setting is based on the statistics of the PDFs in the hard-decision branch and the calculation of soft-decision threshold setting is based on the statistics of the PDFs in the soft-decision branch.

Step 5. The noisy signal in each branch is compared with the corresponding thresholds to generate a thermometer-coded signal.

Step 6. The generated consistent and inconsistent thermometer codes are counted and a logic table such as Table 3.2 is formed. The calculated LLR values are fed to the SPA iterative decoder.

Step 7. Run the SPA iterative decoder. The decoder stops if it finds a valid code word or if the number of iteration reaches an iteration limit.

Step 8. Calculate the number of erroneous bits in the frame, and go to step 2 for the next frame until all the frames are decoded

Step 9. Calculate the total post-FEC bit error rate (BER) and frame error rate (FER).

3.1.3 Optical Coupler Ratio Versus Q-factor

The effect of optical power splitting in the hybrid and optical fan-out configurations on the Q-factor is studied in this subsection. It is assumed that all receiver configurations have received the same optical power before the optical splitter. The Q-factor for each branch

is calculated for two cases: 1) when the dominant noise source occurs before the splitter, i.e., from the transmitter and the optical channel, and 2) when the dominant noise source is after the splitter, i.e., from the receiver. Table 3.3 summarizes the Q-factor in (dB) in each branch for various configurations.

	•	-	0	
2-bit SD	Dominant TX	X and channel noise	Dominan	t RX noise
topology	HD-B	SD-B	HD-B	SD-B
	Q-factor	Q-factor	Q-factor	Q-factor
E fan-out	8.00 dB		8.00 dB	
H, 90/10	7.94 dB	0.41 dB	7.09 dB	-11.95 dB
H, $80/20$	$7.85~\mathrm{dB}$	4.50 dB	6.07 dB	-5.94 dB
H, $70/30$	$7.74~\mathrm{dB}$	6.09 dB	4.92 dB	-2.42 dB
H, $60/40$	$7.56 \mathrm{dB}$	$6.87 \mathrm{~dB}$	3.58 dB	$0.07 \ \mathrm{dB}$
H, $50/50$	$7.30 \mathrm{~dB}$	7.30 dB	2.00 dB	2.00 dB
O, 90/5/5	7.94 dB	-4.90 dB	7.09 dB	-17.97 dB
O, 80/10/10	$7.85~\mathrm{dB}$	$0.41 \mathrm{~dB}$	6.07 dB	-11.95 dB
O, $70/15/15$	$7.74~\mathrm{dB}$	3.00 dB	4.92 dB	-8.43 dB
O, 60/20/20	$7.56~\mathrm{dB}$	4.50 dB	3.58 dB	-5.94 dB
O, $50/25/25$	$7.30 \mathrm{~dB}$	5.45 dB	2.00 dB	-4.00 dB
O, 33/33/33	$6.41 \mathrm{~dB}$	6.41 dB	-1.51 dB	-1.51 dB

Table 3.3 Branch *Q*-factor comparison for the three configurations

HD-B: hard-decision branch; SD-B: soft-decision branch, E: electrical fan-out;

H, \mathbf{x}/\mathbf{y} : hybrid fan-out with "x" percent of optical power in hard-decision branch and "y" percent of optical power in soft-decision branch;

 \mathbf{O} , $\mathbf{x}/\mathbf{y}/\mathbf{y}$: optical fan-out with "x" percent of optical power in hard-decision branch and "y" percent of optical power in soft-decision branches.

In an optical link where the transmitter and channel noise sources are dominant such as in an optically amplified long-haul links (in the simulated optical link, the common noise has 87% contribution to the total noise), the effect of optical power splitting on the received Q-factor for the hard-decision bit is small as long as the received signal is sufficiently large compared to the receiver noise level. For instance, in the particular simulated link, the Q-factor in the hard-decision branch varies by only 0.64 dB and 1.53 dB for the hybrid and optical fan-out configurations, respectively. However, the soft-decision branch suffers significantly from the optical power splitting. For example in Table 3.3, the hybrid fan-out configuration with a 90/10 splitter (row H, 90/10), the Q-factor in the soft-decision branch exhibits a significant degradation since only 10% of the optical signal is in that branch such that receiver noise becomes comparable with the received signal. Compared to the hybrid fan-out configuration, the degradation in the soft-decision branch is considerably worst for the optical fan-out configuration, up to 5.31 dB when comparing for the same ratio of optical power in the hard-decision branch (e.g., O, 90/5/5 versus H, 90/10). On the other hand, when the receiver noise is the dominant noise source such as in unamplified short-reach links (in the simulated optical link, the receiver noise has 96% contribution to the total noise), the Q-factor in each branch degrades dramatically regardless of the branch. For instance, the Q-factor degrades by 0.91 dB compared to the electrical fan-out configuration even with 90% of the optical power in the hard-decision branch. This can easily be explained since the signal amplitude is degraded by 10% while the noise remains the same. The Q-factor degradation in each branch is approximately $\triangle Q \approx 20 \times \log_{10}(XC)$, where XC is the degradation ratio of optical power in the branch of the fan-out configuration. In the hybrid topology H, 50/50 where XC=0.5, the degradation of Q-factor is -6 dB. In some topologies, the Q-factor of the received signal in the soft-decision branch is negative such that the noise is larger than the signal.

Based on the calculated Q-factor shown in Table 3.3, in an optical link with dominant receiver noise, the soft-decision decoding with optical fan-out receiver is expected to have poor error performance compared to other configurations. Considering the dramatic degradation of the signal quality due to the optical power splitting, the electrical fan-out is the best way to implement a 2-bit SD-FEC receiver for an unamplified optical link for short-reach applications. To study the effect of uncorrelated noise on the decoding performance and the quality of the signal required for the soft-decision branch, the proposed methodology is used and the results are discussed in the following section.

3.2 Error Performance Investigation

This section compares the error performance of the different soft-decision front ends and the impact of their respective configurations. In the first comparison, the received optical power is fixed for all receiver schemes to study the effect of the optical coupler ratio. A second comparison sets the *Q*-factor of the received signal to be the same in the hard-decision branch for all configurations to evaluate the impact of uncorrelated noise and inconsistent thermometer codes. Further, this latter comparison will determine the minimum signal-to-noise required for the soft-decision branch.

For the investigation, an LDPC (32768, 26803) code is used. The code has a 22.25% overhead with a code rate (CR) of 0.818 (CR=26803/32768). Hence, 0.87 dB of optical power is used for transmitting the overhead bits. To account for this overhead, a correcting factor of $-10\log(CR)$ is added to the Q value of the post-FEC BER curves [93]. For each simulated point of post-FEC BER in this section, approximately 6.5×10^7 encoded random bits are simulated.

Note that the optical fan-out configuration has similar performance limitations as the hybrid fan-out due to the optical couplers. Therefore, only the decoding performance of the hybrid fan-out and the electrical fan-out is presented. Since the optical fan-out has more degradation of the *Q*-factor in the soft-decision branches compared to the hybrid fan-out with the same ratio of optical power in the hard-decision branch, the decoding performance of optical fan-out is further degraded with respect to the hybrid fan-out.

3.2.1 Impact of Coupling Ratio

The decoding performance of the hybrid fan-out and the electrical fan-out configurations are presented as post-FEC BER versus pre-FEC *Q*-factor for both amplified and unamplified links. For all simulation results, the uncoded, hard-decision and unquantized BER curves are provided for reference.

Amplified Optical Link with Dominant Channel Noise

An optically amplified link with a hybrid fan-out front end receiver has first been studied experimentally in [39] with a block code LDPC (32000, 29759). However, the XNOR gate was used to generate the confidence-bit of the soft-decision branch from the two decision circuits D_{-1} and D_1 . As such, the uncorrelated noise effect and possible inconsistent thermometer codes could not be observed since only the XNOR gate output information was available. Thus, the added information from the inconsistent codes was not used for better LLR estimation. Even worse, for the H, 50/50 configuration, the generated confidence-bit from the inconsistent codes is incorrect and degrades the decoding performance due to incorrect estimation of the LLR values of the received data. For example, the received thermometer code [101] was interpreted as [01] (or a strong-decision logic 0). Based on the Monte-Carlo simulation results in Table 3.2, code [101] should be considered as a weakdecision logic 1.

The amplified optical link is simulated with the channel and transmitter noise set to 87% of the total noise. Figure 3.3 shows post-FEC BER versus pre-FEC *Q*-factor for 2-bit electrical and hybrid fan-out while the confidence-bit is generated from $(\overline{D_1 \oplus D_{-1}} = 1)$ and the initial LLR values are calculated based on 2-bit soft data. The simulation results show decoding performance similar to experimental results in [39]. The results show that the 2-bit electrical fan-out exhibits a 0.5 dB penalty over a hypothetical soft-decision configuration

with unquantized LLR but a 0.75 dB improvement over hard-decision. The results shown in Fig. 3.3 also show that for the hybrid fan-out configuration with optical ratios of 80/20 and 90/10, more optical power in the hard-decision branch leads to a better decoding performance than a pure hard-decision decoding. From optical ratios of 70/30, 60/40, and 50/50, the performance is worse than hard-decision since the signal-to-noise ratio of the hard-decision branch is degraded more and the LLR values are estimated incorrectly due to the use of XNOR in the soft-decision branch. The best performing hybrid configuration is 0.54 dB worse than the 2-bit electrical configuration.



Fig. 3.3 Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using LDPC (32768, 26803) in optically amplified optical link, using XNOR to extract the confidence-bit.

The post-FEC BER is now re-evaluated when the LLR quantization levels are calculated using the output of the decision circuits $[D_{-1}, D_0, D_1]$ rather the logical output of $(\overline{D_1 \oplus D_{-1}})$. As shown in Fig. 3.4, the hybrid fan-out configurations have 0.27 dB to 0.43 dB better decoding performance than the conventional hard decision. In addition, they have better decoding performance when compared with Fig. 3.3. For example, a 50/50 optical coupler ratio in the hybrid configuration leads to a 0.7 dB improvement when the benefit of uncorrelated noise is exploited. Indeed, the improvement comes from the strong benefit of the inconsistent thermometer codes that adds additional LLR quantization levels for a better estimation. Despite the performance improvement, the best performing hybrid configuration remains 0.32 dB worse than the 2-bit electrical configuration.



Fig. 3.4 Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using LDPC (32768, 26803) in optically amplified optical link considering uncorrelated noise in the LLR quantization.

Unamplified Optical Link with Dominant Receiver Noise

An optical link without channel noise (e.g., ASE noise) leads to a link that has dominant receiver noise. In this investigation, the unamplified optical link is simulated with 96% of the total noise being the receiver noise. The error performance for the electrical and hybrid fan-out configurations is shown in Fig. 3.5. In this link, the received Q-factor is degraded severely by the optical coupler ratio. For the hybrid fan-out configuration with a 90/10 coupler, the simulated Q-factor results presented in Table 3.3 show a 0.91 dB degradation in the hard-decision branch over the electrical fan-out. However, the decoding performance of the given front end is 2.2 dB worse than the 2-bit soft-decision electrical fan-out. The additional degradation, 2.2-0.91=1.29 dB, is from the negative Q-factor in the soft-decision branch that leads to a wrong estimation of the LLR values. For the hybrid configuration with a 50/50 coupler, the simulated Q-factor results presented in Table 3.3 shows a 6 dB degradation over the electrical fan-out while the decoding performance for a given optical link is degraded by only 4.52 dB over the electrical fan-out. Thus, the inconsistent thermometer codes improve the decoding performance by adding more LLR levels. Some improvement can be seen for the other optical coupler ratio configurations.



Fig. 3.5 Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision front end receivers using LDPC (32768, 26803) in dominant receiver noise optical link.

3.2.2 Benefit of Uncorrelated Noise

To study the effect of uncorrelated noise in two branches, the Q-factor in the hard-decision branch is kept constant for all optical coupler splitting ratios to isolate the effect from Q-factor degradation in the hard-decision branch. Consequently, the received optical power prior to the coupler is larger in the hybrid fan-out configuration than the electrical fan-out configuration. Figure 3.6 shows the corresponding error performance for the 2-bit electrical and hybrid fan-out configuration. As discussed previously, the hybrid configuration with a 50/50 coupler (blue dashed-line) benefits greatly from the inconsistent codes, exhibiting a 1.47 dB improvement in decoding performance over 2-bit electrical fan-out. In other hybrid fan-out configurations with lower optical power in the soft-decision branch, the improvement gained from uncorrelated noise is lessened due to degradation of the Q-factor in the soft-decision branch. For instance, the hybrid fan-out configuration with a 60/40 coupler (green dashed-line) shows only a 0.33 dB improvement over the electrical fan-out configuration while a 70/30 coupler has worse performance over the 2-bit electrical fan-out due to the noisy signal in the soft-decision branch.



Fig. 3.6 Decoding performance of the 2-bit soft-decision receivers using LDPC (32768, 26803) with constant *Q*-factor in hard-decision branch.

3.3 Methodology Validation

The proposed methodology to investigate the effect of the configuration in soft-decision decoding is experimentally validated. The 2-bit soft decision receiver for amplified optical links has been studied experimentally in [27,39] and the decoding performance has a similar trend to the simulation result in subsection 3.2.1. Therefore, the methodology is validated in an unamplified short-reach link for electrical and hybrid fan-out configurations. The target short-reach application is related to the optical link with a length of 2 km to 10 km. A short block length LDPC (672, 588) code with a code rate of 0.875, which is adopted for ultra-wideband (UWB) wireless communication applications [92], is used for validation.

Figure 3.7 shows the test setup for validating the proposed methodology. The continuous wave (CW) optical signal from a distributed feedback (DFB) laser source emitting at a wavelength of 1310 nm is injected into a Mach-Zehnder modulator (MZM) with a V_{π} of 8 V driven by the baseband signal from the output of a programmable bit pattern generator (BPG). The MZM has an insertion loss of 13 dB at 1310 nm. The optical power launched into the fiber is -6 dBm.

Each LDPC block contains 672 bits and by adding 50 blocks of encoded data, a frame is created. Each frame is preceded by 60 unique preamble bits to identify each frame in the received sequence using cross-correlation. Four frames and their respective preambles form a super frame of about 134,640 bits. The super frame of the LDPC code is first loaded onto the BPG using a MATLAB interface.

The 10 Gb/s modulated NRZ-OOK optical signal is sent through 8.3 km of single mode fiber (SMF), with a fiber loss of α =0.38 dB/km and negligible chromatic dispersion at 1310 nm. Since the performance of the electrical or hybrid fan-out front-ends is evaluated based on the *Q*-factor of the received data, the comparison would be independent of the length of the fiber. Therefore, we used the available fiber with a length of 8.3 km (slightly lower than 10 km) in our setup. A variable optical attenuator (VOA) reduces the optical power to degrade the signal-to-noise ratio in the electrical or hybrid fan-out receiver configuration. For the electrical fan-out configuration, the received signal is fed to a p-i-n photoreceiver that has a 3-dB electrical bandwidth of 11 GHz and a conversion gain of 200 V/W at a wavelength of 1310 nm. The signal is then amplified by a broadband RF amplifier for proper electrical sampling. As for the validation of the methodology for the hybrid fan-out configuration, the received optical signal is fed to an optical directional coupler and both output branches are connected to two identical photoreceivers with a bandwidth of 10 GHz and sensitivity of -18 dBm. The optical receivers are linear for optical power lower than -8 dBm. The available directional couplers have a splitting ratio of 81/19 and 53/47, respectively, at 1310 nm. A tunable delay line is used to compensate the delay mismatch between the hard-decision (HD) and soft-decision (SD) branches. The sampling oscilloscope is programmed to capture 4 samples per bit. Since only one p-i-n photoreceiver with a bandwidth of 11 GHz and a conversion gain of 200 V/W, which is used for the electrical fan-out configuration, is available in our labs, we used different photoreceivers for evaluating the hybrid fan-out configuration. Note that the performance of the front-ends is evaluated based on the *Q*-factor of the received data. Also, both types of the photoreceivers used for the electrical and hybrid fan-out configurations are linear and have a large bandwidth with a negligible ISI effect at 10 Gb/s data rate. Therefore, the post-FEC BER comparison is independent of the photoreceiver's type.



Fig. 3.7 Experimental setup used to validate the proposed methodology for unamplified links with an electrical or hybrid fan-out configuration as the soft-decision receiver.

The sampling oscilloscope has two channels with a 14-bit analog-to-digital converter (ADC) at the input of each channel that samples the received data. In each branch of the hybrid fan-out configuration, the noise of the sampled data has a common part from the noise sources prior to the optical splitter and an uncorrelated noise from the associated photoreceiver. For each measurement, around 1.3×10^6 bits are captured, and the decoding

is performed off-line in MATLAB. The frames are first synchronized using a cross correlation function on the received data with a predefined unique preamble. The signal is then down sampled to 1 sample per bit by selecting the optimum sample based on hard-decision error counting of received data. For the case of the hybrid fan-out configuration, the received signals in both branches down-sampled to 1 sample by selecting the optimum sample based on the hard-decision error counting of the received data in the HD branch. A DC offset added by the oscilloscope is removed. For the electrical fan-out configuration, the initial LLR values are calculated using 2.5 and the iterative SPA decoder is used for decoding the data [42]. For the hybrid fan-out configuration, the initial LLR is calculated considering the inconsistent thermometer codes from quantized data in the HD and SD branches. The optimum thresholds were selected following the method described in Appendix B. The Q-factor of the received signal before the optical splitting is used for comparison.

Due to the larger overlap of two PDFs in low Q-factor values, the calculated Q-factor of the captured sequence is considered to be a weak estimation. Hence, the pre-FEC BER is calculated first and the Q-factor corresponding to the uncoded BER is used as the received Q-factor, rather than calculating the Q-factor from the PDFs directly.

The experimental results are shown in Fig. 3.8. The results are in good agreement with the simulation results for both the electrical and hybrid fan-out configurations, and therefore validate the proposed methodology. The 2-bit electrical fan-out soft-decision decoding has a net coding gain (NGC) of 4.13 dB and 0.915 dB over the uncoded and hard-decision decoding, respectively, for the post-FEC bit error rate (BER) of 10^{-6} using LDPC (672, 588) code. In addition, compared with the 2-bit electrical fan-out configuration, the 2-bit hybrid fan-out configuration degrades the decoding performance by 2.2 dB for the 81/19 coupler. The performance is worse for the 53/47 coupler.

The agreement between the experimental result and the simulation results validate the noise modeling of the multi-branch front end used in the proposed methodology and the



occurrence of the inconsistent thermometer codes in unamplified optical link.

Fig. 3.8 Decoding performance of the 2-bit electrical and hybrid fan-out soft-decision receivers using LDPC (672, 588).

3.4 Summary

In this chapter, the error performance of various fan-out configurations of an optical front end for soft-decision decoder was thoroughly investigated using a novel methodology. The effect of the uncorrelated noise of the receivers in the hybrid and optical fan-out was further analyzed and a new concept of inconsistent thermometer codes and its beneficial effect on the decoding performance was presented. Based on the simulation results for the unamplified optical links, the optical coupler ratio degrades the overall decoding performance compared to conventional hard-decision receiver. Thus, the hybrid fan-out and optical fan-out configurations are not appropriate for unamplified links where the noise is dominant in the receiver.

In comparison with existing electrical fan-out soft-decision front ends [28], the hybrid fan-out configuration provides a number of advantages in terms of linearity, bandwidth, and power consumption for optically amplified applications, where the channel noise is the dominant noise source [27]. The proposed methodology was experimentally validated and simulation results of the proposed methodology are in good agreement with the experimental results.

Chapter 4

Responsivity Optimization of Germanium Photodetectors

In a silicon photonics (SiP) platform, the waveguide germanium photodetector (Ge-PD) has been the subject of important research in the last decade [51–59]. In short-reach applications, the receiver noise is the dominant noise source. In this context, a detector with larger responsivity improves the receiver sensitivity and further reduces the required electrical gain of the downstream circuits. Consequently, more power-efficient optical interconnections are achieved. This chapter investigates the effect of a Ge-PD's design geometry and the size and location of the top metal contact on the PD's performance. Also, it details a novel methodology for optimizing the responsivity of a high-speed photodetector (PD). The work presented in this chapter has been published as a journal paper in Optics Express [30].

4.1 Vertical Waveguide Germanium Photodetector

This section demonstrates the numerical simulation results obtained using technology computer-aided design (TCAD) tools investigating the impact of top metal contact geometry and germanium-region dimension on the performance of an evanescently-coupled waveguide germanium-on-silicon PD with a vertical p-i-n diode. Figure 4.1 illustrates the side-view (left figures) and top-view (right figures) of the two approaches to the design of PDs discussed in this chapter. Figures 4.1(a) and 4.1(b) show respectively the side-view and top-view of a Ge-PD with a single centered electrode on top of the n-doped germanium area (dark green). Figures 4.1(c) and 4.1(d) show respectively the side-view and top-view of a Ge-PD with two electrodes on top of the n-doped germanium area. The length (L_{Ge}) and width (W_{Ge}) of the germanium area, the length ($L_{n-doped}$) and width ($W_{n-doped}$) of the n-doped germanium, and the length (L_{seg}) and width (W_{seg}) of the metal contacts are indicated in the figures. The two other contacts on top of the p++ doped silicon area (dark red) represent the anode connection and have only a trivial degradation effect on the bandwidth of the PD. The highly doped silicon (Si-p++) and germanium (Ge-n++) layers form low resistance contacts with the metal layer.



Fig. 4.1 (a) Side-view and (b) top-view of a Ge-PD with a single electrode on top of the n-doped germanium (Ge-n++ in dark green); (c) side-view and (d) top view of a Ge-PD with two electrodes on top of the n-doped germanium.

4.1.1 Impact of Top Metal Contact

Commercial software (Lumerical FDTD and Device [94]) is used to study the degrading effect of the top metal contact on the responsivity of the germanium-on-silicon PD. The three-dimensional (3D) FDTD simulation software is used to calculate the electric field of the light evanescently coupling from the silicon to the germanium, as well as the absorbed optical power per unit volume [48]. Figure 4.2 shows the simulated results for the electric field propagation in a PD with a Ge area of 8 μ m×25 μ m (indicated by the white box). Figures 4.2(a), 4.2(c), and 4.2(e) show the top view of the electric field, 10 nm below the top interface of the Ge area for a PD without the top metal contact, with a 1 μ m wide centered metal contact, and with two off-centered 1 μ m wide metal contacts, respectively. Figures 4.2(b), 4.2(d), and 4.2(f) show the corresponding side-views. Note that the large size of the Ge leads to a multimode detector. Figure 4.2(a) shows that the electric field is stronger in the center of Ge area. A centered top metal contact leads to more optical power loss due to metal absorption. Thus, Figs. 4.2(e) and 4.2(f) using two off-centered contacts located where the electric field is weaker would lead to less optical power loss. Increasing the gap between the two metal contacts further decreases optical power loss with better responsivity. The required minimum feature size of a contact via and the minimum distance between two contacts in the fabrication process which is used in this work challenges the use of multi-finger off-centered top contacts (Fig 2.7(c)) compared to two off-centered top contacts (Fig 4.1(d)).

For the simulation, an absorption coefficient of 1800 cm⁻¹ at a wavelength of 1550 nm is used for the thin film Ge at room temperature [95]. The results show that a top centered aluminum (Al) contact with a width of 3.6 μ m reduces the responsivity by 19% due to metal absorption compared to the simulation result not considering the effect of metal loss. With two off-centered smaller size contacts with a gap distance of 2 μ m, the responsivity



Fig. 4.2 The simulated electric field in a Ge-PD with a length of 25 μ m, a width of 8 μ m, and a thickness of 500 nm (linear scale). The Ge area is indicated by the white contour box. Left-side figures show the top view near the top interface of Ge (a) without top contact; (c) with one centered contact; (e) with two off-centered contacts. Right-side figures show the side view at the middle width of the Ge area for a PD (b) without top contact; (d) with one centered contact; (f) with two off-centered contacts.

degradation is only around 1%.

4.1.2 Impact of PD Dimension

To study the impact of a PD's dimensions, responsivity, dark current, and bandwidth are simulated for various widths and lengths of the Ge area. Figures 4.3(a) and 4.3(b) show the responsivity for various widths and lengths of the Ge area, respectively. In these simulations, the width of the n-doped Ge is half of the Ge width (W_{Ge}), and its length is the same as the length of the Ge area. The metal loss is ignored to reduce the simulation time. The simulations confirm that the responsivity depends more on the length of the PD than the width.



Fig. 4.3 Responsivity variation of the PD with various sizes of the Ge area. (a) For a PD with a constant length of 10 μ m and various widths. (b) For a PD with a constant width of 8 μ m and various lengths.

Figures 4.4(a) and 4.4(b) show the dark current for various widths and lengths of the doped Ge area, respectively, at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. As it is expected, the dark current increases linearly with Ge area [50]. Figures 4.4(c) and 4.4(d) show the RF bandwidth for various widths and lengths of the Ge area, respectively, at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. TCAD software models the impact of carrier transit time as well as the RC time constants in the bandwidth calculation. Although the junction capacitor of the p-i-n PD decreases with reduced size, the smaller width of the n doped Ge area leads to larger series resistance reducing the bandwidth of the PD. This can be observed in Fig. 4.4(c) for width less than 8 μ m where the bandwidth does not improve. For width larger than 8 μ m, the increased junction capacitor degrades the bandwidth of the PD. The tradeoffs lead to an optimum bandwidth for a width of 8 μ m. A length increase of the PD increases the junction capacitor reducing the PD's bandwidth. In this type of photodetector, the Ge thickness is 500 nm. Therefore, the Ge intrinsic thickness (t) is smaller than the 500 nm due to the n++ doped Ge profile. Considering the carrier velocity-saturation (ν_s) in Ge of 0.6×10^7 cm/s, the calculated transit time bandwidth from $f_{tr} = 0.38 \times \nu_s/t$ is approximately 60 GHz [48]. Since the simulated bandwidth is area dependent, the photodetector bandwidth is mainly RC-limited.



Fig. 4.4 Dark current and bandwidth of the PD for various size of the Ge area. (a) Dark current of a PD with a constant length of 10 μ m for various widths. (b) Dark current of a PD with a constant width of 8 μ m for various lengths. (c) Bandwidth of a PD with a constant length of 10 μ m for various widths, and (d) bandwidth of a PD with a constant width of 8 μ m for various lengths.

4.2 Optimization Methodology

In this section, the innovative methodology details the optimization process for the PD's responsivity based on the bandwidth requirement of a target application. It also discusses the design of an appropriate peaking inductor based on the small-signal model of a PD. The required bandwidth for a given data rate generally specifies the photodetector dimensions. Therefore in a photodetector with RC-limited bandwidth, the PD will usually be small at the expense of reduced responsivity. In the proposed methodology presented in Fig. 4.5, the photodetector is first designed for high responsivity and then an integrated peaking inductor enhances the bandwidth to reach the required bandwidth. The peaking inductor is designed for minimum settling time to provide maximum eye opening.



Fig. 4.5 Flowchart of the optimization methodology with target bandwidth BW_T , calculated bandwidth BW_L , and bandwidth peaking factor α .

As an initial step, the peaking inductor is assumed to enhance the bandwidth by α =1.5 times. The accuracy of the enhancement factor value α is based on the electrical model of the PD and the peaking inductor. The reduction in bandwidth (α^{-1}) provides design margin towards larger responsivity. The responsivity can be maximized through appropriate dimensions of the PD, and size and location of the metal contact. For PDs longer than 20 μ m, the responsivity improvement becomes negligible while the linear increase in dark current degrades the sensitivity from increased shot noise. In such cases, instead of increasing the length of the PD, the optimization uses the peaking inductor to lower the required reverse-bias voltage thereby reducing the dark current. A photodetector with a Ge area of 8×8 μ m² is selected as a reference PD with a bandwidth of 45 GHz for a 50 Gb/s application. As α =1.5, the bandwidth of the optimized PD without a peaking inductor is 1.5 times smaller than the reference PD. Consequently, the length of the optimized PD can be increased to 20 μ m leading to better responsivity with a reduced bandwidth of 30.1 GHz (67% of 45.2 GHz). A more accurate optimized-length is calculated at a later stage based on the electrical model of the PD and the optimized peaking inductor.

4.2.1 Peaking Inductor Design

The design methodology for the integrated peaking inductor is now detailed. The green box in Fig. 4.6(a) shows the equivalent small-signal circuit of a photodetector. The current source I_{PD} models the photocurrent, and C_{jPD} is the PD junction capacitor. The PD resistance, R_{PD} , is the series combination of the contact resistances and the resistance of the n-doped Ge and the p-doped silicon of the p-i-n photodetector. The red box in Fig. 4.6(a) is the lumped model of a non-ideal integrated inductor [57]. L_{peak} models the peaking inductor in series with the small resistance of the spiral-shaped inductor $(R_{par-ind})$ and in parallel with the parasitic capacitance of the inductor $C_{par-ind}$. R_L in Fig. 4.6(a) is the load resistance seen by the PD such as the input resistance of the transimpedance amplifier (TIA) or the 50 Ω terminated test and measurement equipment. C_L is the combination of the parasitic capacitance of the pads and the parasitic capacitance of the circuit loading the PD. Designing a peaking inductor to minimize the rise and settling times requires determination of the small-signal circuit parameters. Cadence software is used to simulate the frequency and transient responses. The PD resistance (R_{PD}) is estimated based on the sheet resistance of the doped Si and doped Ge, and the contact resistance reported by the foundry. The effective dimension of the doped semiconductor is calculated based on the path that the generated photocurrent follows to reach the anode and cathode pads. The PD's capacitance is estimated from a reported measured capacitor per unit area $(fF/\mu m^2)$ of a fabricated PD in the similar fabrication process presented in [58]. ANSYS HFSS software calculates the parameters of the inductor and the parasitic capacitor of the pads. Table 4.1 summarizes the simulation parameters. Figure 4.6(b) shows the frequency response of the reference $8 \times 8 \ \mu m^2$ PD (red line), as well as a long $8 \times 20 \ \mu m^2$ PD without peaking inductor (dashed blue line), with an optimized peaking inductor (360 pH, blue line), and with a peaking inductor larger than the optimum value (540 pH, green dashed



line). The optimized peaking inductor enhances the bandwidth by 1.503 times.

Fig. 4.6 (a) Equivalent small-signal circuit of PD with peaking inductor. (b) The simulated frequency response of an $8 \times 8 \ \mu m^2$ reference PD and a $8 \times 20 \ \mu m^2$ PD with and without peaking inductor.

Table 4.1 The parameters for the equivalent small-signal circuit of the reference PD and the longer PD with optimum peaking inductor and the longer PD with peaking inductor larger than optimum.

	R_{PD}	C_{jPD}	L_{peak}	$C_{par-ind}$	$R_{par-ind}$	C_{load}	R_{load}
	Ω	fF	pH	fF	Ω	fF	Ω
Reference PD	215	12.2				15.2	50
Long optimized PD	87	35.2	360/540	2/4	4/5	15.2	50

Figures 4.7(a) and 4.7(b) compare the simulated 50 Gb/s eye diagram of the reference PD (in red) to a long PD with optimum peaking inductor (in blue), and to a long PD with peaking inductor larger than the optimum value (in green), respectively. Interestingly, for a similar bandwidth of 45 GHz, the optimized PD with optimum peaking inductor (in blue) has slightly wider eye opening compared to the reference PD eye due to reduced inter-symbol interference (ISI). Although the optimum peaking inductor for the design is 360 pH, the fabricated inductor is 540 pH following an overestimation of the PD's junction capacitor reported in reference [96]. Using a peaking inductor larger than the optimum

value generates peaking in the frequency response and reduces the optimum bandwidth. It also generates larger overshoot and undershoot in the transient response. However, the eye diagram has an eye-opening similar to that of the reference eye diagram. It worth mentioning that the long PD has a larger responsivity than the reference design. Therefore, with equal optical input, the peak-to-peak of the electrical eye of the long PD (in green) will be bigger than the eye of the reference PD (in red).



Fig. 4.7 Simulated 50 Gb/s eye diagram of the $8 \times 8 \ \mu m^2$ reference PD in comparison with the $8 \times 20 \ \mu m^2$ PD (a) with the optimum peaking inductor (350 pH), and (b) with peaking inductor larger than the optimum value (540 pH).

4.3 Fabrication and Experimental Results

This section presents the fabrication process used for the PDs. The experimental results of the reference PD and the optimized PD are compared to validate the proposed optimization methodology.

4.3.1 Fabrication Process

The photodetectors are fabricated through a process detailed in Fig. 4.8(b). To build a photodetector, a 500 nm thick Ge was deposited through a selective epitaxial growth [46, 47]. Figure 4.8(a) shows the top view of the optimized PD with an integrated peaking inductor. The process provides two metal layers with a thickness of $t_1=0.75 \ \mu m$ and $t_2=2 \ \mu m$ separated by 1.5 μm of silicon dioxide (SiO₂) giving the opportunity to design an integrated inductor. The left half of Table 4.2 summarizes the design parameters of the fabricated PDs. PD-A is the reference PD with a centered top contact, and PD-D is the optimized PD with two off-centered top contacts and an integrated peaking inductor. Two additional PDs are designed to separate the effect of using two off-centered contacts from the effect of increased size PD with peaking inductor: 1) PD-B has the same size as the reference PD but with two off-centered contacts, 2) PD-C has the same size as the optimized PD (PD-D) but with a centered contact. Further, it has a peaking inductor to enhance its bandwidth.



Fig. 4.8 (a) Fabricated photodetector with an integrated peaking spiral inductor; (b) fabrication process layers.

4.3.2 DC and Small-Signal Measurement Results

This subsection presents the measured dark current and responsivity of the PDs along with the small-signal measurement to determine the PD's bandwidth. Using two connected grating couplers (GCs) in proximity to each input GC of the photodetector, the GC loss is measured to calculate responsivity. The dark current of the PDs for various reverse-bias voltages is first measured with a precise ammeter (Keithley, sensitivity: 0.1 pA). Then, the responsivity is calculated from the measured photocurrent for an injected continuous wave (CW) at 1550 nm. The optical-electrical (OE) bandwidths of PDs are calculated from S-parameter (S_{21}) measured by a 50 GHz lightwave component analyzer (LCA) (Agilent N4373C). The right half of Table 4.2 summarizes the experimental results of the fabricated PDs. Additional experimental results of various modified PDs are shown in section 4.4 which show the performance impact of different design modifications.

			$W_{n-doped}$ Contact parameters		Dark current			Bandwidth	
PD	$W_{Ge} \times L_{Ge}$	$W_{n-doped}$			(μA)		Responsivity	(GHz)	
		$\times L_{n-doped}$	Num(Gap)	$W_{seg} \times L_{seg}$	2V	417	responsivity	2V	412
	(μm^2)	(μm^2)	(μm)	(μm^2)	21	47	(A/W)	2 V	41
A	8×8	4×5.6	1	3.6×5.2	1.05	10	0.66	35	42
B	8×8	4×5.6	2(1.6)	1×5.2	0.49	4.9	0.9	34.6	41.4
C*	8×20	4×17.6	1	3.6×17.2	5.5	54	0.86	42.6	45.2
D*	8×20	4×17.6	2(1.6)	1×17.2	3.5	35.8	1.09	42.5	45

Table 4.2Summary of the photodetector's dimensions and their measurementresults.

Num: number of contact on top of the germanium. * photodetector has an integrated peaking inductor.

Note that for a similar bandwidth of 42 GHz, the reference photodetector (PD-A) requires 4 V reverse-bias voltage while the optimized PD with an integrated peaking inductor (PD-D) needs a lower reverse-biasing voltage of 2 V. The PD-D provides 65% larger responsivity at lower biasing voltage leading to smaller dark current compared to the reference PD (PD-A). Using one of the optimization methods, the responsivity improves by 36% and 30% in PD-B (same size as the reference PD but with two off-centered contacts) and in PD-C (same size as the optimized PD with peaking inductor but with a centered contact), respectively. Figure 4.9(a) shows the OE frequency response (S₂₁) of

the reference PD (PD-A) at 4 V reverse-bias voltage and the optimized PD (PD-D) at 2 V reverse-bias voltage, with their respective small-signal model simulation for parameters reported in Table 4.1. The measured S_{21} curves are normalized to the S_{21} value at 10 MHz. Figure 4.9(b) shows the corresponding reflection frequency response (S₂₂). Although the simulation results for S_{22} are in good agreement with the measurement results, the simulation results for S_{21} show differences. The measured S_{21} of the reference PD exhibits small peaking (<0.21 dB) below 1 GHz. The frequency response linearly decreases afterward (zoomed-in view in Fig. 4.9(a)). While the small-signal model (Fig. 4.6(a)) does not model this low-frequency roll-off behavior, it predicts the highfrequency behavior with the simulated 3-dB bandwidth of 45 GHz which is close to the measured value of 42 GHz for the reference PD. In Fig. 4.9(a) for frequencies larger than 10 GHz, the S_{21} simulated results of the reference PD have the same declining slope compared to the measurement results. On the other hand, by subtracting a DC offset (black arrow in zoomed-in view in Fig. 4.9(a) from the simulated S_{21} , the effect of the low-frequency roll-off is removed, and the simulation agrees with the measurements for frequencies larger than 10 GHz. The low-frequency roll-off also affects the measured S_{21} of the optimized PD with its peaking inductor (PD-D). However, the simulated S_{21} is in good agreement with the measurement result at high frequencies. Disagreement between simulation and measurements also relates to the inaccurately estimated parameters. The doping of the Ge and Si areas are assumed to be constant with uniform doping depth independent to the PDs' dimensions. In fact, the fabrication process exhibits non-uniform doping density which impacts both parasitic resistance and capacitance. Further, the variation of the Ge thickness changes the parasitic capacitance. Finally, the larger difference for the PD with peaking inductor suggests that the inductor model needs to account for the parasitic

capacitance between the integrated spiral inductor and the substrate [97].



Fig. 4.9 (a) Measured S_{21} OE frequency response of the optimized PD (PD-D) with a reverse-bias voltage of 2 V and reference PD (PD-A) at 4 V reverse-bias voltage with their respective small-signal simulations; (b) measured S_{22} (reflection) of both PDs with their respective small-signal simulations.

4.3.3 Large-Signal Measurement Results

This subsection presents the BER measurements of the fabricated PDs and compares the measured BER and eye diagram of the optimized PD with the reference PD. Figure 4.10 illustrates the test bed for these measurements. The bit pattern generator (BPG) generates PRBS-31 data, and the error analyzer (EA) measures the error rate of the signal detected by the PD. The continuous wave (CW) generated by a DFB laser from EMCORE with 16 dBm optical power at 1550 nm is injected through a polarization controller (PC) with 0.5 dB insertion loss. A 40 Gb/s Mach-Zehnder modulator (MZM) with insertion loss of 8 dB at 1550 nm is driven by the baseband signal from the output of the BPG. The modulated optical carrier is injected into a variable optical attenuator (VOA) with an insertion loss of 2 dB. The VOA is used to reduce the received signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in the BER measurement. Since the input grating coupler (GC) is polarization sensitive,
the modulated data is then injected to another PC. The optical power at the input GC of the device (point E in Figure 4.10) is 5 dBm. The modulated optical signal is launched to the GC, and the PD converts it to a photocurrent. The 50 Ω terminated measurement devices (EA or Sampling Scope) convert the photocurrent into voltage. The photodetector is biased through a 65 GHz bias tee. Although the bandwidth of the measured PDs is large enough to support 50 Gb/s data, the BER comparison is presented at 30 Gb/s. Beyond that data rate, the test bed exhibits a noise floor. A fair comparison to validate the proposed methodology is required where the difference in performance is not due to the test bed link budget.



Fig. 4.10 Test bed for the eye diagram and BER measurement.

The measured BER at 30 Gb/s for the reference photodetector (PD-A) is shown in Fig. 4.11 along with BER for the same size PD with two off-centered contacts (PD-B), and 20 μ m length PD with a centered contact and peaking inductor (PD-C). Those three PDs are compared to separate the effect of using two off-centered contacts from the effect of increased size PD with peaking inductor. The bias condition for each PD is selected to match the PDs bandwidth (4 V for PD-A (42 GHz bandwidth) and PD-B (41.4 GHz bandwidth), and 2 V for PD-C (42.6 GHz bandwidth)). By extrapolation to a BER of 10^{-12} , the sensitivity of the long PD with a centered contact and peaking inductor (PD-C) is 1.9 dB better than the reference PD while using two off-centered contacts exhibit similar improvement. Figure 4.11 also shows the measured BER for the optimized photodetector (PD-D) for various bias conditions. For matched bandwidth (2 V for optimized PD with a bandwidth of 42.5 GHz), the sensitivity of the optimized photodetector (PD-D) is 3.2 dB better than the reference photodetector (PD-A) at the extrapolated BER of 10^{-12} . Increasing the reverse-bias voltage of the optimized PD to 4 V increases its bandwidth from 42.5 GHz to 45 GHz which in turn improves the sensitivity by 0.6 dB.



Fig. 4.11 (a) BER performance at 30 Gb/s for the reference PD (PD-A), the same size PD as the reference PD with two off-centered top contacts (PD-B), and 20 μ m length PD with a centered top contact and peaking inductor (PD-C); (b) BER performance at 30 Gb/s for optimized PD (PD-D).

Figure 4.12 shows the output electrical eye diagrams of the reference PD (PD-A) with a bandwidth of 42 GHz at 4 V reverse-bias and the optimized PD (PD-D) with a bandwidth of 42.5 GHz at 2 V reverse-bias at various data rates. The optimized PD has larger eye opening amplitudes due to 65% larger responsivity. As expected from simulation results, the eye diagram of the optimized PD has less ISI than the reference PD.



Fig. 4.12 (top) Output electrical eye diagrams of the reference PD (PD-A) at various data rates; (bottom) output electrical eye diagram of optimized PD (PD-D) at corresponding data rates.

4.4 Measurement Results of Other Photodetectors

This section presents the measurement results of several photodetectors with various design parameters to study the performance impact of different design modifications. Table 4.3 summarizes the design properties of the fabricated devices and their measurement results.

Figure 4.13(a) shows the responsivity for various lengths of the photodetector with one centered contact and two off-centered contacts. The measurements are compared to simulation results (Fig. 4.3). The responsivity of PDs with one centered electrode is consistently lower than 0.9 A/W due to the metal absorption of the contact on top of the Ge area (green line). Using two off-centered top contacts with 1.6 μ m distance between them, the responsivity improves by ~0.24 A/W (red line) for the same length of PD. The simulated responsivity without the effect of metal loss (blue line) is larger because the distance between the two contacts in two off-centered top contacts is 1.6 μ m, and a small effect of the metal loss remains. For the PD with a length of 8 μ m, increasing the gap distance to 2 μ m in device no. 3 and 2.7 μ m in a device no. 4 lead to a responsivity increase

	$W_{Ge} \times L_{Ge}$	$W_{n-doped}$	Contact parameters		Dark current		Bandwidth at 2V (GHz)	
No.		$\times L_{n-doped}$	Num(Gap)	$W_{seg} \times L_{seg}$	at 2V	Responsivity		With
	(μm^2)	(μm^2)	(μm)	(μm^2)	(μA)	(A/W)		L
1	8×8	4×5.6	1	3.6×5.2	1.05	0.66	35	
2	8×8	4×5.6	2(1.6)	1×5.2	0.49	0.9	34.6	> 50
3	8×8	5.4×5.6	2(2)	1.5×5.2	1.26	0.93	27.9	50
4	8.5×8	6.1×5.6	2(2.7)	1.5×5.2	2.08	0.98	34.7	46.9
5	8×10	5.4×7.6	2(2)	1.5×7.2	1.32	0.94	27.8	44.9
6	8×15	4×12.6	1	3.6×12.2	4.35	0.77	34.4	49.5
7	8×15	4×12.6	2(1.6)	1×12.2	2.36	1.03	32	
8	8×20	4×17.6	1	3.6×17.2	5.5	0.86	32.2	42.6
9	8×20	4×17.6	2(1.6)	1×17.2	3.5	1.09	21.8	42.5
10	8×25	4×22.6	1	3.6×22.2	9.3	0.88		39.3

Table 4.3Summary of device dimensions of fabricated PDs and their measurement results.

Num: number of contact on top of the germanium.

With L: measured bandwidth of the photodetector with integrated peaking inductor (L).

to 0.93 and 0.98 A/W, respectively, due to lower metal loss. Those results are in line with the simulation results of 1.01 A/W. Figure 4.13(b) shows the dark for various lengths of the photodetector with one centered contact and two off-centered contacts. The measurements are compared to simulation results (Fig. 4.4). The linear increase of the measured dark current (green line) with the length of the photodetector shows the dominance of the bulk current. The reasons for the differences between simulated dark current and measurement results are the following: 1) due to a limitation in the simulation, the Ge-Si, and Ge-metal interface models are not included in this simulation, 2) the electrical properties of the thin film Ge model are not accurate, and 3) the exact doping density levels of n-doped Ge remains unknown.

The OE frequency response (S_{21}) of various fabricated PDs is shown in Fig. 4.14. Each curve is normalized to its S_{21} value at 10 MHz frequency. The measured S_{21} of all



Fig. 4.13 (a) Measured and simulated responsivity; (b) measured and simulated dark current for various PD lengths with one centered top contact and with two off-centered top contacts. Results are compared to simulation results from Figs. 4.3 and 4.4.

PDs shows the low-frequency roll-off. All photodetectors with a peaking inductor have a bandwidth larger than 39 GHz at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. The largest bandwidth reached for photodetectors without a peaking inductor is 35 GHz (no. 1).

The BER performance of various other fabricated devices is shown in Fig. 4.15. All devices with larger responsivity compared to the reference PD (no. 1) have better sensitivity. For instance, PD no. 6 with a longer Ge (15 μ m) has slightly lower bandwidth than the reference PD (no. 1) but exhibits an improved sensitivity by 0.7 dB at an extrapolated BER of 10⁻¹². Interestingly for PD no. 7 (Ge length of 15 μ m with two top off-centered contacts) with lower bandwidth, the sensitivity improves by 2.8 dB at BER of 10⁻¹² from the 56% increase in responsivity from the two off-centered contacts optimization and a longer Ge area.



Fig. 4.14 Normalized OE frequency response (S_{21}) response of various PDs at 2 V.



Fig. 4.15 Measured BER at 30 Gb/s of various devices at 4 V reverse-bias voltage.

4.5 Summary

This chapter presented an investigation into the impact of various design parameters of a germanium-on-silicon photodetector along with an optimization of the metal contact on the PD's performance. Using this investigation, it proposed a methodology to maximize

the responsivity of a PD based on the bandwidth requirement of a given application. In the proposed optimization process, increasing the PD's design geometry and using two off-centered small size contacts on top of the germanium enhances the responsivity of the PD. An integrated peaking inductor was designed to mitigate the bandwidth reduction trade-off of the responsivity optimization. To validate the optimization process, a reference design from a silicon photonic foundry process design kit (PDK) was selected. The small size photodetector with an $8 \times 8 \ \mu m^2$ germanium area was used as a reference. The optimized PD design with an integrated peaking inductor has an $8 \times 20 \ \mu m^2$ germanium area and two off-centered electrodes on top of the germanium. The optimized design provides a responsivity of 1.09 A/W at 1550 nm, a dark current of 3.5 μ A and a bandwidth of 42.5 GHz at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. To the best of our knowledge, in this fabrication process, this is the largest responsivity reported for a Ge-PD with a bandwidth larger than 40 GHz. The reference PD has a similar bandwidth of 42 GHz at 4 V reverse-bias voltage with a responsivity of 0.66 A/W and an increased dark current of 10 μ A at this bias voltage. The sensitivity of the optimized PD exhibits a 3.2 dB improvement compared to the small size PD for a bit error rate (BER) of 10^{-12} at 30 Gb/s data rate.

Chapter 5

Grating-Assisted All-Silicon Photodetectors

This chapter demonstrates the design, fabrication, and experimental results of four novel grating-assisted silicon photodetectors (Si-PD) for 850 nm wavelength applications fabricated in an SOI technology. The proposed Si-PDs use grating couplers to direct the incident light horizontally to the intrinsic area of the p-i-n diode for an efficient absorption. The work presented in this chapter has been presented in IEEE Photonics Conference 2016 (post-deadline paper) [31] and published as a journal paper in Optics Express [32].

5.1 Proposed SOI-Based Si-Photodetectors

5.1.1 Baseline Grating-Assisted Si-PD

An illustration of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PD is shown in Fig. 5.1. It consists of a lateral p-i-n structure similar to [68]. However, rather than directing light through the depletion region in the z-direction as in [68], to increase the absorption of light in the depletion region, a grating coupler directs light in the y-direction along the intrinsic region. Since the silicon waveguide is highly absorptive at 850 nm, the grating coupler must be adjacent to or possibly overlapping the p-i-n diode. Figure 5.1(a) shows the 3-dimensional (3D) structure of the proposed baseline grating-assisted Si-PD (Si-PD no. 1). The top view and side view of the PD are shown in Fig. 5.1(b) and 5.1(c), respectively.



Fig. 5.1 Schematic of the baseline design of the SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PD (Si-PD no. 1) (a) 3D view; (b) top view; (c) side view.

The grating coupler is designed for 850 nm wavelength based on the analytic calculation of the Bragg condition [48]. It is further optimized through 2D and 3D FDTD simulations using commercially available technology computer-aided design (TCAD) tools from Lumerical [94]. The dimensions of the grating coupler are shown in Fig. 5.1(c). Figure 5.2(b) shows the side view of the electric field coupled to the silicon waveguide when the grating coupler is illuminated at 850 nm wavelength at an angle of 24 degrees from normal as shown in Fig. 5.2(a). In this simulation, the silicon is considered lossless for calculating the grating coupler efficiency. The software simulates the forward transmission, back transmission, top reflection, and pass through transmission as shown in Fig. 5.2(c). As the simulated forward transmission shows, the grating coupler larger than the fiber mode field diameter ($\sim 5 \mu m$ for a single-mode 850 nm fiber) has a coupling efficiency of 62% at 850 nm wavelength. The maximum responsivity (R) at 850 nm would therefore be 0.425 A/W [48]. Using a grating coupler smaller than the fiber mode diameter degrades the coupling efficiency. Further, due to the silicon loss at this wavelength, part of the light will be absorbed before reaching the p-i-n region, reducing the responsivity. Considering an absorption coefficient of 1000 cm^{-1} at 850 nm for thin-film silicon [98], a 220 nm silicon layer without a grating coupler absorbs only 2% of vertically illuminated light leading to a maximum responsivity of 0.013 A/W.



Fig. 5.2 (a) Direction of the incoming and coupled light; (b) side view of the electric field coupled to the silicon waveguide for 24 degrees angled light at a wavelength of 850 nm; (b) simulated transmission for the forward transmission, back transmission, pass-through, and top reflection.

The width of the intrinsic region and the size, location, and doping density of the pdoped and n-doped area determine the speed of the SOI grating-assisted Si-PD. Three doping levels are available for the p-doped and n-doped silicon in the fabrication process in which the proposed Si-PDs are fabricated. Doping densities were found using Sentaurus device simulation software for the specific doping dose and doping energy for each doping layer. The average doping densities for the p++, p+, p, n++, n+ and n layers were found to be 1.2×10^{20} cm⁻³, 1.8×10^{18} cm⁻³, 4×10^{17} cm⁻³, 3.3×10^{20} cm⁻³, 3×10^{18} cm⁻³, and 3.2×10^{17} cm⁻³, respectively. In the Si-PD no. 1 shown in Fig. 5.1, the doping levels of p++, p+, n+ and n++ were used. The length of the p-i-n diode is 60 μ m, and the intrinsic width is 5 μ m to maximize the responsivity. The parasitic capacitance (C_{PD}) and resistance (R_{PD}) of the Si-PD are estimated to be 0.27 *f*F and 39 Ω , respectively. Considering the carrier velocity saturation in silicon to be 10⁷ cm/s, the time constant related to the carrier transit time for the intrinsic width of 5 μ m would be approximately 50 ps while the RC time constant is approximately 0.01 ps. Therefore, the speed of the photodetector is mainly limited by the carrier transit time.

5.1.2 Design Variations for High-Speed Applications

This subsection describes three design variants of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PD in an SOI technology. Shrinking the width of the intrinsic region in the p-i-n diode reduces the carrier transit time. As a result, the speed of the PD improves as long as the bandwidth is limited only by the carrier transit time. Two approaches are considered to shrink the intrinsic region. In the first approach, the grating coupler from the baseline Si-PD is overlapped with a p-i-n diode with its intrinsic width smaller than the incident mode diameter of the input fiber. Therefore, part of the coupled light would be absorbed outside the intrinsic region which may generate diffusion current and degrade the speed of the Si-PD. Further, in this approach, a grating coupler area smaller than the incident mode size is used which degrades the photodetector responsivity due to reduced coupling efficiency. In the second approach, the fiber mode is transferred into a small waveguide mode through a gradually tapered waveguide. The straight GC used in the Si-PD no. 1 requires a tapered waveguide longer than 100 μ m to transfer the mode with low reflection [48]. Consequently, the coupled mode would be absorbed before reaching the p-i-n diode intrinsic region. To reduce the length of the tapered waveguide, a focusing grating coupler (FGC) is designed for 850 nm wavelength.

Figure 5.3(a) shows the top view of Si-PD no. 2 that uses the first approach of shrinking the intrinsic width. It has a similar design as Si-PD no. 1 shown in Fig. 5.1 but with an intrinsic width of 2 μ m and p+ and n+ doping widths of 0.5 μ m. In comparison with Si-PD no. 1, the 2.5 times smaller intrinsic width in Si-PD no. 2 leads to a larger parasitic capacitance of 0.69 fF for the p-i-n diode length of 60 μ m. However, the carrier transit time is 2.5 times smaller than Si-PD no. 1. The parasitic resistance is estimated to be 32Ω . The proposed grating-assisted Si-PD no. 3 also uses the first approach for reducing the intrinsic width to 1 μ m as shown in Fig. 5.3(b). Three small PDs are combined to improve the responsivity and only the p++ and n++ doping layers are used. The parasitic capacitance and resistance of this Si-PD are estimated to be 4.1 fF and 9.5 Ω , respectively, for the p-i-n diode length of 60 μ m. Figure 5.3(c) shows the grating-assisted Si-PD no. 4 with an 850 nm focusing GC. The focusing GC couples the incident light into a 500 nm wide rib waveguide with 0.3 μ m intrinsic width. The narrow intrinsic width reduces the carrier transit time enabling high-speed performance. Further, the narrow width enables an avalanche behavior at a reverse-bias voltage lower than 20 V. The p+and n+ doping width is 0.9 μ m and the length of the p-i-n diode is 30 μ m. The responsivity of this photodetector at low reverse-bias voltage is lower than the other three proposed Si-PDs since only 17% of the coupled light reaches to the p-i-n diode. However, due to the avalanche behavior, the responsivity improves considerably at high reverse-bias voltage. The parasitic capacitance and resistance of this Si-PD are estimated to be 2.3 fF and 57 Ω , respectively. It is expected that this photodetector provides the largest bandwidth compared to the other three Si-PDs since the carrier transit time is approximately 3 ps. In addition to the four proposed Si-PDs, two extra Si-PDs similar to the grating-assisted Si-PDs no. 1 and no. 3 but without grating coupler are fabricated to study the coupling efficiency of the grating couplers.



Fig. 5.3 Three designs of SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PD with lower responsivity, but larger bandwidth (top figures are the layout and bottom figures are the micrographs of fabricated devices); (a) grating coupler overlapped with a p-i-n diode with an intrinsic width smaller than the incident mode size (Si-PD no. 2); (b) grating coupler with three-finger PD (Si-PD no. 3); and (c) focusing grating coupler (Si-PD no. 4).

5.2 Experimental Results

This section presents the measurement results of the SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PDs and compares them with previously published Si-PDs. The dark current of the grating-assisted Si-PDs for various reverse-bias voltages is first measured with a precise ammeter (Keithley, sensitivity: 0.1 pA). Then, the responsivity is calculated from the measured photocurrent for an injected continuous wave (CW) at 848.2 nm wavelength generated by a VCSEL source from Thorlabs. Figure 5.4(a) is the measured dark current, and the photocurrent for 0 dBm illuminated CW light for various reverse-bias voltages. The responsivity of the grating-assisted Si-PDs with respect to reverse-bias voltage is shown in Fig. 5.4(b). Figure 5.4(c) plots the variation in photocurrent with respect to the received optical power at 8 V reverse-bias voltage.

The Si-PD no. 1 (baseline Si-PD) has the largest responsivity of 0.24 A/W at 0 V reverse-bias voltage compared to the other three designs. A Si-PD with the same structure as the grating-assisted Si-PD no. 1, but without the grating coupler has a responsivity



Fig. 5.4 DC measurement results of the Si-PDs; (a) dark current and photocurrent for 0 dBm illuminated CW light; (b) responsivity of the Si-PDs; (c) measured photocurrent of the Si-PDs for various received optical power at 8 V reverse-bias voltage.

of 0.006 A/W at 0 V reverse-bias voltage. As such, the grating coupler improves the responsivity by 40 times. By increasing the reverse-bias voltage of Si-PD no. 1, the responsivity increases to 0.3 A/W for voltages larger than 6 V. The responsivity remains almost flat up to 18 V and gradually increases for larger voltages. The measured dark current is lower than 1 nA for a reverse-bias voltage lower than 20 V. At high reversebias voltages, the responsivity increases due to impact ionization. Si-PD no. 2 with a smaller intrinsic width $(2 \ \mu m)$ has a responsivity of 0.133 at 0 V reverse-bias voltage. The responsivity increases to 0.19 A/W at 20 V with a dark current lower than 2 nA at this bias voltage. Si-PD no. 3 with a 1 μ m intrinsic width and three diode fingers has a responsivity of 0.071 A/W at 0 V reverse-bias voltage. A Si-PD with the same structure as Si-PD no. 3 but without the grating coupler has a responsivity of 0.0043 A/W at 0 V. Here, the grating coupler increases the responsivity by more than 16.5 times. Overlapping the p-i-n diodes with a small intrinsic width reduces the light coupling improvement by 59% in comparison to Si-PD no.1 due to the discontinuity of the grating in the overlapped area and the interference of the metal via on the light coupling. The responsivity of Si-PD no. 3 increases to 0.324 A/W at 26 V reverse-bias voltage with a dark current lower than 0.3 μ A. Increasing the reverse-bias voltage improves the responsivity by more than 4.5 times. Si-PD no. 4 with a focusing GC and 0.3 μ m intrinsic width has the lowest responsivity of 0.05 A/W at 0 V reverse-bias voltage compared to the other three designs. However, the responsivity rapidly increases for a reverse-bias voltage larger than 10 V. Si-PD no. 4 has a responsivity of 0.3 A/W and dark current of 2 μ A at 14 V reverse-bias voltage. By increasing the reverse-bias voltage to larger than 14.4 V, the photocurrent saturates and the responsivity degrades due to the space-charge effect that reduces the electric field in the center of the intrinsic area [71].

Next, the optical-electrical (OE) bandwidths of the grating-assisted Si-PDs are calculated from the S-parameters (S_{21}) measured by a 50 GHz microwave network analyzer (Agilent PNA-X N5245A). The test bed for the S-parameter measurements is illustrated in Fig. 5.5(a). The CW light generated by a VCSEL source from Thorlabs at 848.2 nm is injected through a polarization controller (PC) into a 40 GHz Mach-Zehnder modulator (MZM). The microwave network analyzer drives the MZM to modulate the CW light. Since the input grating coupler is polarization sensitive, the modulated data is then injected to another PC. The grating-assisted Si-PD detects the modulated data, converting it to a photocurrent, which is then injected into the second port of the microwave network analyzer through a 65 GHz bias tee that also provides the bias voltage for the photodetector. By increasing the reverse-bias voltage, the bandwidth of the Si-PDs increases and then saturates at high voltages. The reverse-bias voltage of each Si-PD is selected to be in the range where the bandwidth improvement is negligible. Figure 5.5(b) plots the measured S_{21} of the designed grating-assisted Si-PDs. To compare the 3-dB bandwidth of the Si-PDs, each curve is normalized to its S_{21} value at 100 MHz frequency.

The Si-PD no. 1 shows the lowest bandwidth of 4.7 GHz at 20 V reverse-bias voltage in comparison with the other proposed Si-PDs. Although Si-PD no. 3 has a smaller intrinsic width than Si-PD no. 2, it has lower OE bandwidth due to a larger diffusion current.



Fig. 5.5 (a) S-parameter measurement setup; (b) measured S_{21} OE frequency response of the grating-assisted Si-PDs.

The focusing grating-assisted Si-PD no. 4 has the largest bandwidth (16.4 GHz at 14 V reverse-bias voltage).

Following the DC and frequency response measurements, the eye diagrams are captured. Further, the bit error rate (BER) of two of the proposed Si-PDs is measured. Then, the performance of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PDs is compared with the performance of published high-speed Si-PDs. The test bed for the eye diagram and BER measurements is illustrated in Fig. 5.6. The bit pattern generator (BPG) generates PRBS-31 data, and the error analyzer (EA) measures the error rate of the signal detected by the PD. The CW generated by the VCSEL source with 11.8 dBm optical power at 848.2 nm is injected through a PC with 0.5 dB insertion loss. A 40 GHz MZM with insertion loss of 6.5 dB at 850 nm is driven by the baseband signal from the output of the BPG. The modulated data is then injected to another PC. The optical power at the input GC of the device is 3.5 dBm. The modulated optical signal is launched to the Si-PD and converted to a photocurrent. The 50 Ω termination of test equipment converts the photocurrent into a voltage. The photodetector is biased through a 65 GHz bias tee while its current is simultaneously measured with the precise ammeter. Since the amplitude of the detected signal is smaller than the sensitivity of the EA, a 12 GHz low noise amplifier amplifies the detected signal for BER measurement. To change the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) for BER measurement, the position of the input fiber is shifted. Shifting the fiber from the optimum position reduces the received optical power and as a result, it degrades the SNR. The corresponding average optical power is calculated based on the monitored photocurrent.



Fig. 5.6 Test bed for the eye diagram and BER measurement.

The measured eye diagram for Si-PD no. 1 with an intrinsic width of 5 μ m at 20 V reverse-bias voltage for 8 Gb/s and 10 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK are shown in Fig. 5.7. Figure 5.8 plots the measured eye diagram for Si-PD no. 2 with an intrinsic width of 2 μ m at 12 V reverse-bias voltage for 25 Gb/s, 30 Gb/s and 35 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK data. The eye diagrams for multi-finger Si-PD no. 3 with an intrinsic width of 1 μ m at 20 V reverse-bias voltage for 25 Gb/s, 30 Gb/s and 35 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK data are shown in Fig. 5.9. Figure 5.10 illustrates the eye diagrams for Si-PD no. 4 with focusing grating coupler and an intrinsic width of 0.3 μ m and at 14 V reverse-bias voltage for 25 Gb/s, 30 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK data.

As it is expected from the frequency response measurement, Si-PD no. 1 can support a bit rate of 10 Gb/s. The other three Si-PDs show open eye diagrams at 35 Gb/s. The



Fig. 5.7 Electrical eye diagrams of Si-PD no. 1 with 5 μ m intrinsic width at reverse-bias voltage of 20 V.



Fig. 5.8 Electrical eye diagrams of Si-PD no. 2 with 2 μ m intrinsic width at reverse-bias voltage of 12 V.



Fig. 5.9 Electrical eye diagrams of the Si-PD no. 3 with 1 μ m intrinsic width and three-finger p-i-n diodes at 20 V reverse-bias voltage.



Fig. 5.10 Electrical eye diagrams of the Si-PD no. 4 with focusing grating coupler and an intrinsic width of 0.3 μ m at 14 V reverse-bias voltage.

measured SNR of the eye diagram of Si-PD no. 4 is better than Si-PDs no. 2 and no. 3 due to the larger responsivity and larger 3-dB bandwidth.

The bit error rate (BER) for Si-PD no. 2 and Si-PD no. 3 are measured at 10 Gb/s. The instability of the measurement setup for testing the Si-PD no. 1 and Si-PD no. 4 prevented us from measuring the BER of these two Si-PDs. The off-the-shelf 12 GHz amplifier for BER measurement degrades the SNR of the amplified signal due to the 3 dB noise figure of the amplifier. Further, due to the limited power budget and noise floor of the optical link, the BER measurement is limited to 10 Gb/s PRBS-31 OOK-NRZ data (Fig. 5.11). The Si-PD no. 2 has a slightly better sensitivity (0.4 dB) for BER at 10^{-12} in comparison with Si-PD no. 3. The improvement is 1.3 dB at BER of 10^{-9} .



Fig. 5.11 BER measurement results for Si-PD no. 2 and no. 3 for 10 Gb/s PRBS-31 OOK-NRZ data.

Table 1 summarizes the performance of the proposed SOI-based grating-assisted Si-PDs and compares them with previously published high-speed Si-PDs. For comparison, a figure of merit (FoM) is defined as FoM=R (mA/W)×BW (GHz), using two important photodetector parameters, responsivity (R) and bandwidth (BW). Based on the FoM values, the proposed grating-assisted Si-PDs provide excellent performance. The optimized design (Si-PD no. 4) has the FoM value of 4920 GHz×mA/W by at least 35% larger than other

published Si-PDs. The grating coupler enables the fabrication of Si-PDs with reasonable responsivity and larger bandwidth without relying on equalization techniques. Further, the small parasitic capacitor of the proposed Si-PDs makes the design of a downstream transimpedance amplifier stage less challenging for high-speed applications.

	Tashnalarri	Type of PD		R	Dark	C_{PD}	BW	Bias	FoM
	Technology			(A/W)	current	(fF)	(GHz)	(V)	${ m GHz} \times { m mA/W}$
3'PTL	$0.13 \ \mu m \ SOI$	Lateral		0.08	$\sim 1 \text{ nA}$	210	8	20	640
[68]	t=2 μm	p—i—n		0.00					
13'TED	$0.13~\mu{ m m}$	APD		0.48		35	7.6	10.25	3648
[65]	CMOS	p+/NV	N	0.40					
15'PTL	$0.25~\mu{\rm m}$	APD		0.2	$\sim 1 \text{ nA}$	_	5.6	12.2	1120
[67]	CMOS	p+/NW							
15'JAP	$0.18 \ \mu m \ SOI$	Lateral		0.0075	$\sim 0.01 \text{ nA}$	~65	13.6	10	102
[69]	t=0.21 $\mu {\rm m}$	p-i-n		0.0075	/~0.01 IIA	/000	10.0	10	102
16'PTL	$0.13~\mu{ m m}$	SML-APD		0.03	<0.1 nA	5 a	19	0.7	360
[66]	CMOS	p+/NV	N	0.05	<0.1 IIII	0	12	5.1	500
			1	0.32	1 nA	$0.27^{\ b}$	4.7	20	1504
This	This $0.12 \ \mu m$ SOI Lateral		2	0.153	0.4 nA	$0.69^{\ b}$	15	12	2295
work	t=0.22 μ m p-i-n 3		3	0.155	16 nA	4.1 ^b	13.1	20	2030
			4	0.3	$2 \mu A$	2.3 ^b	16.4	14	4920

Table 5.1Summary of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PDs performance andcomparison with fabricated Si-PDs.

 ${\bf BW:}$ 3-dB bandwidth; ${\bf t:}$ silicon thickness; ${\bf SML-APD:}$ spatially modulated light avalanche photodetector.

^a: Capacitor is extracted from the equivalent small-signal model of the APD.

^b: Capacitor is estimated based on the dimensions of the p-i-n diode in the Si-PD.

5.3 Summary

This chapter demonstrated the design, fabrication, and measurement results of four novel silicon photodetectors (Si-PD) for 850 nm applications fabricated in silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology. The proposed photodetectors use grating couplers to couple the injected light to the silicon waveguide for an efficient absorption. The grating coupler in the baseline design increases the responsivity by 40 times compared with the PD without a grating coupler. We experimentally showed the trade-off between speed and responsivity for various designs of the Si-PD. The proposed designs provide promising performance in terms of responsivity and bandwidth. The optimized design of the grating-assisted Si-PD has a responsivity of 0.3 A/W, an avalanche gain of 6, a dark current of 2 μ A, and a 3-dB bandwidth of 16.4 GHz at 14 V reverse-bias voltage that leads to a FoM of 4920 GHz×mA/W for this photodetector. Further, it shows an open eye diagram for 35 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK data at this bias voltage.

Chapter 6

Compact and Power-Efficient Optical Receiver

Using a mature and reliable complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) technology provides a cost-effective solution for optical transceivers. However, the design of a power-efficient optical receiver with a high gain-bandwidth product is more challenging in CMOS technology compared with SiGe, GaAs, and InP technologies, due to the lower transition frequency (f_T) of CMOS.

As discussed in Chapter 2, third-order interleaved active feedback is a compact bandwidth extension technique and it has been implemented using cascaded first-order differential or single-ended common source (CS) amplifiers [85]. In this work, for the first time, the interleaved active feedback enhances the bandwidth of a cascade of second-order Cherry–Hooper (CH) post-amplifiers. In this structure, local positive feedback is also employed to increase the bandwidth of the transimpedance amplifier (TIA). This chapter demonstrates the design and experimental results of the proposed optical receiver front end fabricated in TSMC 65nm technology. Further, optical measurements are obtained by wire bonding the optimized design of the novel Si-PD (Section 5.1.2) to the proposed optical receiver. The work presented in this chapter has been submitted to IEEE Journal of Solid State Circuits (JSSC) [33].

6.1 Optical Receiver Front End Design

In this section, the bandwidth enhancement of the cascaded second-order inverter-based CH amplifier with third-order interleaved active feedback is discussed. Also, the design of the proposed optical receiver and the trade-off among bandwidth, power dissipation, group delay variation, and noise is presented.

An inverter-based CH amplifier is a low-power design with a reasonable gain-bandwidth product, especially in low-voltage technologies [99]. It consists of two inverters with resistive feedback (R_f) around the second inverter. Based on our simulation results, for the same gain and power dissipation, an inverter-based CH amplifier can provide a larger bandwidth than two cascaded common-source (CS) amplifiers.

6.1.1 Bandwidth Enhancement of CH-Amplifier Chain with Active Feedback

Two forms of third-order active feedback (AFB) are considered in a chain of CH amplifiers. Figure 6.1(a) shows the cascade of two CH amplifiers when the active feedback connects to the input of the first section of the second CH (G_3). Figure 6.1(b) shows the feedback signal added to the input of the second section of the CH (G_4).



Fig. 6.1 Block diagram of two cascaded CH amplifiers with active feedback; (a) the feedback signal is added to the input of the first section of a CH; (b) the feedback signal is added to the input of the second section of a CH.

First, the transfer function of two cascaded CH amplifiers with active feedbacks G_3 and G_4 are calculated. For simplicity, it was assumed that the sizes of G_3 and G_4 are small and their loading on G_1 and G_2 are negligible. In practice, the size of the feedback inverter is lower than 0.1 times that of the CH's inverters. Also, all stages have the same capacitive load C_L (mainly caused by the gate-source capacitor of the following stage). The transfer function of each stage is calculated by

$$G_1(s) = \frac{-g_{m1}}{Y_{L1}}, Y_{L1}(s) = g_{ds1} + sC_L + \frac{g_{m2} + g_{ds2} + sC_L}{1 + g_{ds2}R_f + sC_LR_f}$$
(6.1)

$$G_2(s) = \frac{1 - g_{m2}R_f}{1 + g_{ds2}R_f + sC_LR_f}$$
(6.2)

$$G_3(s) = \frac{-g_{m3}}{Y_{L2}}, Y_{L2}(s) = g_{ds2} + sC_L + \frac{g_{m2} + g_{ds1} + sC_L}{1 + g_{ds1}R_f + sC_LR_f}$$
(6.3)

$$G_4(s) = \frac{-g_{m4}}{Y_{L1}} \tag{6.4}$$

where R_f is the feedback resistor, g_{mi} is the sum of the transconductances of the PMOS and the NMOS transistors in the inverter, and g_{dsi} is the sum of the output conductance of PMOS and NMOS transistors in the inverter. Note that $G_2(s)$ is the voltage-to-voltage gain of the stage consisting of the inverter G_2 and the feedback resistor. Assuming $g_m \gg g_{ds}$ and $1 \gg g_{ds2}R_f$, the transfer functions are simplified as follows

$$G_1(s) = \frac{-g_{m1}(1 + sC_L R_f)}{g_{m2} + 2sC_L + s^2 C_L^2 R_f}, A_1 = \frac{g_{m1}}{g_{m2}}$$
(6.5)

$$G_2(s) = \frac{1 - g_{m2}R_f}{1 + sC_LR_f}, A_2 = g_{m2}R_f - 1$$
(6.6)

$$G_3(s) = \frac{-g_{m3}(1 + sC_L R_f)}{g_{m2} + 2sC_L + s^2 C_L^2 R_f}, \beta_a = \frac{g_{m3}}{g_{m2}}$$
(6.7)

$$G_4(s) = \frac{-g_{m4}(1 + sC_LR_f)}{g_{m2} + 2sC_L + s^2C_L^2R_f}, \beta_b = \frac{g_{m4}}{g_{m2}}$$
(6.8)

The transfer function of a CH amplifier is calculated by

$$H_{CH}(s) = G_1(s)G_2(s) = \frac{A_1A_2}{1 + 2s/\omega_g + s^2/(\omega_g\omega_r)} = \frac{A_{CH}}{D(s)}$$
(6.9)

where $\omega_r = 1/(C_L R_f)$ and $\omega_g = g_{m2}/C_L$. Assuming that $g_{m2}R_f \gg 1$, the CH amplifier has a pair of complex conjugate pole of $\omega_{p1,p2} = \omega_r(-1 + j\sqrt{A_2})$. The transfer function of the two cascaded CH amplifiers with active feedback G_3 or G_4 is given by

$$H_{AFB}(s) = \frac{G_1^2 G_2^2}{1 - G_1 G_2 G_k}, k = 3, 4$$
(6.10)

By substituting the G_i , i=1, 2, 3, and 4:

$$H_{AFB-a}(s) = \frac{A_{CH}^2}{D^2(s) + A_{CH}\beta_a(1+s/\omega_r)}$$
(6.11)

$$H_{AFB-b}(s) = \frac{A_{CH}^2}{D^2(s) + A_{CH}\beta_b(1+s/\omega_r)}$$
(6.12)

where H_{AFB-a} is the transfer function of the circuit in Fig. 6.1(a) and H_{AFB-b} is the transfer function of the circuit in Fig. 6.1(b). Using the same size feedback inverters G_3 and G_4 results in equal feedback gain ($\beta_a = \beta_b = \beta$). Therefore, $G_3 = G_4 = G_f$ and as a result, the transfer functions H_{AFB-a} and H_{AFB-b} are equal. The effect of the active feedback on the CH structure is presented through numerical simulations. The gain of the CH stage is set to 2.3, $\omega_r=80$ rad/ns and $\omega_g=150$ rad/ns. Figure 6.2 shows the variation

of the gain, gain peaking, and normalized bandwidth of two cascaded CH amplifiers with respect to various feedback gain (β). The normalized bandwidth is calculated by dividing the bandwidth of the amplifier with active feedback to the bandwidth of the amplifier without active feedback. Increasing the feedback gain reduces the gain of the amplifier and increases its bandwidth, and generates gain peaking for a feedback gain larger than 0.3. Figure 6.3 shows the pole locations for two cascade CH amplifiers for variation of the feedback gain β from 0 to 1. The arrows in the figure show the trend as the feedback gain increases. Without feedback, the system has two repeated pairs of complex conjugate poles (blue crosses in Fig. 6.3). The active feedback pushes one pole to high frequency, leaving one real pole and a pair of complex conjugate poles to shape the frequency response. Increasing the feedback gain moves the two dominant poles to lower damping factor which generates peaking in the magnitude frequency response. In the next section, the active feedbacks are combined to improve the bandwidth of a multistage CH amplifier.



Fig. 6.2 Variation of the bandwidth and gain of two cascaded CH amplifiers for various feedback gain (β) ; (b) the associated gain peaking.

Figure 6.4(a) shows the block diagram of three cascaded CH amplifiers with interleaved active feedback (IAFB). The transfer function of the circuit is obtained by

$$H_{IAFB}(s) = \frac{G_1^3 G_2^3}{1 - 5G_1 G_2 G_f + 3G_1^2 G_2^2 G_f^2} = \frac{G_1^2 G_2^2}{1 - 4.303 G_1 G_2 G_f} \cdot \frac{G_1 G_2}{1 - 0.607 G_1 G_2 G_f} \quad (6.13)$$



Fig. 6.3 The poles plot of two cascaded CH amplifiers for different gains of active feedback.

By substituting the expressions for G_1 , G_2 , and G_f in (6.13), the transfer function of the three cascaded CH amplifiers with interleaved active feedback is calculated by

$$H_{IAFB}(s) = \frac{A_{CH}^2}{D^2(s) + 4.303A_{CH}\beta(1+s/\omega_r)} \cdot \frac{A_{CH}D(s)}{D^2(s) + 0.607A_{CH}\beta(1+s/\omega_r)}$$
(6.14)

The first term in (6.14) has the same denominator as the transfer functions in (6.11) and (6.12) but with a feedback gain of $P_a \times \beta$, where P_a =4.303. Also, the second term has the same denominator as the two cascaded CH amplifiers with a feedback gain of $P_b \times \beta$ (P_b =0.607). Therefore, the three cascaded CH amplifiers with interleaved active feedback (IAFB) with the feedback gain of β have the same transfer function as the three cascaded CH amplifiers with two non-uniform active feedbacks. This observation is similar to that of [85]. Figure 6.4(b) shows the block diagram of the equivalent circuit with two non-uniform active feedbacks.



Fig. 6.4 (a) Block diagram of three cascaded CH amplifiers with interleaved active feedback (IAFB). (b) Its equivalent circuit with two non-uniform active feedbacks.

Replacing the two weighted feedbacks in Fig. 6.4(b) with two uniform feedbacks with a gain of β , which means $P_a = P_b = 1$, results in a transfer function with eight complex poles, occurring as two sets of repeated poles (red triangles in Fig. 6.5). By giving the amplifier non-uniform feedback, (i.e., $P_a=4.303$ and $P_b=0.607$) poles no longer occur in repeated pairs (shown in blue). The arrows in Fig. 6.5 show the effect of coefficients P_a and P_b on the poles' movement in comparison with two uniform feedbacks. Note that both transfer functions also have a pair of conjugated zeros.

Figure 6.6 compares the frequency response of three cascaded CH amplifies with two non-uniform active feedback and with two uniform active feedback for β =0.08. In comparison with an amplifier with two uniform active feedback, using interleaved active feedback increases the bandwidth by 32% at the cost of 3.7 dB gain reduction.

6.1.2 Proposed Optical Receiver

Figure 6.7 shows the block diagram of the proposed receiver front end. The post-amplifier chain is connected to the output of an inverter-based feedback TIA. A small positive feedback (PFB) is added in the first section of the first CH amplifier to extend the bandwidth of the TIA by creating a negative resistance at the output of the TIA [88]. The required transimpedance gain determines based on the input-referred noise of the optical receiver,



Fig. 6.5 Pole splitting behavior of three cascaded CH amplifier with uniform interleaved active feedback for feedback gain of $\beta = 0.08$.

and the required peak-to-peak amplitude of the following circuits after the receiver front end such as the integrated decision circuit. The proposed optical receiver is designed for operating at 25-30 Gb/s and with transimpedance gain larger than 70 dB Ω . The DC gain of the proposed receiver front end including the TIA and PFB is given by

$$R_T = \frac{A_{tia}A_1^3 A_2^3}{1 + 5\beta A_1 A_2 - A_1 \alpha + 3A_1^2 A_2^2 \beta^2 - 3A_1^2 A_2 \alpha \beta}$$
(6.15)

where $A_{tia} = (g_{mt}R_t - 1)/g_{mt}$, which is the gain of an inverter-based feedback TIA with the effective transconductance and the feedback resistor of g_{mt} and R_t , respectively. Also, $\alpha = g_{m-PFB}/g_{mt}$, where g_{m-PFB} is the effective transconductance of the PFB inverter. As it is expected, the active feedback reduces the DC gain and the positive feedback increases the DC gain. Appendix C indicates a discussion about the effect of feedback inverters on the



Fig. 6.6 Simulated frequency response for three cascaded CH amplifiers with two non-uniform active feedbacks (or uniform interleaved active feedback) and with two uniform active feedbacks.



Fig. 6.7 Block diagram of the proposed receiver front end.

low frequency input-referred current noise of the receiver front end. Table 6.1 summarizes the design goals of the proposed optical receiver.

Transimpedance gain	$>70 \text{ dB}\Omega$
Data rate	$2530~\mathrm{Gb/s}$
3 dB bandwidth	>15 GHz
Power dissipation	\leq 30 mW (for 1 pJ/bit)

Table 6.1Design goals of the proposed optical receiver.

In designing the receiver, the CH inverters are assumed to be the same size as the TIA inverter. In an inverter, selecting an equal size for the PMOS and NMOS transistors maximizes the total transconductance for a given input capacitance, which increases its gain-bandwidth product [100]. Also, the equal bias voltage of the inverters leads to the same current density in the TIA, CH amplifier, and feedback inverters. The width of the transistors in the TIA are swept to find an optimum gain-bandwidth product. Figure 6.8 shows the gain-bandwidth product of an inverter-based feedback TIA with respect to the transistor width. In this simulation, both input and output capacitors are 100 fF, and the feedback resistors (R_F) is 300 Ω . The simulation result shows that the TIA has an optimum gain-bandwidth product of 3310 GHz Ω for transistor width of 25 μ m. Also, the size of the IAFB inverters and PFB inverter are swept for maximum bandwidth with a flat response. In simulations, capacitance was added to each transistor to model additional metal coupling capacitance not part of the intrinsic transistor model. The gatesource, gate-drain, and drain-source capacitors of $0.11 \times W fF/\mu m$, $0.1 \times W fF/\mu m$, and $0.08 \times W fF/\mu m$ obtained from layout extraction are added where W is the width of the transistor in μ m.



Fig. 6.8 Gain-bandwidth product with respect to the transistor width.

Table 6.2 summarizes the design parameters of the proposed optical receiver in the third column. Also, it presents the design parameters of an optical receiver consisting of an

inverter-based TIA and CH amplifiers without IAFB and PFB to study the performance trade-off in the proposed optical receiver. The load capacitor of the receiver front end is chosen based on the anticipated capacitive load of the following circuits such as the integrated decision circuit and an output buffer. Table 6.3 compares simulation results of the proposed optical receiver to an optical receiver consisting of an inverter-based TIA and CH amplifiers without IAFB and PFB.

	*	
	TIA and three-stage CH	TIA and three-stage CH
	(reference)	with IAFB and PFB
TIA feedback resistor	$300 \ \Omega$	$300 \ \Omega$
CH feedback resistor	$150 \ \Omega$	$215.5~\Omega$
PFB ratio		0.16
IAFB ratio		0.064
Input Cap. (pads+PD)	$100 \ fF$	$100 \ fF$
Load Cap. (pads+PD)	$100 \ fF$	$100 \ fF$

 Table 6.2
 The simulation parameters for a three-stage CH amplifier.

With the same transimpedance gain, the proposed receiver front end has a 35% larger bandwidth, while the power consumption increases only by 6.2%. The proposed design also has a ±1.3 ps larger group delay variation in comparison with the reference design. The group delay variation of the proposed design is ±0.07 ps larger than ±10% of the 30Gb/s bit unit interval (UI), ±0.1×UI=±3.33 ps, which is the typical limit for group delay variation [90]. Figure 6.9 compares the output eye diagram of the reference receiver front end (top) and the proposed receiver front end (bottom) for 30 Gb/s 30 μ A_{p-p} random data. The maximum eye opening of the proposed front end is 46 mV larger than the maximum eye opening of the reference design. It has slightly larger pattern-dependent jitter resulting from a slight increase in the group delay variation. Although the proposed receiver has a signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) slightly less than the SNR of the reference design, the larger

	TIA and three-stage CH	TIA and three-stage CH		
	(reference)	with IAFB and PFB		
Supply voltage	1.2 V	1.2 V		
Bias current	22.7 mA	24.1 mA		
Transimpedance gain	76.6 dB Ω	$76.6 \text{ dB}\Omega$		
Bit rate	$30 { m ~Gb/s}$	$30 \mathrm{~Gb/s}$		
3 dB bandwidth	12.34 GHz	16.65 GHz		
Total output noise	8.65 mV_{rms}	11.76 mV_{rms}		
Group delay variation	$\pm 2.1 \text{ ps}$	$\pm 3.4 \text{ ps}$		
Maximum eye opening	135 mV	191.9 mV		
for 30 μA_{p-p} input	155 m V $p-p$	101.0 mV p-p		
Power dissipation	$27.3 \mathrm{~mW}$	29 mW		

Table 6.3Comparison of the simulation results.

peak-to-peak eye of the proposed front end provides a better performance by relaxing the design requirement of the following circuits after the receiver front end such as integrated decision circuits.



Fig. 6.9 Eye diagrams of the reference receiver front end and the proposed receiver front end for 30 Gb/s random data with 30 μA_{p-p} input.

The performance of the proposed receiver is studied for various fabrication process corners with $\pm 10\%$ supply variation and temperature variation (PVT). Based on the simulation results, the proposed receiver is stable across PVT. Except for the slow-slow (ss) corner that exhibits 0.4 dB peak in the magnitude of the frequency response and ± 6.35 ps group delay variation. Else, the proposed circuit shows a flat response with group delay variation lower than ± 4.3 ps across PVT. The design parameters of the fabricated optical receiver are modified based on post-layout simulation results for optimum performance for a targeted data rate of 25–30 Gb/s.

The block diagram of the fabricated optical receiver and the design parameters are shown in Fig. 6.10. It consists of an analog front end with a variable gain control (VGC) circuit and an offset cancellation feedback which, based on the simulation result, generates a 2.8 MHz low frequency cutoff. The PMOS and NMOS transistors in inverter-based feedback TIA and three CH amplifiers have a width of 25 μ m and a minimum length of 60 nm. The feedback resistors in the TIA and CH amplifier are 300 Ω and 200 Ω , respectively. The PMOS and NMOS transistors in the inverter-based interleaved active feedback (IAFB) are 2.25 μ m wide and 60 nm in length. The first stage of the CH amplifier has a fixed inverter-based positive feedback (PFB) with PMOS and NMOS transistors 4 μ m wide and a 3 bit variable positive feedback with PMOS and NMOS transistors 0.5, 1, and $2 \,\mu \text{m}$ wide. The effective width of the PFB transistors can be adjusted from $4 \,\mu \text{m}$ for control bits of 000 to 7.5 μ m for control bits of 111. There is also a variable resistor in the TIA and in the two stages of post-amplifier that controls the gain and bandwidth of the front end by applying a voltage through the $V_{Control}$ pin in Fig. 6.10. A 7 μ m wide NMOS transistor in parallel with the fixed feedback resistor implements the variable resistor. Based on the simulation result, the minimum resistance of the NMOS variable resistor is approximately 60Ω for V_{Control} of 1.2 V. Therefore, the V_{Control} of 1.2 V minimizes the gain of the receiver front end and maximizes its bandwidth. There is a PMOS CS amplifier with a resistive

load of 100 Ω to drive the AC-coupled 50 Ω termination of the measurement equipment. To reduce the power consumption only a small single stage output buffer is used. Post-layout simulation results show that the transimpedance gain of the front end before the output buffer is 7.8 dB larger than after the output buffer, and it has a slightly larger bandwidth. Note that by integrating the decision circuits with the optical front end, the output of the front end directly connects to the decision circuits. Therefore, the transimpedance gain is 7.8 dB larger than the measured transimpedance gain at the output buffer.

To compensate the offset voltage, an offset cancellation (OC) feedback is used that employs an active low-pass filter. As discussed in Chapter 2, the low cut-off frequency should be small enough to avoid a large power penalty due to the baseline wander problem for transmitting a long string of identical bits (also called runs). In the active low pass filter the effective time constant is $\tau = R_{oc}C_{oc}(1+g_mr_o)$, where R_{oc} and C_{oc} are the low pass filter resistor and capacitor, respectively (Fig. 6.10), g_m is the total transconductance of the inverter I₁, and r_o is the total resistance at the output of the inverter I₁. Based on the post-layout simulation results, the receiver front end has 2.8 MHz low cut-off frequency. There are on-chip shift-registers that enable/disable switches in the optical receiver for various receiver configurations to provide an optimized performance.

6.2 Receiver Front End Characterization

This section presents a complete characterization of the receiver front end with an electrical input signal. Figure 6.11 shows the micrograph of the optical receiver fabricated in TSMC 65 nm CMOS technology. The total size of the chip is 1.5 mm×0.5 mm, while the receiver occupies only 0.0056 mm² (70 μ m×80 μ m) of the area. The fabricated chip is packaged in a ceramic quad flat package CQFP80 and is partially wire bonded. The cavity size of the package is 7.6 mm×7.6 mm. The input and output pads of the front end (shown with



Fig. 6.10 Block diagram of the fabricated optical receiver.

red squares in Fig. 6.10) interface to two 40 GHz ground-signal-ground (GSG) probes in the electrical measurement and later the input pad is wire-bonded to a fabricated SOIbased all-silicon photodetector. Due to the large cavity size of the CQFP80, relatively long wire bonds for the supply voltage affect the receiver performance, which is an issue discussed later in this section. An ATmega328 microcontroller is programmed to generate the required bit stream for loading the on-chip shift registers that control the switches in the optical receiver. The receiver front end without the output buffer (4.4 mW) consumes 26.4 mW at 1.1 V supply voltage. In the following subsections, the experimental results of the frequency response and the transient response of the proposed receiver front end are discussed.

Frequency Response Measurement

The frequency response of the receiver front end is measured using a 50 GHz microwave network analyzer (Agilent PNA-X N5245A). Figure 6.12 compares the measured S-parameters of the receiver with the post-layout simulation results. In this measurement, the offset cancellation feedback is enabled, while the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 000, and the vari-


Fig. 6.11 Micrograph of the proposed optical receiver.

able gain control is disabled by applying 0 V to the $V_{Control}$, which results in a maximum gain for the front end. The effect of a long wire bond for the supply voltage is modeled as a 4 nH inductor. As expected from the simulation, there is a low-frequency notch caused by the resonance between the inductance of the supply voltage's long wire-bond and the on-chip decoupling capacitors. The magnitude of the measured S_{21} is approximately 2 dB larger than the simulation, while its bandwidth is approximately 1.4 GHz smaller. The S_{21} obtained in simulation also shows a low frequency cutoff of 1.9 MHz which is smaller than the low frequency cutoff 2.8 MHz in the transimpedance simulation. For frequencies larger than 10 GHz, the large difference between the measured and simulated S_{12} resulted from a signal coupling between the input and output pads.

The transimpedance gain (\mathbf{Z}_T) of the front end is extracted from the measured Sparameters by

$$Z_T = Z_0 \frac{S_{21}}{1 - S_{11}} \tag{6.16}$$

where Z_0 is the characteristic impedance of 50 Ω . The simulated and measured transimpedance gain is compared in Fig. 6.13. The transimpedance gain is approximately 68.1 dB Ω (or 2541 Ω), which is 2.2 dB larger than the simulation result. It shows a 3 dB bandwidth of 13.2 GHz, which is 1.8 GHz smaller than the simulation result.

The increase in the transimpedance gain and the reduction in the bandwidth of the



Fig. 6.12 Measured S-parameter in comparison with the simulated S-parameter.



Fig. 6.13 Extracted transimpedance gain from measured S-parameter in comparison with the simulated transimpedance gain.

fabricated chip may be due to larger feedback resistors in the TIA and post-amplifier relative to the designed values due to process variation. The higher resistance value in the offset cancellation loop also reduces the low frequency cutoff of the receiver. By setting the 3 bit positive feedback to 111 (3 bit PFB=111), the measured transimpedance gain increases by 1.3 dB to 69.4 dB Ω , while the bandwidth increases by 0.4 GHz to 13.6 GHz. Applying a voltage larger than 0.6 V to the V_{Control} reduces the voltage gain and increases the bandwidth of the front end, as is shown in Fig. 6.14. The receiver shows a maximum gain-bandwidth product of 33.16 THz Ω for a V_{Control} of 0.6 V for a bandwidth of 13.2 GHz and gain of 2512 Ω . Further, a minimum gain-bandwidth product of 5.74 THz Ω is obtained for a V_{Control} of 0.9 V for a bandwidth of 19 GHz and gain of 302 Ω .



Fig. 6.14 Measured bandwidth and gain of the receiver front-end for various $V_{Control}$.

Noise Measurement

The noise standard deviation is measured at the front end output without applying any input signal to the receiver. The total standard deviation (σ_{Total}) is 4.11 mV_{rms}. The receiver noise is calculated from $\sigma_{RX}^2 = \sigma_{Total}^2 - \sigma_{Scope}^2$, where the noise standard deviation (σ_{Scope}) of a disconnected 30 GHz scope is measured to be 0.47 mV_{rms}. The noise standard deviation of the front end (σ_{RX}) is 4.08 mV_{rms} when the offset cancellation feedback is enabled, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 000, and 0 V is applied to the V_{Control}. By enabling all positive feedback for control bits of 111 (3 bit PFB=111), the standard deviation of the receiver increases to 4.87 mV_{rms}. Applying 0.9 V to the V_{Control} increases the noise standard deviation of the receiver to 10.7 mV_{rms}. Table 6.4 summarized the performance of the receiver front end for various receiver configurations.

	3-bit PFB =000	3-bit PFB =111	3-bit PFB = 000	
	$V_{Control} = 0 V$	$V_{Control} = 0 V$	$V_{Control} = 0.9 V$	
Transimpedance gain	$68.1 \text{ dB}\Omega$	$69.4 \text{ dB}\Omega$	$49.6 \text{ dB}\Omega$	
Bandwidth	13.2 GHz	13.6 GHz	19 GHz	
Output noise (σ_{RX})	4.08 mV_{rms}	4.87 mV_{rms}	10.7 mV_{rms}	

Table 6.4Front end performance for various receiver configurations.

Transient Measurement

For the transient measurements presented in this subsection, the offset cancellation feedback is enabled, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 000, and the variable gain control is disabled by applying 0 V to the $V_{Control}$.

The test setup used for the bit error rate (BER) and eye diagram measurements is shown in Fig. 6.15. A 400 mV_{p-p} output of a bit pattern generator (BPG) is attenuated with an 18 GHz variable attenuator to reduce the amplitude of the input signal. The attenuator changes from 0 to 69 dB and with 1 dB attenuation step. Then, the signal is applied to the input pad of the receiver front end. The amplified output is detected by an error analyzer (EA) for BER measurement and by a 30 GHz scope for eye diagram measurement. The loss of the cables and connectors is ignored in the measurement results.

The BER measurement for NRZ-OOK pseudorandom binary sequence (PRBS) 2^{7} -1 data for different bit rates are plotted in Fig. 6.16(a). Figure 6.16(b) shows the sensitivity of the receiver front end for BER lower than 10^{-12} and different PRBS patterns. The sensitivity of the front end at a bit rate of 30 Gb/s increases from 7 mV_{p-p} for PRBS 2^{7} -1 (PRBS7) data to 11.25 mV_{p-p} for PRBS 2^{31} -1 (PRBS31) data, which corresponds to a



Fig. 6.15 Test setup for transient measurement with an electrical input signal.



Fig. 6.16 (a) BER measurement for various bit rates with respect to the received peak-to-peak input voltage; (b) input sensitivity for BER lower than 10^{-12} with respect to the different lengths of PRBS data.

2 dB power penalty for 30 Gb/s bit rate; for the other measured bit rates, the power penalty is 1 dB. The power penalty for a longer length of PRBS data results from larger jitter and baseline wander due to the low cut-off frequency of the receiver front end [90]. To decrease the baseline wander effect on the long PRBS pattern, the low frequency cutoff of the receiver should be in the range of a few hundred kHz. This can be achieved by increasing the resistance and capacitance of the offset cancellation feedback by a factor of three to four. A schematic simulation is performed to further confirm the effect of low cut-off frequency on different PRBS pattern lengths. In this simulation, the output buffer and offset cancellation feedback are added to the schematic shown in Fig. 6.7. Figure 6.17 compares the simulated output of the optical receiver for 30 Gb/s 30 μ A_{p-p} PRBS7 (in blue) and PRBS15 (in red) input signals. The simulation results show a low frequency modulation for PRBS15 pattern that reduces the maximum eye opening from 84.6 mV_{p-p} to 79.1 mV_{p-p} and increases the jitter from 1.4 ps to 3 ps. The reduction of eye opening results in 0.3 dB power penalty.



Fig. 6.17 Simulated output of the optical receiver for 30 Gb/s 30 μ A_{p-p} PRBS7 (in blue) and PRBS15 (in red) input signal.

The step response of the receiver front end is measured to study the effect of the lowfrequency notch in the time domain operation. Figure 6.18 shows the response of the receiver front end for a 20 MHz square-wave input. The step response shows overshoot and ringing with an approximate period of 4.4 ns or a frequency of 227 MHz, which is the frequency of the notch in the measured S_{21} . As shown in Fig. 6.18, the undershoot degrades the average peak-to-peak amplitude by 20%, which results in 0.98 dB power penalty [90].

Figure 6.19 shows the output eye diagram of the front end for various bit rates of NRZ-OOK PRBS 2^{31} -1 data for an 8 mV peak-to-peak input signal. The larger inter-symbol



Fig. 6.18 Step response of the receiver front-end.

interference (ISI) at 30 Gb/s reduces the maximum eye opening by 55% in comparison with the maximum eye opening at 20 Gb/s.



Fig. 6.19 Eye diagrams for 20 Gb/s, 25 Gb/s, and 30 Gb/s PRBS 2^{31} -1 NRZ-OOK data for 8 mV_{p-p} input signal.

The energy efficiency of the receiver was explored by measuring the BER across supply voltage at various data rates of PRBS 2^{7} -1 data pattern. Figure 6.20(a) shows the receiver sensitivity for BER lower than 10^{-12} for different power dissipation, while the related supply voltage is shown. At each data rate, the sensitivity improves before becoming constant as the supply voltage and hence power dissipation is increased. Figure 6.20(b) indicates the energy per bit with respect to the bit rate. The blue dashed line is calculated based on

the lowest power dissipation that provides the minimum peak-to-peak input sensitivity for each bit rate, while the red dashed line is calculated based on the lowest power dissipation for input signal sensitivity of 5 mV_{p-p} at bit rates of 25 Gb/s and lower.



Fig. 6.20 (a) The input sensitivity of the front end for BER less than 10^{-12} for various power dissipation; (b) energy efficiency for different bit rates.

The proposed receiver front end has an energy efficiency of 1.03 pJ/bit at 30 Gb/s bit rate for an input sensitivity of 7 mV_{p-p} and supply voltage of 1.1 V. The receiver operates at minimum sensitivity with an energy efficiency of 0.8 pJ/bit for bit rates of 20 Gb/s and 25 Gb/s. For the input sensitivity of 5 mV_{p-p}, the front end shows the energy efficiencies of 0.425 pJ/bit at 20 Gb/s at a supply voltage of 0.85 V.

6.3 Receiver Measurements with Wire-Bonded Si-PD

The proposed receiver front end is packaged with the focusing grating-assisted silicon photodetector (Si-PD no. 4) discussed in subsection 5.1.2. The performance of the Si-PD at 14 V reverse-bias voltage is demonstrated in section 5.2, while in this chapter the Si-PD operates at a reverse-bias voltage lower than 0.5 V. The Si-PD has a responsivity of 0.05 A/W, a dark current of 20 pA, and a broad bandwidth of 12.6 GHz at 0 V reverse-bias voltage. High bandwidth at low reverse-bias voltage makes this photodetector a perfect candidate for low-voltage applications. Further, it eliminates the equalization techniques required to compensate the low bandwidth of other types of Si-PD fabricated in a bulk CMOS technology. In addition, the photodetector potentially can be implemented in an SOI-based CMOS technology for monolithic integration with an optical receiver.

Figure 6.21 shows the micrograph of the proposed optical receiver with the wire-bonded Si-PD. The total size of the photodetector chip is $350 \ \mu m \times 460 \ \mu m$, while the Si-PD occupies only $30 \ \mu m \times 80 \ \mu m$ of the area.



Fig. 6.21 The micrograph of the proposed optical receiver with the wire bonded all-silicon photodetector.

6.3.1 Optical Measurement Results

Figure 6.22 shows the test setup used for the eye diagram and BER measurements. The picture of the measurement test bed with landed fiber and probe is shown in Fig. 6.23. A continuous wave (CW) generated by a VCSEL source from Thorlabs with 11.8 dBm optical power at 848.2 nm is injected through a polarization controller (PC) with 0.5 dB insertion loss. A 40 GHz Mach–Zehnder modulator (MZM) with an extinction ratio of 14 dB and an insertion loss of 6.5 dB at 850 nm is driven by a baseband signal from the output of the BPG. For reducing the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) in BER measurement, the modulated data are injected into a variable optical attenuator (VOA). A 99%–1%

directional coupler is used to monitor the average received optical power. Because the input grating coupler is polarization sensitive, the modulated data are then injected into another PC. The maximum optical power on the GC of the Si-PD is 2.5 dBm. The modulated optical signal is launched to the Si-PD and converted to a photocurrent. The optical front end converts the photocurrent into a voltage and amplifies it. The cathode of the Si-PD is wire-bonded to the input pad of the optical front end, which has a DC voltage of 0.41 V. To reduce the length of the wire bond of the photodetector, the anode of the Si-PD is wire-bonded to the bottom metal plate of the CQFP80 cavity, which is grounded. The optical front end has a 1.1 V supply voltage, and 0 V is applied to the V_{Control} for maximum receiver gain while the 3 bit positive feedback is swept from 000 to 111 to find an optimum performance at each bit rate.



Fig. 6.22 Test setup for transient measurement with an optical input signal.

Figure 6.24 shows the output eye diagram for 20 Gb/s NRZ-OOK PRBS 2^{31} -1 data for an average optical power of 0 dBm. Eye diagrams are compared when the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 000 and 111. As expected, the front end has a larger gain that increases the peak-to-peak eye diagram. Further, the quality of the eye diagram is improved due to



Fig. 6.23 Picture of the measurement test bed for transient measurement with an optical input signal.

the increased bandwidth. Figure 6.25 shows the output eye diagram of the front end for 25 and 30 Gb/s bit rates NRZ-OOK PRBS 2^{31} -1 data for the average optical power of 0 dBm. At 25 Gb/s bit rate, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 111. At 30 Gb/s bit rate, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 111. At 30 Gb/s bit rate, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 111. At 30 Gb/s bit rate, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 111.



Fig. 6.24 Eye diagram for 20 Gb/s PRBS 2^{31} -1 NRZ-OOK data for 0 dBm average optical power.

Next, the BER is measured for the NRZ-OOK PRBS 2⁷-1 data at different bit rates. Figure 6.26 shows the BER measurement with respect to the optical modulation amplitude (OMA). For bit rates of 20 Gb/s and 25 Gb/s, the 3 bit positive feedback is set to 111, while at 30 Gb/s is set to 000.



Fig. 6.25 Eye diagrams for 25 Gb/s, and 30 Gb/s PRBS 2^{31} -1 NRZ-OOK data for average optical power of 0 dBm.



Fig. 6.26 BER measurement for NRZ-OOK PRBS 2⁷-1 data.

The optical front end has input sensitivities of -0.5 dBm and 0.2 dBm OMA for BER of 10^{-12} at bit rates of 20 Gb/s and 25 Gb/s, respectively. The highest data rate of the receiver is limited by the low bandwidth (12.6 GHz) of the photodiode at a low reverse-bias voltage and the large group delay variation caused by the inductance of the Si-PD's wire bonds. Further, the BER is measured for the NRZ-OOK PRBS 2^{31} -1 data. The sensitivity of the optical receiver degrades by 0.3 dB and 4 dB for bit rates of 20 and 25 Gb/s, respectively.

The peak-to-peak current sensitivity is calculated from the OMA sensitivity and responsivity of the Si-PD. The input current sensitivity of the proposed optical front end is 46 μA_{p-p} at 20 Gb/s, which results in an input-referred current noise of 3.28 μA_{rms} [73].

Table IV summarizes the performance of the proposed optical receiver with wire-bonded Si-PD and compares it with previously published high-speed optical front ends for 850 nm applications. To evaluate the performance of the proposed optical receiver, a figure of merit (FoM) is introduced that is related to the process node, data rate (DR), energy per bit, chip area, and the peak-to-peak current sensitivity (I_{in}) of the receiver.

$$FoM = \frac{DR(Gb/s) \times Technology(nm)}{Energy(pJ/bit) \times I_{in}(\mu A_{p-p}) \times Area(mm^2)}$$
(6.17)

Overall, the proposed optical front end has at least 31% larger FoM in comparison with other optical receivers. The proposed optical front end also shows the lowest peak-to-peak current sensitivity of 54 μ A_{p-p} at 25 Gb/s data rate while providing a reasonable energy efficiency of 1.23 pJ/bit. The low responsivity of 0.051 A/W at 0.4 V reverse-bias voltage of the Si-PD leads to a larger optical sensitivity in comparison with other optical front ends. Note that the responsivity of the proposed Si-PD increases to 0.3 A/W for 14 V reverse-bias voltage, which would improve the optical sensitivity to -7.45 dBm. However, the packaging arrangement in this work preventing us from measuring the performance of the receiver with a large reverse-bias voltage.

It is worth mentioning that the offset cancellation feedback capacitor of the proposed optical receiver occupies more than 45% of the area. Using another offset cancellation technique that doesn't require an on-chip capacitor reduces the chip area of the proposed receiver considerably. Although the conventional inverter-based optical receiver in [99] has been fabricated in 90 nm CMOS, it shows a smaller chip area in comparison with the proposed design due to the 30% smaller offset cancellation feedback capacitor.

The integrated avalanche Si-PD in [101] has a responsivity of 0.273 A/W and 3-dB bandwidth of 1.1 GHz at 12.3 V reverse-bias voltage. However, the proposed silicon pho-

to detector has a large bandwidth of 12.6 GHz at 0 V and can support high-speed operation without requiring any equalization techniques.

	ISSCC'12 [99]	JSSC'15 [80]	JSSC'15 [81] JSSC'16 [102]		JSTQE'16 [101]	CICC'17 [103]	This work
Technology	CMOS 90 nm $$	CMOS 65 nm	CMOS 65 nm $$	IOS 65 nm CMOS 65 nm CMOS 65 nm		CMOS 28 nm $$	CMOS 65 nm $$
Front-end topology	TIA+LA	TIA+LA	TIA+LA+CDR	A+LA+CDR TIA+IIR-DFE		TIA+ID	TIA+PA
Peaking inductor	No	Yes	Yes No Yes No		No		
Wavelength	850 nm	850 nm	N.A.	850 nm 850 nm 850 nm		850 nm	
PD responsivity	$0.55~\mathrm{A/W}$	0.47 A/W	N.A.	$0.5 \mathrm{A/W}$	$0.272 { m A/W}$	05 A/W	$0.051 \; {\rm A/W}$
					at 12.3 V $$	0.0 11/ W	at 0.41 V
Data rate	$22 { m ~Gb/s}$	$25~{\rm Gb/s}$	$25\text{-}26.5~\mathrm{Gb/s}$	20 Gb/s 18 Gb/s 20 Gb		$20 { m ~Gb/s}$	$25~{ m Gb/s}$
Gain	$76 \text{ dB}\Omega$	$72.5 \text{ dB}\Omega$	$71 \text{ dB}\Omega$	— 102 dB9			$69.4 \text{ dB}\Omega$
Data pattern	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1	PRBS 2^{15} -1	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1	PRBS 2 ⁷ -1
Sensitivity@ 10^{-12} current	138 $\mu \mathbf{A}_{p-p}$	98 μA_{p-p}	106-184 μA_{p-p}	88.9 μA_{p-p}	88 μA_{p-p}	$69 \ \mu \mathbf{A}_{p-p}$	$54 \ \mu A_{p-p}$
Sensitivity@ 10^{-12} OMA	-6 dBm	-6.8 dBm	N.A.	N.A7.5 dBm -4.9 dBm		-8.6 dBm	$0.2 \mathrm{~dBm}$
Power efficiency	1.14 pJ/bit	2.72 pJ/bit	1.35 pJ/bit (front-end)	0.75 pJ/bit	2.7 pJ/bit	$0.7 \mathrm{ pJ/bit}$	1.23 pJ/bit
Total area	0.0038 mm^2	1.0725 mm^{2*}	0.32 mm^{2**}	0.027 mm^2	0.23 mm^2	0.005 mm^2	$0.0056~\mathrm{mm^2}$
FoM $\frac{(Gb/s)(nm)}{(pJ/bit)(mm^2)(\mu A)}$	3312	22.7	21.67	722.1	21.4	2318.8	4368.8

 Table 6.5
 Performance summary of the proposed front end compared with the recently published works.

LA: limiting amplifier; EQ: equalizer; CDR: clock and data recovery; IIR-DFE: infinite impulse response-decision feedback equalizer;

PA: post-amplifier; CTLE: continues-time linear equalizers; ID: integrate-and dump circuit.

* There are 4 receivers in that area. ** Total area of the optical receiver with CDR.

6.4 Summary

This chapter presents the design and experimental results of a novel low-power and compact 25 Gb/s optical receiver in 65 nm TSMC technology. It was prototyped with a novel lowvoltage SOI-based all-silicon photodetector (Si-PD). The receiver front end consists of an inverter-based feedback TIA and three cascaded inverter-based CH amplifiers. To this structure, variable positive feedback and third-order interleaved active feedback are added to increase the total bandwidth of the optical front end. The proposed optical receiver has a transimpedance gain of $69.4 \text{ dB}\Omega$, a bandwidth of 13.6 GHz, and an input-referred noise of 3.28 μA_{rms} . It occupies only 0.0056 mm² and consumes 30.8 mW at 1.1 V supply voltage. The photodetector used in this demonstration has a responsivity of 0.05 A/W, a dark current of 0.02 nA, and bandwidth of 12.6 GHz at 0 V bias voltage. The optical receiver with wire-bonded Si-PD has input sensitivities of -0.5 and 0.2 dBm, for bit error rate (BER) of 10^{-12} at data rates of 20 and 25 Gb/s, respectively, while the Si-PD has a reverse-bias voltage of 0.41 V. The energy efficiency of the optical front end is 1.23 pJ/bit at 25 Gb/s data rate. Additional electrical measurement results show that the receiver front end has input sensitivities of 3.6, 4.5, and 6.4 mV_{p-p} for BER of 10^{-12} at data rates of 20, 25, and 30 Gb/s, respectively. Further, the electrical measurement with supply voltage lower than 1.1 V shows that, for input sensitivity of 5 mV_{p-p}, it has energy efficiencies from 0.425 to 0.8 pJ/bit for data rates between 10 to 25 Gb/s and supply voltages from 0.8 to 1 V.

Chapter 7

Other Work

This chapter presents a research project that is not directly related to the content of this thesis and is performed in parallel with our research work. We have designed a novel 25 Gb/s ring-based DAC-less PAM-4 modulator. The following sections present the design and measurement results of this device. The work presented in this chapter has been presented at Photonics North Conference 2016 [104] and published in IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics (JSTQE) [105].

7.1 25 Gb/s DAC-Less Ring-Based PAM-4 Modulator

Modulators based on Mach-Zehnder interferometer (MZI) and ring resonator are the two main types of modulators demonstrated in an SOI technology for bit rates up to 50 Gb/s [106–108]. While the MZI modulator is more thermally stable and more robust to fabrication variation compared to the ring modulator, the latter shows a lower loss and excellent modulation efficiency at lower peak-to-peak voltage driving signal leading to a more energy efficient approach [109]. Also, the compact size of an SOI ring resonator relative to an MZI modulator makes it a cost-effective candidate for a WDM system that requires high integration of electro-optical devices [16].

For increasing the throughput of a bandwidth-limited system, it is important to explore the functionality of these modulators in obtaining multilevel and complex modulation format. The pulse amplitude modulation (PAM) and particularly PAM-4 as the least complex form of a higher-order modulation has been the subject of intense research for high-speed short-reach optical interconnects. Recently, silicon photonics multi-segmented PAM-4 MZI modulators operating at data rates over 50 Gb/s are demonstrated [110,111]. The multi-segmented electrode substantially replaces a linear electrical digital-to-analog converters (DAC), commonly used to achieve multilevel electrical driving signal, with an optical DAC. In this work, we explore designing a multi-segmented electrode ring-based PAM-4 modulator. We present the first experimental demonstration of a reverse biased MZI-assisted ring modulation. The phase of the two independent electrical driving signals is adjusted such that a 25 Gb/s (12.5 Gbaud/s) PAM-4 signal is achieved at the output.

7.2 Design and Fabrication of the Proposed PAM-4 Modulator

Figure 7.1 shows the proposed inter-coupling modulator with single drive diode segments. For generating the same amount of phase shift, the single drive inter-coupling modulator requires approximately twice the length of the diode segment in a dual drive push-pull mode inter-coupling modulator. However, the diode phase shifters and two optical waveguide arms do not require perfect symmetry, which relaxes the fabrication tolerance of this type of modulator. Further, the inter-coupling PAM-4 modulator can be driven with single ended electrical signals reducing the complexity of the voltage settings. In such configuration, the optical signal modulation is enabled by coupling modulation, change in the round-trip phase shift and slight variation of its loss. The modulator has two p-n diode segments in the lower arm of the balanced MZI with lengths of $L_{LSB} = 220 \ \mu m$ and $L_{MSB} = 330 \ \mu m$. There are also two thermal heaters, which is implemented by the top metal layer. The smallest p-n diode segment generates a phase shift $\Delta \phi_1$ with an RF signal V₁ representing the lowest significant bit (LSB). The largest p-n diode segment produces a phase shift $\Delta \phi_2$ with an RF signal V₂ representing the most significant bit (MSB). The top heater on the ring cavity (heater-1) enables a shift in the resonance wavelength. The top heater on the lower arm of the MZI (heater-2) generates the required initial phase θ to optimize the extinction ratio and exploit the linear optical transmission portion of the modulator. In this device, the ring cavity length (L_{ring}) and MZI coupling length (L_c) are determined mainly based on the total length of the two p-n diode segments to generate the required phase shift for modulation.



Fig. 7.1 Schematic of the proposed inter-coupling modulation based PAM-4 ring modulator.

7.2.1 Design Methodology

This part describes the simulation method used to determine the required length of the two p-n diode segments towards optimal extinction ratio at the targeted reverse bias voltage. The transfer matrix and transfer function between the MZI input electric fields (E_{i1} and E_{i2}) and the MZI output electric fields (E_{t1} and E_{t2}) are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} E_{t1} \\ E_{t2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} T_1 & K_2 \\ K_1 & T_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} E_{i1} \\ E_{i2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.1)

$$E_{i2} = \alpha_{ring} \exp(-j\delta) E_{t2} \tag{7.2}$$

where α_{ring} is the total loss, and δ is the phase due to the ring cavity length (L_{ring}) and the effect of heater-1. The matrix elements T_i and K_i representing the transmission from input port *i* of the MZI to the through-port and cross-port output, respectively (*i* = 1, 2). They are calculated using the following equations.

$$T_1 = t_1 t_2 \alpha_{arm1} \exp\left(-j(\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta)\right) + k_1 k_2 \alpha_{arm2} \exp(-j\phi)$$
(7.3)

$$T_{2} = t_{1}t_{2}\alpha_{arm2}\exp(-j\phi) + k_{1}k_{2}\alpha_{arm1}\exp(-j(\phi + \Delta\phi_{1} + \Delta\phi_{2} + \theta))$$
(7.4)

$$K_1 = k_1 t_2 \alpha_{arm2} \exp(-j\phi) + t_1 k_2 \alpha_{arm1} \exp(-j(\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta))$$
(7.5)

$$K_2 = k_1 t_2 \alpha_{arm1} \exp(-j(\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta)) + t_1 k_2 \alpha_{arm2} \exp(-j\phi)$$
(7.6)

where t_1 and k_1 are the transfer functions of the electric field coupled to the through-port and cross-port of the first directional coupler, respectively; and t_2 and k_2 are the transfer functions of the electric field coupled to the through-port and cross-port of the second directional coupler, respectively. The variable ϕ_1 is the phase due to the MZI coupling length (L_c) and θ is the initial phase generated with thermal heater. For an ideal 50/50 compact directional coupler, t=1/ $\sqrt{2}$ and k=exp($-j\pi/2$)/ $\sqrt{2}$, at a specific wavelength. Due to fabrication process variation, however, the coupling coefficient of the directional couplers differs and considerably affect the performance of the device. The variables α_{arm1} and α_{arm2} are the total losses in the lower and upper arms of the MZI, respectively. The electric field transfer function of the device is calculated by

$$\frac{E_{t1}}{E_{i1}} = \frac{T_1 - (T_1 T_2 - K_1 K_2) \alpha_{ring} \exp(-j\delta)}{1 - T_2 \alpha_{ring} \exp(-j\delta)}$$
(7.7)

With the assumption of ideal 50/50 directional couplers and loss-less MZI, the solution to equation (7.7) leads to the following three equations.

$$T_1 T_2 - K_1 K_2 = \exp(-j(2\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta))$$
(7.8)

$$T_1 = \sin((\Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta)/2) \exp(-j(2\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta + \pi)/2)$$
(7.9)

$$T_2 = \sin((\Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta)/2) \exp(-j(2\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta - \pi)/2)$$
(7.10)

Unlike the inter-coupling ring modulator with push-pull driving signals, where the resonance condition depends on the constant phases $(2\phi + \theta + \delta = 2\pi m, m \text{ is integer})$, the resonance condition for a single ended driving signal $(2\phi + \Delta\phi_1 + \Delta\phi_2 + \theta + \delta = 2\pi m, m \text{ is})$ integer) depends on the variation of both phase shifts $\Delta\phi_1$ and $\Delta\phi_2$. Applying an electrical driving signal results in both a shift in the resonance wavelength as well as a change in the transmission amplitude.

The methodology presented in [48] is followed for simulating the general behavior of the device for various biasing conditions. First, the variation in the refractive index of the doped silicon in the presence of free carriers for various biasing voltages applied to the p-n diode is calculated. Then, by using the effective index method, the effective refractive index and the corresponding mode profile is computed. The voltage-dependent effective index and loss are calculated based on the mode profiles and charge carrier distributions [112]. Finally, based on the properties and geometry of the device and applied voltage, the electric field transfer function (7.7) is calculated for various wavelengths and bias voltages. The normalized output transmission power is taken as the square of the absolute value obtained by eq. 7.7. Figure 7.2 shows the cross-section of the designed p-n diode segments with dimensions for each doping layer, which is used for the simulation. Doping densities were found using Sentaurus Device simulation software for the particular doping dose and doping energy for each doping layer. The average doping densities for the p++, p+, p, n++, n+ and n layers were found to be 1.2×10^{20} cm⁻³, 1.8×10^{18} cm⁻³, 4×10^{17} cm⁻³, 3.3×10^{20} cm⁻³, 3×10^{18} cm⁻³, and 3.2×10^{17} cm⁻³, respectively. The highly doped p++ and n++ layers were used to form the low resistance contact with the top metal layer. The intermediate doping layers (p+ and n+) were formed to reduce the series resistance [113]. The intermediate doping layers were 0.25 μ m apart from the rib waveguide to minimize the optical propagation loss.



Fig. 7.2 Cross-section of the p-n diode segment with dimensions for each doping layer.

The total length of the p-n diode segments (220 μ m and 330 μ m) is determined based on the necessary phase shift for 0 to 1 modulation. In the inter-coupling ring modulator, the required phase shift ($\Delta \phi$) for 0 to 1 modulation is $\Delta \phi = \pi - 2(\sin(\alpha))^{-1}$, where α is the total round trip loss of the resonator cavity ($\alpha = \alpha_{ring} \times \alpha_{arm1} \times \alpha_{arm2}$) [114, 115]. With larger cavity loss (smaller α), more phase shift is required resulting in a larger total length of the p-n diode or larger applied voltage. For PAM-4 modulation, the length ratio of the longer and shorter p-n diode segments is designed to have four equidistant transmittivity levels for specific bias voltages of the LSB and MSB diode segments. The optimized design of the modulator has a cavity feedback length of $L_{ring} = 885 \ \mu$ m and an MZI coupling length of $L_c = 694 \ \mu$ m. The total design area of the modulator is 0.48 mm². Figure 7.3 shows the simulated spectral response of the designed PAM-4 modulator for four voltage conditions. The propagation loss of the undoped waveguide is considered to be 2 dB/cm. The simulation results show the inter-coupling effect where the resonance extinction ratio is changing for the applied voltages. The cavity phase shift effect on the resonance wavelength for various biasing voltages is also apparent. In this simulation, the initial phase of θ is set to 2.5 rad for optimum extinction ratio and linear performance. Based on the simulation results the free spectral range (FSR) of the design modulator is 0.39 nm.



Fig. 7.3 The simulated spectral response of the modulator at for four input voltage conditions, (a) in logarithmic scale, (b) in linear scale.

7.3 Experimental Results

Figure 7.4(a) shows the characterization test setup of the fabricated modulator with the two DC and two GSGSG RF probes. The DC probes are used to apply DC voltages to the

heaters to optimize the ring modulator's extinction ratio (V_{Coup}) and to shift the resonance wavelength (V_{Ring}) to match the wavelength of the CW light source. Both the DC signals share common electrical ground (G) with the RF signals. Figure 7.4(b) shows a photograph of the external fiber array and electrical probe connections to the chip.



Fig. 7.4 (a) Image of the chip test setup with DC and RF probes. (b) Test setup photograph of the chip with fiber array and electrical probes.

7.3.1 DC Measurement

For determining the amplitude and DC bias of the electrical driving voltages and the resonance wavelength, a continuous wave (CW) laser source emitting an optical output power of 5 dBm is injected into the modulator. Its wavelength is swept from 1530 nm to 1565 nm. Figure 7.5(a) shows the spectral response of the modulator when the voltage at the thermal tuner/heater on top of the MZI arm is set to 1.2 V (current: 2 mA). The grating coupler (GC) pair transmission response shows around 2 dB insertion loss in the modulator. Figure 7.5(b) is a zoom on the spectral response of the modulator to measure the FSR of the modulator. The measured FSR is 0.38 nm, which is in line with the simulated results of 0.39 nm. Figure 7.5(b) also shows the full width at half max (FWHM) linewidth of 0.026 nm, at the resonance wavelength of $\lambda_0 = 1552.8$ nm, from the spectral response of the modulator.

Figure 7.6(a) shows the spectral response of the modulator recorded at 1552.8 nm for



Fig. 7.5 (a) Spectral response of the GC pair and ring modulator; (b) Spectral response of the modulator (zoomed) to measure FSR with measured FWHM \approx 0.026 measured from the spectral response of the ring modulator.

four input voltage conditions, which set the p-n electrode in the reverse-bias mode. For all circumstances, the fixed DC bias voltage to the thermal tuner/heater is maintained at 1.2 V (drawn current = 2 mA). As expected from the simulation results, while the resonance wavelength shifts, the extinction ratio also diminishes with changes in the applied voltage. The normalized optical power levels are 0 dB, -1.82 dB, -4.63 dB and -22.75 dB at 1552.8 nm wavelength. In the linear scale, Fig. 7.6(b), the four optical power levels correspond to the modulator transmittivity of 1, 0.65, 0.34 and 0.005, respectively. The four equidistant transmittivity values indicate that the ring modulator can properly generate a PAM-4 optical signal at the output when driven by two independent electrical signals.



Fig. 7.6 Measured spectral response of the modulator at four input voltage conditions (a) in dB scale; (b) in linear scale.

7.3.2 Frequency Response Measurements

The frequency response of each LSB and MSB p-n diode segments are measured separately by a 50 GHz Agilent N5225A lightwave component analyzer and two 40 GHz GSG probes. One of the GSG probes is used to apply the electrical RF signal to the diode segment, while the second one is used to connect the off-chip 50 Ω termination. Figure 7.7 shows the S-parameter measurement (input reflection (S₁₁) in the top figures and electro-optic (EO) S₂₁ response in the bottom figures) at 2 V reverse bias voltage of the short and long electrode segments with and without connecting a 50 Ω termination. A large reflection is expected without the 50 Ω termination in the S₁₁ measurement (Fig. 7.7(a), top). The reflection drops after 12 GHz. With a 50 Ω termination, the reflection is reduced to below 20 dB up to 2 GHz and -10 dB at 12 GHz (Fig. 7.7(b), top). Although the smallest EO bandwidth measured from the S₂₁ curves of the p-n diode without the 50 Ω termination is approximately 8.7 GHz, the high speed modulation is limited by the high reflection. At



2 V reverse bias voltage, both of the electrodes have OE bandwidth over 14 GHz with the 50 Ω termination.

Fig. 7.7 S-parameter measurements: S_{11} -parameter and EO S_{21} -parameter of the long and short electrodes; (a) without 50 Ω termination; (b) with 50 Ω termination.

7.3.3 Transient Measurement

Figure 7.8 shows the experimental setup to generate an optical PAM-4 signal from the modulator. Two 12.5 Gb/s data rate Anritsu-MU181020A programmable pattern generator (PPG) cards are used in a synchronous mode to tune the phase of each of the electrical driving signal independently. As such, the rising and falling edges of the two input signals occur at the same time. Two independent 2^{31} -1 pseudo random bit sequence (PRBS) data from two PPGs are injected to two 20 GHz electrical amplifiers (model: Hittite HMC-C004) boosting the signal amplitude to 3 V_{p-p} and then be the input to two 6 GHz bias tees to add the desirable DC bias to the driving electrical signal. The two RF signals are injected to the LSB and MSB electrode segments of the inter-coupling ring modulator. The sub-figures on the left side of Fig. 7.9 shows the electrical eye diagrams of the 12.5 Gb/s driving signals for the MSB and LSB electrode segments, respectively. The bandwidth limitation of the two 6 GHz bias tees and noise injected by the electrical amplifier limits the signal to



noise ratio (SNR = 8) of the driving signal.

Fig. 7.8 Experimental setup to generate PAM-4 modulated signal.

A 5 dBm CW light at the wavelength of 1552.8 nm is launched through the polarization controller (PC) which optimizes the light coupled to the inter-coupling PAM-4 modulator. The average optical power at the output of the modulator is -9.6 dBm. The total optical loss from the laser to the modulator output consists of 0.6 dB insertion loss from the PC, 2 dB insertion loss from the modulator (DUT) and 6 dB loss per grating coupler. The optically modulated signal is amplified with an EDFA to increase the received optical signal to 2 dBm at the receiver. A commercial 45 GHz photodetector (PD) converts the optical PAM-4 signal. The electrical signal is finally captured with a sampling oscilloscope (DCA) with an RF bandwidth of 30 GHz. The right-side sub-figures on Fig. 7.9 show the photodetected electrical eye diagrams from the output of the ring modulator when it is driven by V_1 (LSB) and V_2 (MSB), one at a time. The peak-to-peak voltage amplitude of the modulated signal for the shorter p-n diode (V₁) is smaller (approximately half) than that of the longer segment (V_2) , as the LSB diode segment (or phase shifter) length is smaller than the MSB segment length.



Fig. 7.9 Eye diagrams (12.5 Gb/s) at the output of the ring modulator when driven by (a) only V_2 (MSB), (b) only V_1 (LSB). The corresponding electrical eye diagrams are shown at the left.

Figure 7.10 shows the photodetected 25 Gb/s PAM-4 electrical eye diagram when the modulator is simultaneously driven by V_1 and V_2 . The voltage difference between adjacent levels is approximately 27 mV leading to the symmetric four-level signal.

Table 7.1 summarized the recorded standard deviation (σ) of the '0' level and '1' level of the OOK eye diagram for both MSB and LSB segments and the standard deviation of each four level of the PAM-4 signal. The increase in the ' σ ' of each of the four level indicates that there is some crosstalk between the two electrical driving signals.

For verifying that the original binary stream of the MSB and LSB OOK data can be properly recovered from the PAM-4 signal, a 2⁷-1 PRBS data is captured by the sampling oscilloscope.



Fig. 7.10 PAM-4 eye diagram (12.5 GBaud/s) at the output of the ring modulator when simultaneously driven by V_1 (LSB) and V_2 (MSB) electrical driving signals.

 Table 7.1
 The standard deviation of the captured OOK and PAM-4 eye diagrams

	MSB (OOK)		LSB (OOK)		PAM-4			
Level	(0)	(1)	(0)	(1)	(00)	(01)	(10)	(11)
σ (mV)	3.5	4.8	2.5	3.3	4.3	5.2	5.1	5.2

Figure 7.11(a) shows the captured PAM-4 signal data stream which was then processed off-line in MATLAB to recover the two original MSB and LSB input data. Figure 7.11(b) shows the recovered MSB and LSB data. The regenerated data is compared against the original input MSB and LSB data, which shows no error in the modulated data.

The static and dynamic dissipated power are estimated separately for calculating the energy efficiency of the modulator is. The static power dissipated by the modulator is governed by the two 50 Ω termination loads ($P_{static1} = 2 \times V_{DC}^2/50$), where $V_{DC} = 2$ V and the thermal heater ($P_{static2} = V_{th} \times I_{th}$), where $V_{th} = 1.2$ V, $I_{th} = 2$ mA. The total static power dissipation of the modulator is 6.5 pJ/bit. The dynamic power dissipation of the modulator is estimated by the switching energy ($E_s = CV_{p-p}^2$), where C is the parasitic capacitance of the diode segment and V_{p-p} is the peak-to-peak driving voltage [116]. Based



Fig. 7.11 (a) Pattern locked PAM-4 signal generated. (b) Recovered MSB and LSB patterns from the PAM-4 signal.

on the simulation results, the short diode segment has a parasitic capacitance of $\sim 34 \ fF$, and the long diode segment has a parasitic capacitance of $\sim 51 \ fF$. The estimated dynamic power consumption is 0.0765 pJ/bit and 0.144 pJ/bit for the short and long segment, respectively. Practically, the designed modulator can be wire-bonded or flip-chip to a driver. In such configuration, the 50 Ω termination is not required, because the driver can be designed for low reflection and optimum power transmission based on the load effect of the diode segments. Therefore, the static power consumption is limited to the power dissipates by the thermal heater on top of the MZI arm. In fact, using the 50 Ω termination enables testing the modulator without the limiting effect of the high reflection.

7.4 Summary

This chapter presents the design and measurement results of a novel ring-based PAM-4 modulator. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first experimental demonstrations of silicon photonics (SiP) two-segment inter-coupling PAM-4 modulator with a single ended configuration. The 25 Gb/s (12.5 GBaud/s) PAM-4 eye diagram obtained with 3 V_{p-p} electrical driving signal shows promise towards the design of a power efficient optical modulator with a small footprint of 0.48 mm². It has an energy efficiency of 0.32 pJ/bit without considering the 6.4 pJ/bit static power, which is consumed by the 50 Ω termination. The design methodology of the proposed modulator was also presented. Driving the modulator with single ended electrical signal reduces the operational complexity of the modulator. The experimental values of the optical powers levels and free spectral range of the modulator closely agree with the simulation results presented in this work.

Chapter 8

Conclusions

In this thesis, three research directions have been explored, which are closely related to designing an efficient high-speed short-reach optical interconnect. In the first research direction, we have studied different hardware implementation of low-bit soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) receivers and provided a complete analysis that predicts the decoding performance of multi-branch receiver configurations in short-reach applications. In the second direction, the silicon photonics (SiP) platform has been explored for developing more efficient optical devices such as germanium-on-silicon photodetectors (Ge-PD) and silicon photodetectors (Si-PD). Finally, in the third direction, a power-efficient and compact 25 Gb/s optical receiver in 65 nm CMOS technology has been developed.

8.1 Thesis Highlights

First, we provided a novel methodology for analyzing the advantageous decoding performance of multi-branch configurations of low-bit optical soft-decision forward error correction (SD-FEC) receivers. Three different hardware implementations of an SD-FEC receiver were investigated, and their decoding performance and noise behavior were evaluated and compared. Arising from a multiple-branch configuration, the concept of inconsistency in the decoder (thermometer code) was presented and used to optimize the decoding performance. The proposed methodology was experimentally evaluated in a short-reach optical link. The evaluation method shows that, in an unamplified link such as a short-reach optical interconnect, using a multi-branch SD-FEC receiver configuration degrades the overall soft-decision decoding performance in comparison with the hard-decision decoding performance. Therefore, the conventional single-branch SD-FEC receiver is more appropriate for such applications. The hybrid fan-out configuration is a low-complex and power-efficient approach for optically amplified application with the dominant channel noise [27].

Second, we experimentally demonstrated a design optimization of an evanescently coupled waveguide germanium-on-silicon photodetector (Ge-PD) toward high-speed (>30 Gb/s) applications. The resulting PD provides a responsivity of 1.09 A/W at 1550 nm, a dark current of 3.5 μ A, and bandwidth of 42.5 GHz at 2 V reverse-bias voltage. For optimizing the PD, the impact of various design parameters on performance was investigated. A novel optimization methodology for the PD's responsivity based on the required bandwidth was developed. The responsivity of the PD is enhanced by enlarging its geometry and using offcentered contacts on top of the germanium, while an integrated peaking inductor mitigates the inherent bandwidth reduction from the responsivity optimization. The performance of the optimized PD and the conventional, smaller size non-optimized PD was compared to validate the optimization methodology. The sensitivity of the optimized PD improves by 3.2 dB over a smaller size non-optimized PD. Further discussion on the impact of top metal contacts on the photodetector's performance was also presented through simulation and measurement.

Third, we demonstrated the design, fabrication, and measurement results of a novel lateral p-i-n silicon photodetector (Si-PD) in a silicon-on-insulator (SOI) platform for 850 nm wavelength. In the proposed photodetector, the incident light is directed horizontally using a grating coupler, thus significantly increasing optical absorption in the depletion area thereby increasing the PD's responsivity. The measurement results show that the grating coupler increases the responsivity by 40 times compared with the Si-PD without a grating coupler. The grating-assisted Si-PD with 5 μ m intrinsic width has a responsivity of 0.32 A/W and a dark current of 1 nA at 20 V reverse-bias voltage. Further, it shows an open-eye diagram for 10 Gb/s PRBS-31 non-return-to-zero on-off keying (NRZ-OOK) data and has a 3-dB bandwidth of 4.7 GHz at this bias voltage. Also, the design parameters of three variations of the novel grating-assisted Si-PD for high-speed applications (>25 Gb/s) were presented. The optimized grating-assisted Si-PD uses a focusing grating coupler, and its p-i-n diode has a 0.3 μ m intrinsic width. It has a responsivity of 0.3 A/W, an avalanche gain of 6, a dark current of 2 μ A, and a 3-dB bandwidth of 16.4 GHz

at 14 V reverse-bias voltage. Further, it shows an open-eye diagram of 35 Gb/s PRBS-31 NRZ-OOK data that, to the best of our knowledge, is the fast data rate reported for a Si-PD.

Finally, we presented the design and measurement results of a novel inductor-less and power-efficient 25 Gb/s optical receiver in 65 nm TSMC technology. The proposed receiver front end consists of an inverter-based feedback transimpedance amplifier (TIA) and three stages of an inverter-based Cherry--Hooper (CH) post-amplifier. To this structure, local positive feedback and third-order interleaved active feedback are added to increase the bandwidth of the front end. The receiver front end has a transimpedance gain of 69.4 dB Ω , a bandwidth of 13.6 GHz, and an input-referred current noise of 3.28 μA_{rms} . It occupies only 0.0056 mm² and consumes 30.8 mW at 1.1 V supply voltage. First, the bit error rate (BER) measurement was performed with an electrical input signal. The results show that the proposed front end has a sensitivity of 3.6, 4.5, and 6.4 mV_{p-p} for BER of 10⁻¹² at data rates of 20, 25, and 30 Gb/s, respectively. The receiver front end also was measured with supply voltages lower than 1.1 V. The measurement results show that, for BER of 10^{-12} and an input sensitivity of 5 mV_{p-p}, the receiver front end has energy efficiencies of 0.425 and 0.8 pJ/bit at data rates of 20 and 25 Gb/s, for supply voltages of 0.85 and 1 V, respectively. Next, the optical receiver is prototyped with the optimized grating-assisted Si-PD. The receiver with a wire-bonded Si-PD has a sensitivity of 46 μ A_{p-p} and 54 μ A_{p-p} at data rates of 20 and 25 Gb/s, respectively, at a reverse-bias voltage of 0.41 V. The energy efficiency of the all-silicon 850 nm optical receiver is 1.23 pJ/bit at 25 Gb/s data rate.

8.2 Future Work

This section presents several future research directions to extend the work presented in this dissertation.

8.2.1 2-Bit Soft-Decision Forward Error Correction (SD-FEC) Receiver

The proposed methodology shows that in a short-reach optical link, splitting the optical power prior to the receiver degrades the decoding performance considerably. On the other hand, simulation result shows the benefit of the uncorrelated noise in the decoding. Therefore, the electrical fan-out after the TIA and prior to the post-amplifier stages may benefit from the uncorrelated noise of the post-amplifier stages.

Further, investigation on circuit implementation of a power-efficient 2-bit electrical fanout SD-FEC receiver can be an interesting research direction on this topic. The proposed optical receiver front end presented in Chapter 6 can be used for implementing a 2-bit SD-FEC receiver. Figure 8.1 shows the block diagram of the proposed 2-bit SD-FEC receiver. The output of the receiver front end is connected to three sets of decision circuits that compare the amplified data with a hard-decision threshold level (V_{th0}) and two softdecision threshold levels (V_{th-1} and V_{th1}). The decision circuits are working with four phases of a clock (CLK1, CLK2, CLK3, and CLK4) at the quarter rate of the received
data rate. Using multi-phase clock reduces the required speed of the decision circuits and relaxes the design requirement. A peak detector and a minimum detector determine the dynamic range of the amplified data. Six variable resistors use the peak and minimum values to generate three digitally tunable threshold levels. The peak value also is used to automatically control the gain of the front end for linear operation.



Fig. 8.1 An example of implementing a 2-bit SD-FEC receiver using the proposed optical front and digitally tunable threshold levels.

8.2.2 High Performance Ge-PD

The performance of the Ge-PD can be improved further with some modifications on the fabrication process. For example, if the Ge can grow properly on the 90 nm thick silicon instead of the 220 nm thick silicon, the light couples faster to the Ge and as a result the Ge-PD has larger responsivity for a shorter length detector. Further, the availability of a 0.5 μ m minimum feature size of the Ge on the silicon maximizes the detector responsivity by omitting the top metal contact [51–53].

8.2.3 Grating-Assisted Si-PD

The single mode and polarization sensitive grating couplers in the proposed Si-PD results in an optimum responsivity for a single mode and single polarization application. The availability of multi mode grating coupler [117, 118] expands the application of this photodetector.

Another research direction is investigating the design of the proposed grating-assisted Si-PD on an SOI-based CMOS technology that enables monolithically integration of this photodetector with the proposed optical receiver [23,119]. Monolithic integration improves the performance of the optical receiver by omitting the parasitic capacitors of the bonding pads and the parasitic inductance of the wire bond between the receiver and the photodetector.

8.2.4 Optical Receiver

The proposed inverter-based optical receiver with identical interleaved active feedback shows slightly larger group delay variation in comparison with the conventional inverterbased design. Non-identical interleaved active feedback can be used to minimize the group delay variation of the proposed design.

Further, the proposed optical receiver would be integrated with decision circuits and clock and data recovery circuit. The gain of the optical front-end can be adjusted based on the sensitivity of the integrated decision circuits for more power-efficient design. Also, the proposed optical receiver can be implemented in more advanced technology node such as 45 nm or 28 nm CMOS technology to support faster data rate.

Appendix A

Optical Link Noise Modeling

Here, the noise theory and definitions used in the optical link modeling are discussed. The theory and the models are then used to model the noise statistics (common noise and uncorrelated noise) of each branch of a multiple–branch receiver for various configurations. Three major sources of noise are considered: 1) channel noise, 2) transmitter noise and 3) receiver noise.

Channel noise: In optically amplified long-haul links, the amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) noise of optical amplifiers is the main channel noise. The power spectral density of the ASE noise is calculated by [41]:

$$S_{ASE} = NF_{EDFA}(G_{EDFA} - 1)\frac{hc_0}{2\lambda}$$
(A.1)

where NF_{EDFA} and G_{EDFA} are the noise figure and gain of the EDFA amplifier, respectively, h is Planck's constant, c_0 is the light speed in vacuum, and λ is the wavelength of the channel. The channel noise is modeled with two Gaussian distributions at the receiver front-end with standard deviations of $\sigma_{ASE-ASE}$ and $\sigma_{Signal-ASE}$ due to the beating of ASE-noise with itself and the beating of the signal with ASE-noise, respectively [41].

$$\sigma_{ASE-ASE}^2 = 2R^2 S_{ASE}^2 [2B_{opt}B_e - B_e^2]$$
(A.2)

$$\sigma_{Signal-ASE}^2(i) = 4R^2 S_{ASE} P_{in}(i) B_e \tag{A.3}$$

The standard deviation of $\sigma_{Signal-ASE}(i)$ is data dependent, therefore it is different for received optical power corresponding to a logical zero and one, (i = 0 or 1). In equation (A.2) and (A.3), the B_{opt} and B_e are the equivalent rectangular bandwidths of the optical filter and electrical front-end respectively, R is the responsivity of the photodetector, and $P_{in}(i)$ is the received optical power for a logic zero or one (i = 0 or 1).

Transmitter noise: Relative intensity noise (RIN) of a semiconductor laser in the transmitter (TX) is the main transmitter noise source. The RIN noise is modeled in the receiver with a Gaussian distribution with a standard deviation σ_{RIN} [41].

$$\sigma_{RIN}^2(i) = RIN_{Hz} (R(P_{in}(i) + S_{ASE}B_{opt}) + I_d)^2 B_e$$
(A.4)

where RIN_{Hz} is the maximum value of the laser relative intensity noise (RIN) in dB/Hz and I_d is the dark current of the photodetector. Note that the standard deviation σ_{RIN} is data dependent. Therefore, it is different for received optical power corresponding to a logical zero and one.

Receiver noise: The receiver noise consists of shot noise of the photodetector and thermal noise of the load resistance of the photodetector with standard deviations of σ_{sh} and σ_{th-R_L} , respectively [41]:

$$\sigma_{sh}^2(i) = 2q[R(P_{in}(i) + S_{ASE}B_{opt}) + I_d)]B_e$$
(A.5)

$$\sigma_{th-R_L}^2 = \frac{4kT}{R_L} B_e \tag{A.6}$$

where q is the electric charge, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, R_L is the load resistance of the photodetector. The receiver noise also includes the input referred noise of the electrical post amplifier stages whose effect is calculated with a noise coefficient NF derived by:

$$NF = \frac{\overline{V_{n_{out-TIA}}^2} + \overline{V_{n_{input-referred-Amps}}^2}}{\sigma_{th-R_L}^2 A_{TIA}^2}$$
(A.7)

where A_{TIA} and $\overline{V_{n_{out-TIA}}^2}$ are the gain and output noise power of the transimpedance amplifier, respectively, and $\overline{V_{n_{input-referred-Amps}}^2}$ is the input referred noise power of the amplifier stages. The coefficient NF is analogous to the noise figure of front-end electrical circuits. It has been modified here for the integrated-circuit implementation of an optical receiver. The standard deviations of the common noise $\sigma_{Common}(i)$, and uncorrelated noise $\sigma_i(i)$, are calculated using (A.8) and (A.9) respectively, for received optical power corresponding to a logical zero and one.

$$\sigma_{Common}^2(i) = \sigma_{Signal-ASE}^2(i) + \sigma_{ASE-ASE}^2 + \sigma_{RIN}^2(i)$$
(A.8)

$$\sigma_i^2(i) = \sigma_{sh}^2(i) + NF\sigma_{th-R_L}^2 \tag{A.9}$$

In a conventional optical receiver, the total noise variance for received optical power corresponding to a logical zero and one is calculated by

$$\sigma_I^2(i) = \sigma_{Signal-ASE}^2(i) + \sigma_{ASE-ASE}^2 + \sigma_{RIN}^2(i) + \sigma_{sh}^2(i) + NF\sigma_{th-R_L}^2$$
(A.10)

Appendix B

Optimum Hard and Soft Decision Threshold Levels

Choosing the hard-decision threshold is based on a LLR value of zero (shown as the vertical red dashed-line in Fig. 2.2). Due to varying standard deviation of the Gaussian distribution of both the binary logic one and zero, the optimum hard-decision threshold varies with the Q-factor of the received signal. Figure B.1 illustrates the impact of the hard-decision threshold (value is normalized to the mean value of the received signal for logic one) on the pre-FEC BER at various Q-factors as similarly depicted in [120]. The ratio of the standard deviations (σ_1/σ_0) is set to two. The optimum hard-decision threshold changes from 0.453 to 0.414 by increasing the Q-factor of the received signal from 4 dB to 10 dB. A larger standard deviation ratio leads to a greater change in the optimum hard decision thresholds for different Q-factors. Therefore, the hard-decision threshold setting needs to be adjusted to obtain the optimum error performance.

To select the appropriate soft-decision thresholds, one of the soft-decision thresholds is swept while the other is calculated based on the mean and standard deviation of the PDFs assuming that both soft-decision thresholds have the same pre-FEC BER [121].



Fig. B.1 The pre-FEC BER for normalized hard-decision thresholds of the two Gaussian distributions for various Q-factors, while the ratio of standard deviation of the binary levels is fixed to $(\sigma_1/\sigma_0) = 2$.

Then, the post-FEC BER is calculated using the soft decoding algorithm. Note that the upper soft-decision threshold is farther in value from the hard-decision value than the lower soft-decision threshold because the variance of logic 1 (σ_1^2) is larger than the variance of logic 0 (σ_0^2). Therefore, the soft-threshold on the upper side should be farther from the hard-threshold to have the same pre-FEC BER compared to the lower soft-threshold [121]. Figure B.2 shows the post-FEC BER as a function of the threshold difference (or threshold distance) between the hard-decision and both soft-decision thresholds. The upper soft-decision threshold is calculated from the lower soft-decision threshold setting based on the statistics of the PDFs. The LDPC (32768, 26803) code and SPA decoding algorithm are used for this simulation, with approximately 6.5×10^7 encoded bits and a *Q*-factor of 6.7 dB.

To summarize, for each Q-factor, the optimum hard-decision threshold is calculated by eq. 2.5, where the LLR is zero. However, for calculating the optimum soft-decision thresholds, we need to sweep one of the soft-decision thresholds and calculate the post-



Fig. B.2 Post-FEC BER for various distances of lower soft-decision threshold (red dashed-line). The distance of the upper soft-decision threshold (blue dashed-line) is calculated based on the statistics of the PDFs. The simulation is for optically amplified link with electrical fan-out and Q-factor of 6.7 dB; and the ratio of standard deviation of binary levels is $(\sigma_1/\sigma_0)\approx 2$.

FEC BER. The post-FEC BER is sensitive to the variation of the soft-decision thresholds in the waterfall region of the code rather than in the low Q-factor area with high-BER. Therefore, the threshold sweep is required for Q-factor in the waterfall region.

Appendix C

Calculation of Input-Referred Current Noise

This section presents the calculation of the low frequency input-referred current noise of the proposed receiver (Fig. 6.7). First, we calculate the output noise of our proposed receiver coming from the TIA and three cascaded CH amplifiers. Then, the output noise caused by the interleaved active feedback (IAFB) and positive feedback (PFB) is calculated. A CH amplifier consists of a transconductance stage (G_1) and a transimpedance stage (G_2) , which has a similar structure as the input TIA stage. For a transimpedance stage, its output noise is caused by the thermal noise of the feedback resistor (V_{nR}^2) and the thermal noise of the PMOS and NMOS transistors in the inverter (V_{ninv}^2) . We used the model illustrated in Fig. C.1 to calculate the output noise of the transimpedance stage due to the feedback resistor and the inverter.

In this figure, Y_L is the output admittance of the transimpedance stage given by $Y_L = g_{ds} + sC_L$. Y_{in} is the input admittance of the transimpedance stage. For the input TIA, $Y_{in} = sC_{in}$, where C_{in} represents the input capacitor of the TIA. For the transimpedance stage in the CH amplifier, $Y_{in} = Y_L$, if all inverters have the same load capacitance and



Fig. C.1 Block diagram for calculating the output noise of a transimpedance stage.

output conductance. The relation between the output noise of the transimpedance stage and the thermal noise of the feedback resistor along with the thermal noise of the inverter is calculated by

$$V_{no} = V_{nR} \frac{g_m + Y_{in}}{g_m + Y_{in} + Y_L + Y_{in}Y_LR_f} + V_{ninv} \frac{g_m(1 + Y_{in}R_f)}{g_m + Y_{in} + Y_L + Y_{in}Y_LR_f}$$
(C.1)

Assuming that $g_m \gg g_{ds}$ and $g_m \gg g_{ds}^2 R_f$, the low frequency noise at the output of the transimpedance stage is obtained by

$$\overline{V_{no}^2} = \overline{V_{nR}^2} + \overline{V_{ninv}^2} = \overline{V_{nR}^2} + \frac{\overline{I_{ninv}^2}}{g_m^2}$$
(C.2)

where $\overline{I_{ninv}^2}=4kT\gamma g_m$. Note that at low frequency, the feedback resistors in the TIA and the transimpedance stage in the CH amplifier reduce both input and output resistances of the TIA to approximately $1/g_m$. Therefore, the output noise of the transconductance stage G_1 is given by

$$\overline{V_{no-G1}^2} = \frac{\overline{I_{ninv1}^2}}{g_{m2}^2}$$
(C.3)

The total output noise due to the TIA and three cascaded CH amplifiers in the proposed design shown in Fig. 6.7 is obtained by

$$\overline{V_{n-out(TIA+CH)}^{2}} = \left(\frac{1}{1+5\beta A_{1}A_{2}-A_{1}\alpha+3A_{1}^{2}A_{2}^{2}\beta^{2}-3A_{1}^{2}A_{2}\alpha\beta}\right)^{2} \quad (C.4)$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\left(\overline{V_{nRt}^{2}}+\frac{\overline{I_{ninv}^{2}}}{g_{m1}^{2}}\right)A_{1}^{6}A_{2}^{6}}{+\frac{\overline{I_{ninv}^{2}}}{g_{m1}^{2}}\left(A_{1}^{4}A_{2}^{6}+A_{1}^{2}A_{2}^{4}+A_{2}^{2}\right)}{+\left(\overline{V_{nR}^{2}}+\frac{\overline{I_{ninv}^{2}}}{g_{m2}^{2}}\right)\left(A_{1}^{4}A_{2}^{4}+A_{1}^{2}A_{2}^{2}+1\right)}\right)$$

The low frequency input-referred current noise of the proposed receiver due to the TIA and three cascaded CH amplifiers is calculated by

$$\overline{I_{n-in(TIA+CH)}^2} = \frac{\overline{V_{n-out(TIA+CH)}^2}}{R_T^2}$$
(C.5)

Assuming that $g_{mt} = g_{m2} = g_{m1} = g_m$, which results in $A_1 = g_{m1}/g_{m2} = 1$, the inputreferred current noise caused by the TIA and CH amplifier is given by

$$\overline{I_{n-in(TIA+CH)}^{2}} = \overline{\frac{V_{nRt}^{2}}{A_{tia}^{2}}} + \overline{\frac{V_{nR}^{2}}{A_{tia}^{2}}} \left(\frac{1}{A_{2}^{2}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}^{4}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}^{6}}\right) + \frac{\overline{I_{ninv}^{2}}}{A_{tia}^{2}g_{m}^{2}} \left(2 + \frac{2}{A_{2}^{2}} + \frac{2}{A_{2}^{4}} + \frac{1}{A_{2}^{6}}\right)$$
(C.6)

From the equation (C.6), we see that the feedback inverters (G_f, G_{PFB}) do not affect the low frequency input-referred noise caused by the TIA and CH amplifiers. More precisely, the low frequency noise contribution of the TIA and CH stages to the input-referred noise of the receiver with IAFB and PFB is the same as the receiver without IAFB and PFB. If $g_{mt}R_t \gg 1$, the TIA gain $A_{tia} \approx R_t$, also if $A_2 \gg 1$ (in our design $A_2 \approx 3$) the equation can be simplified to

$$\overline{I_{n-in(TIA+CH)}^2} = \frac{4kT}{R_t} + \frac{8kT\gamma}{R_t^2 g_m}$$
(C.7)

The first term in the above question is the current noise of the TIA's feedback resistor, which directly appears in the input-referred current noise and has the dominant effect. The second dominant part is related to the thermal noise of the inverters in the TIA and the transconductance stage of the first CH amplifier. Next, the noise contribution of several feedbacks to the input-referred current noise is calculated. The thermal noise current injected into the outputs of the IAFB and the PFB are given by

$$\overline{I_{n_IAFB}^2} = 4kT\gamma g_{mf}$$
(C.8)
$$\overline{I_{n-PFB}^2} = 4kT\gamma g_{m-PFB}$$

Note that at low frequency, the feedback resistors in the TIA and the TIA portions of the CH amplifiers reduce both input and output resistances of the TIA to approximately $1/g_m$. Therefore, the output noise of the of feedback inverters G_f and the G_PFB inverter are given by

$$\overline{V_{no-Gf}^2} = \frac{\overline{I_{n-IAFB}^2}}{g_{m2}^2}$$

$$\overline{V_{no-GPFB}^2} = \frac{\overline{I_{n-IAFB}^2}}{g_{m1}^2}$$
(C.9)

The low frequency output noise of the receiver due to the IAFB and the PFB is obtained

by

$$\overline{V_{n-out(IAFB+PFB)}^{2}} = \left(\frac{1}{1+5\beta A_{1}A_{2}-A_{1}\alpha+3A_{1}^{2}A_{2}^{2}\beta^{2}-3A_{1}^{2}A_{2}\alpha\beta}}\right)^{2} \quad (C.10)$$

$$\times \left(\begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{\overline{I_{n-PFB}^{2}}}{g_{mt}^{2}}+\frac{\overline{I_{n-IAFB}^{2}}}{g_{mt}^{2}}\right)A_{1}^{6}A_{2}^{6} \\ +\frac{\overline{I_{n-IAFB}^{2}}}{g_{m2}^{2}}\left(A_{1}^{4}A_{2}^{6}+A_{1}^{4}A_{2}^{4}+A_{2}^{2}A_{2}^{4}+A_{1}^{2}A_{2}^{2}\right) \end{pmatrix}^{2} \quad (C.10)$$

The input-referred current noise PSD is calculated by dividing the output noise PSD by the square of the transimpedance gain. Assuming that $g_{mt} = g_{m2} = g_{m1} = g_m$, then $A_1 = g_{m1}/g_{m2} = 1$. The input-referred current noise caused by the IAFB and PFB is calculated by

$$\overline{I_{n-in(IAFB+PFB)}^{2}} = \frac{\overline{I_{n-PFB}^{2}}}{A_{tia}^{2}g_{m}^{2}A_{2}^{6}}A_{2}^{6} + \frac{\overline{I_{n-IAFB}^{2}}}{A_{tia}^{2}g_{m}^{2}A_{2}^{6}}\left(A_{2}^{6} + A_{2}^{6} + A_{2}^{4} + A_{2}^{4} + A_{2}^{2}\right)$$
(C.11)

The three first terms in the above equation, which are related to PFB and the two left-most IAFB have the largest contribution to the input-referred noise of the receiver. By substituting $\beta = g_{mf}/g_m$ and $\alpha = g_{m-PFB}/g_m$, the equation can be simplified to:

$$\overline{I_{n-in(IAFB+PFB)}^2} = \frac{4kT\gamma}{A_{tia}^2 g_m^2} \left(\alpha + \beta \left(2 + \frac{2}{A_2^2} + \frac{1}{A_2^4}\right)\right)$$
(C.12)

Assuming that $\gamma=1$, the ratio of the input referred-noise due to the IAFB and PFB over the input referred-noise due to the TIA and CH amplifiers is obtained by

$$\frac{\overline{I_{n-in(IAFB+PFB)}^2}}{\overline{I_{n-in(TIA+CH)}^2}} = \frac{\frac{1}{g_m} \left(\alpha + \beta \left(2 + \frac{2}{A_2^2} + \frac{1}{A_2^4}\right)\right)}{R_t + R_f \left(\frac{1}{A_2^2} + \frac{1}{A_2^4} + \frac{1}{A_2^6}\right) + \frac{1}{g_m} \left(2 + \frac{2}{A_2^2} + \frac{2}{A_2^4} + \frac{1}{A_2^4}\right)}$$
(C.13)

In our design $\alpha = 0.064$, $\beta = 0.16$, $g_m \approx 40 \text{ mV}$, Rt=300 Ω , Rf=215.5 Ω , and $A_2 \approx 3$, which results in a ratio of 0.0197. Assuming that $A_2 \gg 1$, the ratio is simplified to:

$$\frac{\overline{I_{n-in(IAFB+PFB)}^2}}{\overline{I_{n-in(TIA+CH)}^2}} = \frac{\alpha + 2\beta}{g_m R_t + 2}$$
(C.14)

Equations (C.13) and (C.14) show that the low-frequency noise density of the receiver is only slightly increased using the proposed combination of active feedback.

References

- [1] Cisco, "The Zettabyte era: Trends and analysis," June 2017.
- [2] Cisco, "Cisco global cloud index: Forecast and methodology, 2015–2020," 2016.
- [3] C. F. Lam, H. Liu, and R. Urata, "What devices do data centers need?," in *Optical Fiber Communications Conference and Exhibition (OFC)*, pp. 1–3, March 2014.
- [4] C. Kachris and I. Tomkos, "A survey on optical interconnects for data centers," *IEEE Communications Surveys & Tutorials*, vol. 14, pp. 1021–1036, January 2012.
- [5] J. A. Tatum, D. Gazula, L. A. Graham, J. K. Guenter, R. H. Johnson, J. King, C. Kocot, G. D. Landry, I. Lyubomirsky, A. N. MacInnes, *et al.*, "VCSEL-based interconnects for current and future data centers," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 33, pp. 727–732, February 2015.
- [6] D. A. B. Miller, "Device requirements for optical interconnects to silicon chips," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 97, pp. 1166–1185, June 2009.
- [7] M. A. Taubenblatt, "Optical interconnects for high-performance computing," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 30, pp. 448–457, February 2012.
- [8] D. A. B. Miller, "Attojoule optoelectronics for low-energy information processing and communications," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 35, pp. 346–396, February 2017.
- [9] H. Liu, C. F. Lam, and C. Johnson, "Scaling optical interconnects in datacenter networks opportunities and challenges for WDM," in 18th IEEE Symposium on High Performance Interconnects, pp. 113–116, August 2010.
- [10] G. Bennett, K. t. Wu, A. Malik, S. Roy, and A. Awadalla, "A review of high-speed coherent transmission technologies for long-haul DWDM transmission at 100G and beyond," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 52, pp. 102–110, October 2014.

- [11] C. Ferrari, C. Bolle, M. A. Cappuzzo, R. Keller, F. Klemens, N. B. Y. Low, A. R. Papazian, F. Pardo, and M. P. Earnshaw, "Compact hybrid-integrated 400 Gbit/s WDM receiver for short-reach optical interconnect in datacenters," in *European Conference on Optical Communication (ECOC)*, pp. 1–3, September 2014.
- [12] J. Lee, N. Kaneda, T. Pfau, A. Konczykowska, F. Jorge, J. Y. Dupuy, and Y. K. Chen, "Serial 103.125-Gb/s transmission over 1 km SSMF for low-cost, short-reach optical interconnects," in *Conference on Optical Fiber Communication (OFC)*, pp. 1–3, March 2014.
- [13] X. Zhou and L. E. Nelson, "400G WDM transmission on the 50 GHz grid for future optical networks," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 30, pp. 3779–3792, December 2012.
- [14] G. Tzimpragos, C. Kachris, I. B. Djordjevic, M. Cvijetic, D. Soudris, and I. Tomkos, "A survey on FEC codes for 100 G and beyond optical networks," *IEEE Communi*cations Surveys Tutorials, vol. 18, pp. 209–221, January 2016.
- [15] F. Chang, K. Onohara, and T. Mizuochi, "Forward error correction for 100 G transport networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 48, pp. S48–S55, March 2010.
- [16] X. Zheng, F. Liu, J. Lexau, D. Patil, G. Li, Y. Luo, H. D. Thacker, I. Shubin, J. Yao, K. Raj, et al., "Ultralow power 80 Gb/s arrayed CMOS silicon photonic transceivers for WDM optical links," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 30, pp. 641–650, February 2012.
- [17] X. Xu, E. Zhou, G. N. Liu, T. Zuo, Q. Zhong, L. Zhang, Y. Bao, X. Zhang, J. Li, and Z. Li, "Advanced modulation formats for 400-Gbps short-reach optical interconnection," *Optics Express*, vol. 23, pp. 492–500, January 2015.
- [18] L. Tao, Y. Ji, J. Liu, A. P. T. Lau, N. Chi, and C. Lu, "Advanced modulation formats for short reach optical communication systems," *IEEE Network*, vol. 27, pp. 6–13, December 2013.
- [19] J. C. Rasmussen, T. Takahara, T. Tanaka, Y. Kai, M. Nishihara, T. Drenski, L. Li, W. Yan, and Z. Tao, "Digital signal processing for short reach optical links," in *European Conference on Optical Communication (ECOC)*, pp. 1–3, September 2014.
- [20] M. N. Sakib, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, W. J. Gross, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "45 Gb/s low complexity optical front-end for soft-decision LDPC decoders," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 18336–18347, July 2012.
- [21] B. Jalali and S. Fathpour, "Silicon photonics," Journal of Lightwave Technology, vol. 24, pp. 4600–4615, December 2006.

- [22] M. Hochberg, N. C. Harris, R. Ding, Y. Zhang, A. Novack, Z. Xuan, and T. Baehr-Jones, "Silicon photonics: The next fabless semiconductor industry," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Magazine*, vol. 5, pp. 48–58, February 2013.
- [23] D. M. Gill, J. E. Proesel, C. Xiong, J. S. Orcutt, J. C. Rosenberg, M. H. Khater, T. Barwicz, S. Assefa, S. M. Shank, C. Reinholm, et al., "Demonstration of a high extinction ratio monolithic CMOS integrated nanophotonic transmitter and 16 Gb/s optical link," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 21, pp. 212–222, August 2015.
- [24] Luxtera. http://www.luxtera.com/luxtera/products.
- [25] Intel. https://www.intel.com/content/www/us/en/ architecture-and-technology/silicon-photonics/ silicon-photonics-overview.html.
- [26] IEEE, "IEEE P802.3bs 400 GbE Task Force." http://www.ieee802.org/3/bs/ public/14_05/index.shtml.
- [27] M. N. Sakib, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A 45 GS/s optical soft-decision front-end," in *IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, pp. 532–533, September 2012.
- [28] T. Kobayashi, S. Kametani, K. Shimizu, K. Onohara, H. Tagami, and T. Mizuochi, "Soft decision LSI operating at 32 Gsample/s for LDPC FEC-based optical transmission systems," in *Conference on Optical Fiber Communication (OFC)*, pp. 1–3, March 2009.
- [29] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Analysis of low-bit soft-decision error correction in optical front ends," *Journal of Optical Communications and Networking*, vol. 7, pp. 885–897, September 2015.
- [30] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Responsivity optimization of a high-speed germanium-on-silicon photodetector," *Optics Express*, vol. 24, pp. 27738–27752, November 2016.
- [31] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, C. Williams, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A 35 Gb/s silicon photodetector for 850 nm wavelength applications," in *IEEE Photonics Conference (IPC)*, pp. 1–2, October 2016.
- [32] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, C. Williams, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "High-speed grating-assisted all-silicon photodetectors for 850 nm applications," *Optics Express*, vol. 25, pp. 5107–5118, March 2017.
- [33] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, and G. Cowan, "1.23 pJ/bit 25 Gb/s inductor-less optical receiver with low-voltage silicon photodetector,"

- [34] A. Tychopoulos, O. Koufopavlou, and I. Tomkos, "FEC in optical communications-a tutorial overview on the evolution of architectures and the future prospects of outband and inband FEC for optical communications," *IEEE Circuits and Devices Magazine*, vol. 22, pp. 79–86, December 2006.
- [35] ITU-T-G.975.1, "Forward error correction for high bit-rate DWDM submarine systems." [Online], Available:http://www.itu.int/rec/T-REC-G.975. 1-200402-I/en, February 2004.
- [36] "Mitsubishi electric develops world's best error-correction technology for high-capacity optical communication." [Online], Available:http://www. mitsubishielectric.com/news/2013/0214-e.html, February 2013.
- [37] H. Tagami, T. Kobayashi, Y. Miyata, K. Ouchi, K. Sawada, K. Kubo, K. Kuno, H. Yoshida, K. Shimizu, T. Mizuochi, and K. Motoshima, "A 3-bit soft-decision IC for powerful forward error correction in 10-Gb/s optical communication systems," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, pp. 1695–1705, August 2005.
- [38] C. Laperle and M. O'Sullivan, "Advances in high-speed DACs, ADCs, and DSP for optical coherent transceivers," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 32, pp. 629–643, February 2014.
- [39] M. Sakib, V. Mahalingam, W. J. Gross, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Optical frontend for soft-decision LDPC codes in optical communication systems," *IEEE/OSA Journal of Optical Communications and Networking*, vol. 3, pp. 533–541, June 2011.
- [40] G. Bosco, G. Montorsi, and S. Benedetto, "Soft decoding in optical systems," *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, vol. 51, pp. 1258–1265, August 2003.
- [41] G. P. Agrawal, Fiber-Optic Communication Systems. Wiley, 2010.
- [42] R. M. Neal, "Software for low density parity check codes." [Online], Available: http://www.cs.utoronto.ca/~radford/ftp/LDPC-2006-02-08/index.htm.
- [43] K. Onohara and T. Mizuochi, "Performance optimization of soft-decision FEC receivers," in 2007 Digest of the IEEE/LEOS Summer Topical Meetings, pp. 33–34, July 2007.
- [44] A. Novack, Y. Liu, R. Ding, M. Gould, T. Baehr-Jones, Q. Li, Y. Yang, Y. Ma, Y. Zhang, K. Padmaraju, K. Bergmen, A. E. J. Lim, G. Q. Lo, and M. Hochberg, "A 30 ghz silicon photonic platform," in 10th International Conference on Group IV Photonics, pp. 7–8, August 2013.
- [45] "SEMICONDUCTOR DETECTORS: Germanium on silicon approaches III-V semiconductors in performance." http://www.laserfocusworld.com/articles/print/ volume-43/issue-5/features, 2007.

- [46] T.-Y. Liow, K.-W. Ang, Q. Fang, J.-F. Song, Y.-Z. Xiong, M.-B. Yu, G.-Q. Lo, and D.-L. Kwong, "Silicon modulators and germanium photodetectors on SOI: monolithic integration, compatibility, and performance optimization," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 16, pp. 307–315, February 2010.
- [47] K.-W. Ang, S.-Y. Zhu, J. Wang, K.-T. Chua, M.-B. Yu, G.-Q. Lo, and D.-L. Kwong, "Novel silicon-carbon (Si:C) Schottky barrier enhancement layer for dark-current suppression in Ge-on-SOI MSM photodetectors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, pp. 704–707, July 2008.
- [48] L. Chrostowski and M. Hochberg, Silicon photonics design: from devices to systems. Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- [49] K.-W. Ang, J. W. Ng, G.-Q. Lo, and D.-L. Kwong, "Impact of field-enhanced bandtraps-band tunneling on the dark current generation in germanium p-i-n photodetector," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 94, no. 22, p. 223515, 2009.
- [50] M. Takenaka, K. Morii, M. Sugiyama, Y. Nakano, and S. Takagi, "Dark current reduction of Ge photodetector by GeO2 surface passivation and gas-phase doping," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 8718–8725, April 2012.
- [51] Y. Zhang, S. Yang, Y. Yang, M. Gould, N. Ophir, A. E.-J. Lim, G.-Q. Lo, P. Magill, K. Bergman, T. Baehr-Jones, *et al.*, "A high-responsivity photodetector absent metalgermanium direct contact," *Optics Express*, vol. 22, pp. 11367–11375, May 2014.
- [52] H. Chen, P. Verheyen, P. De Heyn, G. Lepage, J. De Coster, S. Balakrishnan, P. Absil, W. Yao, L. Shen, G. Roelkens, et al., "-1 V bias 67 GHz bandwidth Si-contacted germanium waveguide pin photodetector for optical links at 56 Gbps and beyond," *Optics Express*, vol. 24, pp. 4622–4631, March 2016.
- [53] S. Lischke, D. Knoll, C. Mai, L. Zimmermann, A. Peczek, M. Kroh, A. Trusch, E. Krune, K. Voigt, and A. Mai, "High bandwidth, high responsivity waveguidecoupled germanium p-i-n photodiode," *Optics Express*, vol. 23, pp. 27213–27220, October 2015.
- [54] S. Liao, N.-N. Feng, D. Feng, P. Dong, R. Shafiiha, C.-C. Kung, H. Liang, W. Qian, Y. Liu, J. Fong, et al., "36 GHz submicron silicon waveguide germanium photodetector," *Optics Express*, vol. 19, pp. 10967–10972, May 2011.
- [55] Y. Painchaud, M. Poulin, F. Pelletier, C. Latrasse, J.-F. Gagné, S. Savard, G. Robidoux, S. Paquet, M. Pelletier, M. Cyr, et al., "Silicon-based products and solutions," in *Proceedings SPIE 8988*, International Society for Optics and Photonics, March 2014.

- [56] G. Li, Y. Luo, X. Zheng, G. Masini, A. Mekis, S. Sahni, H. Thacker, J. Yao, I. Shubin, K. Raj, et al., "Improving CMOS-compatible germanium photodetectors," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 26345–26350, November 2012.
- [57] M. Gould, T. Baehr-Jones, R. Ding, and M. Hochberg, "Bandwidth enhancement of waveguide-coupled photodetectors with inductive gain peaking," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 7101–7111, March 2012.
- [58] A. Novack, M. Gould, Y. Yang, Z. Xuan, M. Streshinsky, Y. Liu, G. Capellini, A. E.-J. Lim, G.-Q. Lo, T. Baehr-Jones, *et al.*, "Germanium photodetector with 60 GHz bandwidth using inductive gain peaking," *Optics Express*, vol. 21, pp. 28387–28393, November 2013.
- [59] G. Chen, Y. Yu, S. Deng, L. Liu, and X. Zhang, "Bandwidth improvement for germanium photodetector using wire bonding technology," *Optics Express*, vol. 23, pp. 25700–25706, October 2015.
- [60] R. Swoboda and H. Zimmermann, "11 Gb/s monolithically integrated silicon optical receiver for 850nm wavelength," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Confer*ence Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), pp. 904–911, February 2006.
- [61] J.-S. Youn, M.-J. Lee, K.-Y. Park, H. Rücker, and W.-Y. Choi, "An integrated 12.5-Gb/s optoelectronic receiver with a silicon avalanche photodetector in standard SiGe BiCMOS technology," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 28153–28162, December 2012.
- [62] S. H. Huang, W. Z. Chen, Y. W. Chang, and Y. T. Huang, "A 10-Gb/s OEIC with meshed spatially-modulated photo detector in 0.18-μm CMOS technology," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 46, pp. 1158–1169, May 2011.
- [63] B. Nakhkoob, S. Ray, and M. M. Hella, "High speed photodiodes in standard nanometer scale CMOS technology: a comparative study," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 11256– 11270, May 2012.
- [64] M. Atef, A. Polzer, and H. Zimmermann, "Avalanche double photodiode in 40-nm standard CMOS technology," *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics*, vol. 49, pp. 350– 356, February 2013.
- [65] M.-J. Lee and W.-Y. Choi, "Area-dependent photodetection frequency response characterization of silicon avalanche photodetectors fabricated with standard CMOS technology," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, pp. 998–1004, March 2013.
- [66] M.-J. Lee, "First CMOS silicon avalanche photodetectors with over 10-GHz bandwidth," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 28, pp. 276–279, February 2016.

- [67] M.-J. Lee, J.-M. Lee, H. Rücker, and W.-Y. Choi, "Bandwidth improvement of CMOS-APD with carrier-acceleration technique," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 27, pp. 1387–1390, July 2015.
- [68] B. Yang, J. Schaub, S. Csutak, D. Rogers, and J. Campbell, "10-Gb/s all-silicon optical receiver," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 15, pp. 745–747, May 2003.
- [69] G. Li, K. Maekita, H. Mitsuno, T. Maruyama, and K. Iiyama, "Over 10 GHz lateral silicon photodetector fabricated on silicon-on-insulator substrate by CMOScompatible process," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 54, pp. 04DG06–, March 2015.
- [70] S. M. Csutak, S. Dakshina-Murthy, and J. C. Campbell, "CMOS-compatible planar silicon waveguide-grating-coupler photodetectors fabricated on silicon-on-insulator (SOI) substrates," *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics*, vol. 38, pp. 477–480, May 2002.
- [71] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of semiconductor devices*. John wiley & sons, 2007.
- [72] B. Analui, Signal integrity issues in high-speed wireline links: analysis and integrated system solutions. PhD thesis, California Institute of Technology, 2006.
- [73] B. Razavi, Design of integrated circuits for optical communications. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [74] S. M. Park and H.-J. Yoo, "1.25-Gb/s regulated cascode CMOS transimpedance amplifier for gigabit ethernet applications," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, pp. 112–121, January 2004.
- [75] M. Parvizi, K. Allidina, and M. N. El-Gamal, "A sub-mW, ultra-low-voltage, wideband low-noise amplifier design technique," *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems*, vol. 23, pp. 1111–1122, June 2015.
- [76] Y. Lu, Y. Wang, Q. Pan, W. H. Ki, and C. P. Yue, "A fully-integrated low-dropout regulator with full-spectrum power supply rejection," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits* and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 62, pp. 707–716, March 2015.
- [77] J. Kim and J. F. Buckwalter, "Bandwidth enhancement with low group-delay variation for a 40-Gb/s transimpedance amplifier," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 57, pp. 1964–1972, August 2010.
- [78] T. Takemoto, H. Yamashita, T. Yazaki, N. Chujo, Y. Lee, and Y. Matsuoka, "A 25-to-28 Gb/s high-sensitivity (-9.7 dBm) 65 nm CMOS optical receiver for boardto-board interconnects," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 49, pp. 2259–2276, October 2014.

- [79] T.-C. Huang, T.-W. Chung, C.-H. Chern, M.-C. Huang, C.-C. Lin, and F.-L. Hsueh, "A 28 Gb/s 1pJ/b shared-inductor optical receiver with 56% chip-area reduction in 28nm CMOS," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC)*, pp. 144–145, February 2014.
- [80] P.-C. Chiang, J.-Y. Jiang, H.-W. Hung, C.-Y. Wu, G.-S. Chen, and J. Lee, "4×25 Gb/s transceiver with optical front-end for 100 GbE system in 65 nm CMOS technology," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, pp. 573–585, February 2015.
- [81] S.-H. Chu, W. Bae, G.-S. Jeong, S. Jang, S. Kim, J. Joo, G. Kim, and D.-K. Jeong, "A 22 to 26.5 Gb/s optical receiver with all-digital clock and data recovery in a 65 nm CMOS process," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, pp. 2603–2612, November 2015.
- [82] A. Cevrero, I. Ozkaya, P. A. Francese, C. Menolfi, T. Morf, M. Braendli, D. Kuchta, L. Kull, J. Proesel, M. Kossel, et al., "A 64Gb/s 1.4 pj/b NRZ optical-receiver datapath in 14nm CMOS FinFET," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC)*, no. EPFL-CONF-224408, February 2017.
- [83] J. Proesel, Z. Deniz, A. Cevrero, I. Ozkaya, S. Kim, D. Kuchta, S. Lee, S. Rylov, H. Ainspan, T. Dickson, J. Bulzacchelli, and M. Meghelli, "A 32Gb/s, 4.7pj/bit optical link with -11.7dBm sensitivity in 14nm FinFET CMOS," in *Symposium on VLSI Circuits*, pp. C318–C319, June 2017.
- [84] E. Sackinger and W. C. Fischer, "A 3-GHz 32-dB CMOS limiting amplifier for SONET OC-48 receivers," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 35, pp. 1884– 1888, December 2000.
- [85] H.-Y. Huang, J.-C. Chien, and L.-H. Lu, "A 10-Gb/s inductorless CMOS limiting amplifier with third-order interleaving active feedback," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 42, pp. 1111–1120, May 2007.
- [86] R. Samadi and A. Iker Karsilayan, "Uniform design of multi-peak bandwidth enhancement technique for multistage amplifiers," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers*, vol. 54, pp. 1489–1499, July 2007.
- [87] H. Morita, K. Uchino, E. Otani, H. Ohtorii, T. Ogura, K. Oniki, S. Oka, S. Yanagawa, and H. Suzuki, "A 12×5 two-dimensional optical I/O array for 600Gb/s chip-to-chip interconnect in 65nm CMOS," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC)*, pp. 140–141, February 2014.
- [88] W. Ni, M.-A. Chan, and G. Cowan, "Inductorless bandwidth extension using local positive feedback in inverter-based TIAs," in *IEEE 58th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, pp. 1–4, August 2015.

- [89] P. P. Dash, G. Cowan, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "Inductorless, powerproportional, optical receiver front-end in TSMC 90 nm," in *IEEE International* Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), pp. 1127–1130, May 2013.
- [90] E. Säckinger, Broadband Circuits for Optical Fiber Communication. John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
- [91] G. Robert, "Low-density parity-check codes," IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, vol. 8, pp. 21–28, January 1962.
- [92] IEEE, "IEEE 802.15 WPAN Task Group 3c (TG3c): Part 15.3: Wireless medium access control (MAC) and physical layer (PHY) specifications for high rate wireless personal area networks (WPANs) amendment 2: Millimeter-wave-based alternative physical layer extension," October 2009.
- [93] K. Onohara, Y. Miyata, T. Sugihara, K. Kubo, H. Yoshida, and T. Mizuochi, "Soft decision FEC for 100G transport systems," in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference (OFC)*, pp. 1–3, March 2010.
- [94] "Lumerical computation solutions: Tcad software." https://www.lumerical.com/.
- [95] V. Sorianello, L. Colace, N. Armani, F. Rossi, C. Ferrari, L. Lazzarini, and G. Assanto, "Low-temperature germanium thin films on silicon," *Optical Materials Express*, vol. 1, pp. 856–865, September 2011.
- [96] T. Baehr-Jones, R. Ding, A. Ayazi, T. Pinguet, M. Streshinsky, N. Harris, J. Li, L. He, M. Gould, Y. Zhang, et al., "A 25 Gb/s silicon photonics platform," arXiv preprint arXiv:1203.0767, 2012.
- [97] J. R. Long and M. A. Copeland, "The modeling, characterization, and design of monolithic inductors for silicon RF IC's," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, pp. 357–369, March 1997.
- [98] R. Hulthén, "Optical constants of epitaxial silicon in the region 1–3.3 eV," Physica Scripta, vol. 12, pp. 342–344, January 1975.
- [99] J. Proesel, C. Schow, and A. Rylyakov, "25Gb/s 3.6 pJ/b and 15Gb/s 1.37 pJ/b VCSEL-based optical links in 90nm CMOS," in *IEEE International Solid-State Cir*cuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC), pp. 418–420, February 2012.
- [100] P. P. Dash, "A variable bandwidth, power-scalable optical receiver front-end," Master's thesis, Concordia University, 2013.
- [101] Q. Pan, Y. Wang, Y. Lu, and C. P. Yue, "An 18-Gb/s fully integrated optical receiver with adaptive cascaded equalizer," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 22, pp. 361–369, December 2016.

- [102] A. Sharif-Bakhtiar and A. C. Carusone, "A 20 Gb/s CMOS optical receiver with limited-bandwidth front end and local feedback IIR-DFE," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 51, pp. 2679–2689, November 2016.
- [103] A. Sharif-Bakhtiar, M. G. Lee, and A. C. Carusone, "Low-power CMOS receivers for short reach optical communication," in 2017 IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), pp. 1–8, April 2017.
- [104] M. Moayedi Pour Fard, M. S. Hai, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A compact 25 Gb/s Mach-Zehnder assisted ring modulator," in *Photonics North (PN)*, pp. 1–1, May 2016.
- [105] M. S. Hai, M. Moayedi Pour Fard, and O. Liboiron-Ladouceur, "A ring-based 25 Gb/s DAC-less PAM-4 modulator," *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 22, pp. 123–130, November 2016.
- [106] T. Baba, S. Akiyama, M. Imai, N. Hirayama, H. Takahashi, Y. Noguchi, T. Horikawa, and T. Usuki, "50-Gb/s ring-resonator-based silicon modulator," *Optics Express*, vol. 21, pp. 11869–11876, May 2013.
- [107] P. Dong, L. Chen, and Y. kai Chen, "High-speed low-voltage single-drive push-pull silicon Mach-Zehnder modulators," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, pp. 6163–6169, March 2012.
- [108] D. J. Thomson, F. Y. Gardes, J. M. Fedeli, S. Zlatanovic, Y. Hu, B. P. P. Kuo, E. Myslivets, N. Alic, S. Radic, G. Z. Mashanovich, and G. T. Reed, "50-Gb/s silicon optical modulator," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 24, pp. 234–236, February 2012.
- [109] G. Li, X. Zheng, J. Yao, H. Thacker, I. Shubin, Y. Luo, K. Raj, J. E. Cunningham, and A. V. Krishnamoorthy, "25Gb/s 1V-driving CMOS ring modulator with integrated thermal tuning," *Optics Express*, vol. 19, pp. 20435–20443, October 2011.
- [110] C. Xiong, D. M. Gill, J. E. Proesel, J. S. Orcutt, W. Haensch, and W. M. Green, "Monolithic 56 Gb/s silicon photonic pulse-amplitude modulation transmitter," *Optica*, vol. 3, pp. 1060–1065, September 2016.
- [111] D. Patel, A. Samani, V. Veerasubramanian, S. Ghosh, and D. V. Plant, "Silicon photonic segmented modulator-based electro-optic DAC for 100 Gb/s PAM-4 generation," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 27, pp. 2433–2436, December 2015.
- [112] R. Dubé-Demers, J. St-Yves, A. Bois, Q. Zhong, M. Caverley, Y. Wang, L. Chrostowski, S. LaRochelle, D. V. Plant, and W. Shi, "Analytical modeling of silicon microring and microdisk modulators with electrical and optical dynamics," *Journal* of Lightwave Technology, vol. 33, pp. 4240–4252, July 2015.

- [113] M. Streshinsky, R. Ding, Y. Liu, A. Novack, Y. Yang, Y. Ma, X. Tu, E. K. S. Chee, A. E.-J. Lim, P. G.-Q. Lo, *et al.*, "Low power 50 Gb/s silicon traveling wave Mach-Zehnder modulator near 1300 nm," *Optics Express*, vol. 21, pp. 30350–30357, December 2013.
- [114] S. Karimelahi and A. Sheikholeslami, "PAM-N signaling by coupling modulation in a ring resonator," *Optics Letters*, vol. 40, pp. 332–335, February 2015.
- [115] A. Yariv, "Critical coupling and its control in optical waveguide-ring resonator systems," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 14, pp. 483–485, August 2002.
- [116] P. Orlandi, F. Morichetti, M. J. Strain, M. Sorel, A. Melloni, and P. Bassi, "Tunable silicon photonics directional coupler driven by a transverse temperature gradient," *Optics Letters*, vol. 38, pp. 863–865, March 2013.
- [117] Y. Ding, H. Ou, J. Xu, and C. Peucheret, "Silicon photonic integrated circuit mode multiplexer," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 25, pp. 648–651, April 2013.
- [118] B. Wohlfeil, G. Rademacher, C. Stamatiadis, K. Voigt, L. Zimmermann, and K. Petermann, "A two-dimensional fiber grating coupler on SOI for mode division multiplexing," *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, vol. 28, pp. 1241–1244, June 2016.
- [119] C. Sun, M. Wade, M. Georgas, S. Lin, L. Alloatti, B. Moss, R. Kumar, A. H. Atabaki, F. Pavanello, J. M. Shainline, *et al.*, "A 45 nm CMOS-SOI monolithic photonics platform with bit-statistics-based resonant microring thermal tuning," *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 51, pp. 893–907, April 2016.
- [120] P. A. Humblet and M. Azizoglu, "On the bit error rate of lightwave systems with optical amplifiers," *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, vol. 9, pp. 1576–1582, November 1991.
- [121] K. Shimuzu, Y. Miyata, T. Mizuochi, K. Ouchi, T. Kobayashi, H. Yoshida, and K. Motoshima, "Optimum soft-decision FEC thresholds for on-off optical receiver using block turbo code," in *Optical Fiber Communication Conference (OFC)*, pp. 785– 787, February 2004.